Geotech Holdings Ltd.
AR ERERARA N

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(1 B 2 7 I i o 1 7 R 2 )
Stock code R 5E: 1707

!

88
}

) 4

e
>
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
=
-
-
-
-

-

-

AX

‘o004
:ib&‘"’

Y




CONTENTS B %

94
95
96
S
171

Corporate Information
Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Corporate Governance Report
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Directors’ Report

Independent Auditor's Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

NEIER

ERRE

IR E R S A
EZRaREEERERE
TCEBERRS

RIR - e REARE
EXgHE
BB ED
FeBmkEMEERER

REMBRRR
RARDEER
meERTRER
e SRR M
MBHE



Corporate Information

A FEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhi (Chairman)

Mr. Qiu Weiren (Resigned on 15 April 2025)
Mr. Wei Weizhan (Appointed on 15 April 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

Mr. Shen Zejing

Ms. Yip Wai Ching

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (Chairman)
Mr. Shen Zejing
Ms. Yip Wai Ching

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Yip Wai Ching (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

Mr. Chen Zhi

Mr. Shen Zejing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Zhi (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo

Mr. Shen Zejing

Ms. Yip Wai Ching

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lam Chi Wai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chen Zhi
Mr. Lam Chi Wai

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park
P.O.Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

GEOTECHHOLDINGSLTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2024

Exg

HITES

PRESCHE (FE)

QiuWeiren e &£ (R =ZZF A F M A+ A HEHE)
BARSLAE (R _HEMNA+HAEZT)

BYFHITES
BRI R
LR E
EBALT

EREEE
BRUER 552 (2/8)

LR E
E2axt

FMEES

R2akt(EE)
BRIGE L4
RELEE
LR

REZES
B ()
PR R 56
LB RRSE
gmant
DREAWE
WEELE
REAR

BPRAESEE
MERELE

RERSEMREE

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park
P.O.Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands



Corporate Information (Continued)

ABIEH (&)

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS ERARRTEEE I

IN HONG KONG

Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, aBE

Tower II, Metroplaza, R

223 Hing Fong Road, B35 & 223 5%

Kwai Chung, New Territories, g ES 2

Hong Kong 71706-708

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE HERBRMNBFZTHERE

IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3 Windward 3
Regatta Office Park Regatta Office Park
P.O.Box 1350 P.O.Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND EEROBFERIE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited EEEESFETERAT

Room 2103B, 21/F B

148 Electric Road b=

North Point BRE 14858

Hong Kong 21182103BE

AUDITORS % B Am

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE(EB)EHMEEMERAA
Certified Public Accountants BESEHAD

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor AR F o B RE A

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two e

28 Yun Ping Road S 48

Causeway Bay

B8 285

Hong Kong FIE2E N8

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR BEEEEER

Zhong Lun Law Firm LLP PREMBEKMEREIESE
4/F., Jardine House BB

1 Connaught Place IR

Central BREES 5

Hong Kong BMAE4%E

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFRELT

Bank of Communications Co,, Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

BIRTRDBRRABEEDT
EERERITARAR
g LBESRITARIQA

STOCK CODE B 13X 5%
1707 1707
WEBSITE #8uh

www.geotech.hk

www.geotech.hk

BUSRIRRAMRAT]/ 2024 F 5


http://www.geotech.hk/

Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Geotech Holdings

Ltd. (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”), |
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Looking back on the year, the fierce competition within slope works industry still
posed challenges to the construction and engineering business of the Group while the
development of property-related services of the Group kept growing steadily. In order to
diversify the Group's business and broaden the Group’s source of revenue to mitigate the
challenging operating environment, the Group has developed sales of luxury products
business to capture the opportunities of the market growth of luxury products.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue decreased by 40.2% from
approximately HK$134.6 million in 2023 to approximately HK$80.5 million in 2024. During
the year, most of the Group's revenue were still contributed from the construction and
engineering services, while the decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of
certain major slope works projects in 2023 and 2024 while newly awarded major projects
were still at the beginning stage during the year. For the Group's property-related services,
the revenue remained steadily growing and increased by 6.7% from approximately HK$8.4
million in 2023 to approximately HK$9.0 million in 2024. In addition, the Group developed
a new business segment for the sales of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023,
which contributed revenue and gross profit of approximately HK$10.4 million and HK$2.0
million during the year respectively. Further details of business performances of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the section headed "MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS" in this annual report.

Going forward, the prospect of Group's construction and engineering services and
property-related services is expected to be challenging in the coming years. The Group
will continue to review its existing operations and businesses to formulate long-term
business strategies (especially for site formation works and ground investigation field
works) and focus on improving the Group's profitability. The Group will adopt a diligent
and thoughtful business approach while formulating tailored strategies to effectively drive
the sales growth of luxury products.

In addition, the Group will continue to optimise and diversify our business operations, and
continue to explore or seek other appropriate business opportunities to strengthen and
consolidate the Group's revenue base.

I strongly believe that the Group will be able to share the benefits of its continuous growth
with our shareholders and deliver a greater shareholders’ value in the very near future. Last
but not least, | would like to express my deep gratitude to the Board and the employees of
the Group for their hard work, professionalism and valuable contributions. | would also like
to express my sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers and other business partners for
their trust and continued support.

Chen Zhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group was principally engaged in the provision of (i) construction and engineering
services; (i) property-related services; and (jii) sales of luxury products for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Construction and Engineering Services

Geotech Engineering Limited (“Geotech Engineering”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is principally engaged in construction and engineering services
and a leading slope works contractor in Hong Kong with over 20 years of experience in
the civil engineering industry. It is an approved specialist contractor included in the List of
Approved Specialist Contractors for Public Works maintained by the Development Bureau
(the “DB") under the categories of “Landslip preventive/remedial works to slopes/retaining
walls” (the “LPM") (confirmed status) and “Ground investigation field work” (Group | status)
and also an approved contractor included in the List of Approved Contractors for Public
Works under the category of “Site formation” (Group B probationary status). In addition,
Geotech Engineering is also registered as a specialist contractor in the categories of site

formation works and ground investigation field works with the Building Authority.

Total revenue of construction and engineering services for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$61.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 50.2% as compared with total revenue of approximately HK$122.8 million
last year. Such decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of certain major
slope works projects while newly awarded major projects were still at the beginning stage
during the year. Revenue in this segment continued to be deriving principally from slope
works, ground investigation field works and road and drainage works, with public sector
projects including those from the Landslip Prevention and Mitigation Programme (the
“Programme’) commissioned by the Civil Engineering and Development Department,
other government departments and statutory bodies, which amounted to approximately
62.0% of total revenue in this segment (2023: approximately 87.5%).

BB R 5

£ C1)

BE_Z N+ -_A=+—RUILFE FrEETIENKSE
PR ) 3SR TA2ARAS « () WZEARREIRTS - R (i BERIEE -

BERIRRE

ARAM—EHEEZEMNBRAR L HERERAR([LH
BR])  IERERERTERBLEENTATIZITE
B +ENERKARBERE OB IRAES - &
AEZINERBIEERT AL TIREMAZERAMTH
RATEPIARRE - FRA TR EHEHbaLRIER, &
WIRRI(TLPM]) (B EER) ~ S ENB TR (&%)
RIAMETFR| (AR PEAREER) EHETHRA
AHTRAEEAM AR ARR - LI T HERIN
AMAEREFENMBFETIERGHEA TREENETH
HPY AR o

HE-Z-_NF+_A=+—HLFEEERTIERBK
HABFENN0BE T R EFNEREL 11228088 T
WA KI502% c BRARE RO DEFERARFRNETEER
FIRBEHE K MPFERNETEIRBEERFRNE
AR ER - Z D B S B E T Bk A AL I E B WAL
IR - Bu@A TREREEREBTIR BEKRELAT
BHRREBZAMNERERALREE S ([5T8])) « Hibl
[FEPFIR AT ERN TR  SBEEZD BRI 620% (=
T =4 : #J875%) °

BUSRIRRAMRAT]/ 2024 F 5

5



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEE R RS (&)

During the year, Geotech Engineering has continued its strategy for construction and
engineering services in Hong Kong through a variety of operational initiatives:

in response to keen market competition, although securing new contracts had
been difficult during the year, the Group has continued to submit tenders but is
cautious about the pricing so as to maintain a reasonable gross profit margin while
at the same time remaining competitive. The strategy to maintain a reasonable
gross profit might have contributed to some tenders not having been awarded to
the Group;

in order to undertake more construction projects given Geotech Engineering’s
capacity, it has continued to focus on project management role and our
collaboration with subcontractors by subcontracting a substantial part of works
required; and

other than slope works, the Group has continued to seek opportunities to diversify
into other types of civil engineering works by tendering projects jointly with
partners for contracts which involve various work categories (especially for site
formation works and ground investigation field works). The Directors consider
that this strategy is beneficial to the Group's diversification in construction and
engineering services in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 39 construction contracts on hand, including
contracts in progress and contracts yet to commence (31 December 2023: 48 contracts)
with a total outstanding contract sum of approximately HK$288.9 million (31 December
2023: approximately HK$179.1 million) and in which approximately HK$114.4 million out of
these contracts are expected to be completed in 2025.

Property-related Services

The market environment for property-related services in Hong Kong was still challenging
for the year given the uncertainties in the economic and business environment of Hong
Kong. During the year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$8.7 million
(2023: approximately HK$8.4 million) and HKS$0.3 million (2023: HKSnil) for the provision
of property management consultancy services and property leasing agency services
respectively. Of which, approximately HK$4.7 million of property management consultancy
services (2023: approximately HK$4.6 million) and HKS$0.3 million of property leasing
agency services (2023: HKS nil) respectively were generated from continuing connected
transactions. Details of the continuing connected transactions are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements and section headed "CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report. The Group has renewed the property management
consultancy services agreements with all existing independent client during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Sales of luxury products

The Group has expanded into sales of luxury products business segment in the fourth
quarter of 2023. While the Group targets to expand its market presence by actively
widening its customer base and collaborating with various suppliers to diversify its product
offerings, it will adhere to its prudent business approach and devise appropriate business
strategies based on market demand and development. The Group will continuously
optimise its operations to improve profitability.

During the year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$10.4 million (2023:

approximately HK$3.4 million) for sales of luxury goods. Such increase in revenue was
mainly due to the Group's stable growth in sales of luxury watches sector during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

OUTLOOK

Apart from focusing on construction and engineering services and property-related
services in Hong Kong, the Group has expanded into the sales of luxury products in the
fourth quarter of 2023. the Group will continue to explore other business expansion in
order to enhance the future development and strengthen the revenue bases of the Group.
The Board believes that the Group's strategy to diversify its business could provide a better
return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders").

In line with the Board's strategy as stated above, the Group is taking a cautious approach
for future development:

the dilemma between winning tenders at extremely thin gross profit margin
and submitting tenders at a reasonable gross profit margin exists in every tender
opportunity. The Group strives to strike a delicate balance between winning
contracts for the business and making profits for its shareholders;

having considered the industry conditions of the construction and engineering
services in Hong Kong, the Group will closely monitor the market and respond
to changes in market conditions. Going forward, in order to broaden the types of
works in the construction and engineering sector other than slope works, Geotech
Engineering strives to partner with potential partner(s) for tendering projects in
various types of civil engineering works (especially for site formation works and
ground investigation field works);

taking into consideration the market circumstances in Cambodia, the Group will
take a cautious approach in the development of our construction and decoration
business in Cambodia;

although our property-related services are expected to remain challenging in the
coming years given the uncertainties in the economic and business environment of
Hong Kong, by leveraging our management experiences and knowledge gained in
the industry, the Group will strive to seek various opportunities in property-related

services;

due to the uncertainties in the economic and business environment of Hong
Kong, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach regarding its inventory
management of luxury products in order to lower costs. The Group will also actively
explore potential partnership with new suppliers and expand customer base to

diversity business risks; and

in addition to the above, the Group may also seek to diversify and explore other
investment opportunities in the future.

The Group will continue to monitor the situation and assess the market risks and
uncertainties during the economic recovery cycle and strive to take strict measures to
mitigate any potential adverse impact on the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEE R RS (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's total revenue decreased by approximately HK$54.1 million or approximately
40.2% from approximately HK$134.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$80.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group's total
revenue for the year was contributed by construction and engineering services, property-
related services and sales of luxury products.

(@) Construction and Engineering Services

The Group's revenue generated from construction and engineering services
decreased by approximately HK$61.7 million or approximately 50.2% from
approximately HK$122.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$61.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the completion of certain major slope works
projects while newly awarded major projects were still at the beginning stage

during the year.
(b) Property-related Services

The Group's revenue from property-related services remained stable for the year
ended 31 December 2024 as compared with the year ended 31 December 2023
which included continuing connected transactions amounting to approximately
HK$5.0 million (2023: approximately HK$4.6 million) and the details of which are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
"CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" in this annual report.

(c) Sales of luxury products

The Group's revenue from sales of luxury products increased by approximately
HK$7.0 million or approximately 207.5% from approximately HK$3.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$10.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. Such increase in revenue was mainly due to the stable growth
in the sales of luxury watches sector as a result of the Group’s expansion into sales
of luxury products market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's total gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to

approximately HK$5.4 million, representing an increase of 50.6% as compared with

approximately HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group's gross

profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 6.7%, as compared

with approximately 2.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(a)

(b)

()

Construction and Engineering Services

The gross profit from construction and engineering services for the year ended

1 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$0.6 million, representing
an increase of 150% as compared with approximately HK$0.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit margin from construction and
engineering services for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
1.0%, as compared with approximately 0.2% for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The increase in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to the cost
optimisation as a result of manpower restructuring during the year.

Property-related Services

The gross profit from property-related services for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$2.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.4 million as compared with approximately HK$2.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit margin for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately 31.5%, as compared with approximately
28.2% for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in gross profit margin
was mainly due to the property leasing agency services income of approximately
HK$0.3 million recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Sales of luxury products

The gross profit from sales of luxury products for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$2.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 100% as compared with approximately HK$1.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately 18.8%, as compared with approximately 28.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to

the increase in the direct selling expenses incurred during the year.

Other Income

Other income mainly included bank interest income, material charges income and sundry

income. For the year ended 31 December 2024, other income amounted to approximately

HK$3.6 million (2023: approximately HK$4.9 million). The decrease in other income was

mainly due to the decrease in handling charges paid by subcontractors requesting our

assistance in the procurement of construction materials for our construction contracts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEE R RS (&)

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise staff costs, depreciation and legal and
professional fees. The administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$24.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.1% as compared with approximately HK$25.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The administrative expenses remained stable for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Finance Costs

Finance costs represent finance charge on lease liabilities and net interest expense on long
service payment obligations. Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$67,000, representing an increase of approximately 91.4% compared with
approximately HK$35,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly
attributable to the commencement of new lease on premise during the year.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of approximately HK$285,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024 as compared with an income tax expense of approximately HK$17,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023, resulting from an increase in deferred tax expense
during the year.

Net Loss

Net loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$15.8
million, as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$16.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Despite the decrease in other income, the reduction in the Group's net
loss was mainly due to the increase in gross profit as discussed above. The Group's net loss
margin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 19.6%, as compared to
approximately 12.2% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's issued share capital was HK$16.8 million and the
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) was 1,680 million with
par value of HK$0.01 each. There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since the listing of the Company’s Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
October 2017 (the “Listing").

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$121.4 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$137.2 million). The Group had
no bank borrowing as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: nil). Other borrowings of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 were lease liabilities of approximately HK$0.7 million
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$1.4 million). Details of lease liabilities are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. All borrowings were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The interest rates on lease liabilities were charged at
fixed rates with effective rate at 4.41% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 4.23%
t0 4.78%). The Group did not carry out any interest rate hedging policy.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury
policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group's assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity as at the year-
end date and multiplied by 100%. As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the
Group were the lease liabilities of approximately HK$0.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$ 1.4 million). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately 0.4% (31 December 2023: approximately 0.8%). The decrease in gearing
ratio was mainly due to lower total indebtedness level resulting from repayment of lease
liabilities of the Group during the year.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no asset of the Group was pledged.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EHEE R RS (&)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating transactions and revenue
are settled in Hong Kong dollars and the assets and liabilities are primarily denominated
in HKS. The Group's exposures to foreign exchange mainly arise from its cash and bank
deposits denominated in United States Dollars ("US$") amounting to approximately
HK$37.8 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$37.1
million). Most of the operating transactions from the Group's operation in Cambodia are
settled in USS.

However, HKS is pegged to USS$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the Group is not
exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk against US$ and therefore has not entered
into any derivatives agreement nor committed to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associated
Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investments held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, joint ventures and

associated companies.
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Use of Net Proceeds from the listing of the
shares of the Company on 12 October 2017" in this annual report, the Group did not have
other future plans for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, employees who were on the Group's payroll included 60 full-time
employees (31 December 2023: 65 full-time employees). For the year ended 31 December
2024, total staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
HK$29.0 million (2023: approximately HK$30.6 million). Total staff costs comprised salaries,
Directors’ fee, wages and allowances, discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme
contributions. In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operation within the Group, the remuneration policy of the Group's employees are being
reviewed periodically to ensure that the salary and benefit levels of employees of the Group
are competitive (with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications, position,
performance and experience). The Group continues to provide adequate job training to
the employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills. Apart from the defined
contribution retirement plan in Hong Kong and Cambodia and job training programs,
salary increments and discretionary bonuses are being awarded to employees according
to the assessment of individual performance and market situation. For remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management and share option schemes, please refer
to sections headed "REMUNERATION COMMITTEE" and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in this
annual report respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital commitments (31 December 2023: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has been involved in a number of claims,
litigations and potential claims against the Group regarding the employees’ compensation
and common law personal injury. Based on the information available, the Board considered
that the Group has sufficient insurance coverage on any liability arising from those claims,
litigations and potential claims.

As such, the Board is of the view that such claims, litigations and potential claims would
not cause any material adverse impact on the operation and financial position of the Group
and no provision is required to be made in the consolidated financial statements.

Use of Net Proceeds from the listing of shares of the Company
on 12 October 2017

Net proceeds from the Listing ("Net Proceeds”) amounted to approximately HK$72.8
million. As at 31 December 2024, a total amount of approximately HK$68.0 million out of
the Net Proceeds had been used by the Group and approximately HK$4.8 million remained

unused.

As at 31 December 2024, the unused amount of Net Proceeds was placed in interest-
bearing deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The Group will gradually apply
the remaining Net Proceeds for the acquisition of site facilities and equipment (being
consistent with the purposes as set out in prospectus of the Company dated 28 September
2017 (the “Prospectus”)) in accordance with actual business needs and expects to use up
the remaining Net Proceeds within one year (i.e. on or before the end of year 2025). Details
are as follows:

Planned use of
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEREREHE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhi (BR & %% 4 ), aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director in December
2018. He is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), controlling shareholder of the
Company, the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee’) and a member of the remuneration committee of the Board (the
“Remuneration Committee’). Mr. Chen is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor's degree of Business Administration from the National
University of Management, Cambodia. Currently, he is one of the founders, the director
and the chairman of Prince Real Estate (Cambodia) Group Co., Ltd,, the holding company
for a group of companies principally engaged in property related industry which includes
the provision of the development and leasing of commercial and residential properties in
Cambodia (the “Prince Group”). Mr. Chen has over ten years of experience in the areas of
property agency and development. In addition, Mr. Chen has over six years of experience
in internet industry, and is a director of certain companies which are principally engaged
in the provision of information technology solutions and internet services (such as web
hosting, enterprise network and broadband internet services) in Cambodia and Singapore.

Mr. Wei Weizhan, aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director in April 2025. Mr.
Wei has over 20 years of experience in the sales of luxury jewelry and watches business
and will oversee the strategic development of the Group’s new sales of luxury products
business. Mr. Wei is currently the director of Italian company AB S.RR.L, principally engaged
in jewelry and watch distribution as well as European real estate investment businesses. He
is currently the Executive Vice President of the Association of Chinese Young Entrepreneurs
in Europe and a member of the Italian Chinese Collectors Association. Mr. Wei graduated
from the University of Florence in December 2008 with a Bachelor's degree in Humanities
and Communication and completed an Omega Ambassador training in October 2011 to
become an Omega brand ambassador.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (Ff 3Z & 5t 4 ), aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in January 2019. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Board

("Audit Committee”) and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Chan has over 10 years of finance, accounting and treasury experience.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

From September 2022 to July 2023, Mr. Chan served as an independent non-executive
director of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8191), the shares
of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Since August 2017, he has been
a director of Morton Professional Services Limited and is responsible for advising on
company formation, business establishments and legal compliance related matters. Since
February 2018, Mr. Chan was appointed as the company secretary of China International
Development Corporation Limited (formerly known as Ascent International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 264), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chan was appointed as the company secretary of Yues International
Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1529), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, with effect from June 2022. Since 1 April 2023, Mr. Chan
served as an independent non-executive director of Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited
(stock code: 8076), the shares of which are listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange.
Since 31 August 2023, Mr. Chan served as an independent non-executive director of
Speedy Global Holdings Limited (stock code: 540), the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan has been admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in January 2010 and is currently a practicing member of the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council. Mr. Chan graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accountancy in November 2006.

Mr. Shen Zejing (L 28 % 4 ), aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in January 2019. Mr. Shen is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Shen is currently the
partner of Hylands Law Firm. Mr. Shen holds a bachelor's degree in law from China
University of Political Science and Law and is a practicing lawyer in China. Mr. Shen has
over 30 years of experience in the fields of corporate, securities law business, foreign-
related legal business and litigation business. He has provided legal services to a number
of well-known conglomerates and institutions, acting as their legal counsels to advise and
represent those conglomerates and institutions in both the litigation and non-litigation
matters related to financial, real estate, corporate and other aspects.

Ms. Yip Wai Ching (¥ £ & & 1), aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in December 2023. Ms. Yip is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Ms. Yip is currently a director of a professional accounting firm. Ms. Yip graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and obtained a Master's degree in Corporate
Governance in September 2017 and a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in November 2004.
She is also a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant. Ms. Yip has nearly 20 years of experience in
the accounting industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREREBREHFR(E)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ip Ying Hang (EmE %), aged 39, is the financial controller (the “Financial
Controller”) of the Company. He has been the Financial Controller since June 2016
and was also the Company Secretary for the period from June 2016 to July 2020 and
from November 2021 to June 2022. He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in
November 2009 with a bachelor's degree in Commerce in Accountancy. Mr. Ip has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2015
with over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial matters in Hong Kong. He first joined the Group in December 2015 as
the financial controller and company secretary of our principal operating subsidiary. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Ip had worked at SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from July 2011 to
November 2014 at which his last position was assistant manager and then worked at KPMG
from November 2014 to December 2015 at which his last position was manager. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lam Chi Wai (#f & & % 4 ), age 38, is the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary’) of the Company. He has been the Company Secretary since June 2022. He
was awarded a bachelor’s degree of business administration in accountancy by Lingnan
University in 2008, and a master's degree of corporate governance by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2017. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2012 and a chartered accountant of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales since 2021. Mr. Lam is also a chartered secretary, a
chartered governance professional and an associate member of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Lam has over 14 years of work experience
mainly in accounting, auditing, treasury, financial controlling and corporate governance.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in May 2022 and currently acts as an assistant financial controller
of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as well as a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lam had worked for two international accounting
firms and as financial manager, deputy financial controller and assistant company secretary
and director of corporate finance for several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam
was appointed as the non-executive director of Leadway Technology Investment Group
Limited (stock code: 2086), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from February 2024.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. The Company believes that an effective corporate governance practice
is fundamental to enhancing Shareholders value and safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements
corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group's
business. The code provisions applicable for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules’) have been adopted as the Company'’s corporate governance practices. The
Board will continue to review and enhance the corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Company has adopted and complied with the applicable code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)") as set out in the CG Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors will periodically review the
Company's corporate governance policies and will propose any amendment, if necessary,
to ensure compliance with the CG Code from time to time.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code
of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries with the Directors, all of the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the requirements of the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

VISION, MISSION AND CORPORATE CULTURE

Our Group's vision is to pursue diversifying business strategies, and to provide our
stakeholders with sustainable and outstanding returns from operations through strategic
planning and collaboration and leverage of professionals.

Our corporate culture is moulded by the abovementioned vision and mission. We value
the growth of the Company as well as our employees and communication with our
shareholders. We strive to optimize our operations and enhance our technical expertise
with an aim to provide excellent service to our clients. We support our employees by
creating a harmonious and safe working environment. We will provide multiple channels
for stakeholders to maintain effective communication, allowing us to continuously seek
feedback from our stakeholders to evaluate our business performance and goals.

In order to promptly respond to market needs and to attain long-term sustainability of the
Group, the Board is committed to regularly reviewing and adjusting its business strategies
based on the market circumstances from time to time.
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THE BOARD
Role and function

The Board is primarily responsible for directing and supervising the affairs of the Group,
including but not limited to overall business development, all significant financial,
operational and strategic decisions, internal controls and risk management assessment,
review of corporate governance policies and practices and other functions reserved
to the Board under the second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”). The management is responsible for the day-
to-day operations of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. Further details of these committees are set out in the sections headed
“AUDIT COMMITTEE", "NOMINATION COMMITTEE" and “"REMUNERATION COMMITTEE"
below.

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Chen Zhi and comprised
five members, consisting of two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS” REPORT" in
this annual report. Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" in this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy and Workforce

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. The Company will continue to review and enhance the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure compliance with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number

of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

An analysis of the Board's composition as at 31 December 2024 is set out in the following

chart:
Number of
Directors
EEAH

5

Female
ik
(20%)
4
INED
B IFPTES

(60%)

0
Gender Designation
gzl 4
Remarks: PfieE
ED - Executive Director HITES
INED - Independent non-executive Director B IFMITES

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and reviews
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Nomination Committee has considered a number of factors including but not
limited to the age, education background and experience when reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board Diversity Policy during the year, and
consider the said policy as appropriate and effective. Such review will be performed
annually, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the said policy form time to time.

The Board currently comprises one female Director and four male Directors. The Board
has achieved the gender diversity target of at least 20% female Director(s), and the Board
will continue to maintain gender diversity at Board level. The Board is of the view that the
existing gender diversity in respect of the Board is sufficient, and that the board diversity
policy and the nomination policy of the Company can ensure that there will be a pipeline
of potential successors to the Board which continues the existing gender diversity in the
Board.

During the year, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances which
make achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant.
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EEELRRE (8)

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of the
Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 60 full-time employees in total, comprising
44 males and 16 females (that is, a male to female ratio of approximately 2.8:1). The Group
when hiring employees considers a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and the Group will make sure achieving gender
diversity across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”), which
establishes written guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated
criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.
The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has
used its best efforts to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Collectively, they
have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, among other
things, the following factors:

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(if) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations, business
strategies and future development needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

(v) the general market conditions; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The recommendation of the payment of dividend is subject to the determination of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend for the year will be subject to the approval of

the Shareholders. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rules and the Articles.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In
compliance with the CG Code, the position of the chairman and the chief executive officer

of the Company are held by separate individuals.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Chen Zhi serves as the Chairman of the Board and
is responsible for overall business development, financial and strategic planning of the
Group. No chief executive officer has been appointed by the Company after resignation of
Mr. Kung Ho Man on 30 November 2022. The overall construction projects management
and the daily operation of the construction and engineering services of the Group are
delegated to the other executive Directors and the management of the Company. The
Board is of the view that the current management structure can effectively facilitate the
Group's operation and business development.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10(1)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Chan Tsang Mo and Ms. Yip Wai Ching have the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise in compliance with Rule 3.10(2) of

the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to be independent
of the management and free of any relationship that could materially interfere with
the exercise of their independent judgments. The Board considered that each of the
independent non-executive Directors brings his own relevant expertise to the Board and
its deliberations. None of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or

financial interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTIONS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of one year and thereafter shall continue year to year
subject to termination provisions therein, provisions on retirement by rotation and re-
election of Directors as set out in the Articles.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one- third
of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re- election. Any
Director appointed under this Article 1
the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general
meeting.

12 shall not be taken into account in determining

Mr. Wei Weizhan, who was appointed as an executive Director on 15 April 2025 has
obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him as a Director and the
possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information to the
Stock Exchange on 14 April 2025. Mr. Wei has confirmed that he understood his obligations
as an executive Director.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF
DIRECTORS

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board and such mechanisms should be reviewed annually by the Board.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms which include:

A board meeting was held annually between the Chairman and all the independent
non-executive directors (“INED(s)") to encourage INEDs to voice their concerns and
views and to make positive contributions to the development of the Company's
strategy and policies through expressing their independent, constructive and
informed comments;

All Directors have access to management at all times on any queries they may have;

All Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice at the Company's
expense;

Half members of the Board are INEDs, satisfying the requirement of the Listing Rules
that at least one-third of the Board are INEDs;

The nomination committee of the Company reviewed the structure, size, and
composition of the Board on an annual basis;

The nomination committee of the Company assessed the independence of all the
INEDs on an annual basis;

All INEDs are required to submit a written confirmation to the Company annually to
confirm their independence;

Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is
any change in his/her own personal particulars that may materially affect his/her
independence; and

All Directors are reminded at the meetings of the Board and the Board committees
to declare and disclose any material interest in contracts, transactions or
arrangements and shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum on

any resolution.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and

procedures are in place to achieve the Company's corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions under the CG
Code include:

to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management of the Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has
reviewed and monitored (i) the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices; (ii)
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
(i) the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the Company's code of conduct; and (v) the Company's compliance with

the CG Code disclosure requirements.
DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all Directors in relation to
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the CG Code, every newly appointed Director is provided with a
comprehensive induction and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of
the Company's operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the relevant

statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process so that they can perform their
duties appropriately. During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors are provided
with regular updates on the Company's performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that they continue to make contribution to the
Board in an informed and relevant manner. The Company updates Directors on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate

governance practices.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of the training records.
Based on those training records, the Directors received the following training during the
year ended 31 December 2024:
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Reading and/or
on-line training

MR
Name of Director BEEnE RIEFEI
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Chen Zhi BREEE v
Mr. Qiu Weiren (resigned on 15 April 2025) QiuWeiren 64 (R=_Z—HEF M A+ A HET) v
Mr. Wei Weizhan (appointed on 15 April 2025) BRARLEE RZZE_AFNWA+HABEZT) N/A 38 A
Independent non-executive Directors BYHBITESE
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PRIGE S & v
Mr. Shen Zejing TLRRSE A 4
Ms. Yip Wai Ching ES 3B v
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Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least four times per year. Additional meetings
would be arranged if and when required. Directors may participate either in person or
through electronic means of communications. Minutes of the Board and committee
meetings are prepared and kept by the Company Secretary, and are open for inspection
by Directors upon request. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary, and are allowed to seek external professional advice if needed.

The management is committed to provide the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information of the Group's affairs through financial reports and business
and operational reports in a timely manner, to enable them to make informed decisions.
The Directors are also provided with access to the Group's management and the Company
Secretary at all times to obtain relevant information for carrying out their duties as
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Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, four Board meetings and one general meeting REBEZZ-_NF+_A=1+—HILFE KARAGET
were held. The attendance records of each member of the Board is set out below: MAZEEEERAR - ARRAG - EFFFKENEERL
SEHAT
Number of general Number of Board
meetings attended/ meetings attended/
Number of Number of
general meetings Board meetings
during the year during the year
HERE HEEEE
RERE/ FR BHEAEER
Name of Director EEpE BERXERE ETEgRLY
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Zhi RELE /1 4/4
Mr. Qiu Weiren (resigned on 15 April 2025) QuWeiren £ (R—_Z-_HFWA+RABET) 1/1 4/4
Mr. Wei Weizhan (appointed on 15 April 2025) RARLE (WN_ZE_AFHNATHRBEEZM) N/A 738 B N/A 38 A
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITESE
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo FRIGE S A& 11 4/4
Mr. Shen Zejing TR A 1/1 4/4
Ms. Yip Wai Ching S IR e 1/1 4/4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated specific functions to three Board Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

ExZEeg

REEARAEBETHE EFT2CA=-AEFZEY
BERE HNEXZES REZESRFHEES -

Details of the membership of each of the three committees during the year and up to the FAREEAFTHAHY —EAZESEKEMNFBNT
date of this annual report are as follows:
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
EREES FMZEES REZEE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Chen Zhi &L - M C
Mr. Qiu Weiren (resigned on 15 April 2025) QiuWeiren e (R =_Z-_AFWA+HBET) - - -
Mr. Wei Weizhan (appointed on 15 April 2025) RERAE (W_Z-_AFHAT+HEHEZMT) - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PRIE R S 4 C M M
Mr. Shen Zejing TOIRRR S A& M M M
Ms. Yip Wai Ching BEEgat M C M

Notes:

C: Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M: Member of the relevant Board Committees

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 21 September 2017 in accordance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with terms of reference aligned with the provision of
the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (chairman), Mr. Shen
Zejing and Ms. Yip Wai Ching.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include monitoring the integrity of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget) and risk management as delegated by the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and/or removal of the
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the appointment of the external auditors. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 and this annual report have been

reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings of the Audit Committee were
held to review the Group’s interim and annual financial results for submission to the Board
for approval, make recommendation on the re-appointment of the external auditors,
review the internal control and risk management systems of the Group, review and monitor

the effectiveness of internal audit function and oversee the audit process.

Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of each member are as follows:

EEEGRE (8H)

REBEZZT-_NF+_RA=+—HBLFE BEZZEEY
BIZREgH UEHAEEDHRFEMBEERMES
2E=GHAE - E’Jﬁi%ﬁiﬁﬁ\\%ﬁ%%?ﬁﬂjT’%%Mi
BASEBEMANBELERERERRS BT REEAD
aﬂﬁﬁbﬁ"\]xﬁﬁﬁ&%gﬁaﬁiﬁ"

@H} %} 6 18

BEREREREREKEZHEBREINWOT

Number of

meetings attended

Audit Committee EREEE HESB Y

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (chairman) BRIZE & (/) 3/3

Mr. Shen Zejing TLRET & 3/3

Ms. Yip Wai Ching 254+ 3/3

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION % BB &

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment and re-election of EZZECEEEREZIREEARNQAIIMNEIZEA - TE

the Company’s external auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditor. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group engaged Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the Group’s external auditor and the
remuneration paid and payable to Grant Thornton is set out as follows:

BNERBMBTNEAEERRE BE_2_NF
TZAZ+—RALFE AEEZREHE (FE) §:tiE
BARARAR (2R AAEBEIMNEZEED B C N RER
HRAMMEHI T

2024 2023

—EoME TEC=4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#E T FAET

Audit services EFIZ R 940 940
Non-audit services I EAZIRTE 30 30

The fees incurred for non-audit services represented fees paid to Grant Thornton
for agreed-upon procedures in connection with the Group's continuing connected
transactions during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with the
relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been prepared on
this basis. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going

concern.

The statements by external auditor, Grant Thornton, about their reporting responsibility
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT” in this annual report.

FERRBEENEREBARENAEBFARFERE
R ZHERFEINNER -

EERGHMERESMBRRNEM

BEEABRTREEAARARUAKERAMBHRE  #
RAGEGEPBHRRNABERAFIHRRAKERFAEL
EEBORANTARE  BEFAEBESHERREA
EREPIAR EMRARENFREG -BEFERE  AK
BRBE_ZT_NF+_A=+—HLFENRSUWBR
REZEERYE EFTVENTARTAEANEEEM

oI REARERBECEEBORENELENERENE
BEARSE

SNERBMBAEBEERAEELGS
BB AR B B E | —#f

MBHmROEER
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 September 2017 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary function of the Nomination
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors
to fill vacancies on the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Chen Zhi, being the executive Director
(chairman), Mr. Chan Tsang Mo, Mr. Shen Zejing and Ms. Yip Wai Ching, being the
independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held to review the structure, size and composition (including the age, skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board, the Board Diversity Policy, assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and make recommendations to the Board on the re-
election of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee and the attendance of each member are as

follows:

REZES

ARAR—_ZE—tFNA-_+ - BARIREZZESUER
u;%e.}é?? NEmAREEE - REEE SN T EREE
ARZEEFNEAHEETIZTRMEFTSHELEZ - RA

FHREH REZESEENAKE  IATEREREL
E(ER)  BIUFATEEREREE  LEWELERE
2t

RBE-Z_NE+_A=+-"HLFE RLZEEY
RIT—REH - MREHEES2RE  RENAK (BEF
e B BN EFEZTCEBE B
WTESENEIUEURRRARBRRBFASERESRN
EEGRMER -

REZBEEREREKEZHEBERAT

Number of
meetings attended

Nomination Committee REZEE® HEEBRE
Mr. Chen Zhi (chairman) BRESTE (FE) 171
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BER 8 R ST A 11
Mr. Shen Zejing TLIRET & 1/
Ms. Yip Wai Ching 254+ 11

In considering the nomination of the independent non-executive Director, the Company
has proposed the candidate to the Nomination Committee which reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board based on the age, skills, knowledge and experience of the
candidate appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

In reviewing the diversity of the Board, the Nomination Committee has considered a

number of factors. The composition of the Board has a significant element of diversity in
terms of age, skills, regional and industry experience and background.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 September 2017 in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. Pursuant to the amendment of the chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which have come
into effect on 1 January 2023, the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were amended and approved by the Board in 28 December 2022. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and packages relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group, review and approve the management's remuneration proposals, and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration. As at the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises four members, namely Ms. Yip Wai Ching, being
the independent non-executive Director (chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi, being the executive
Director, Mr. Chan Tsang Mo and Mr. Shen Zejing, being the independent non-executive
Directors.

Under the Group's remuneration policy, the remunerations of the Directors and senior
management are determined with reference to their responsibilities, workload, individual
performance, the time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in determining
his or her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
were held for making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set
out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024. There were no new share schemes nor material matters relating to the

share option scheme during the year.

Members of the Remuneration Committee and the attendance of each member are as

follows:

EEEGRE (8H)

FMEES

ARRR-F—EFNLA-T - HERLETRAFE325 K
KRUFMEES YEEREEEARTAEEIIBBRESRS
CMRBER-ZE_=F-A-RAEBRBNLTRUEI7E
B FMEESREEEER _"T-_—_F+_-A=-+N\
REEEgHERER FHESENIERAARER
AEBEZREESNERENERFIRELBBRED
EE RIORMEEEENFHES  UALBREEESR
EXEASHH NAFRAY FHZESREMNAK
B ABUERTESERE LT (XF) ATESERS
S BYIERMITERRIER KA RILEREL -

BREAEENFHBER EERSRERENTHEL2E
HBE THEE BEBARR RAASERRARRERE
BHXEEE FHEESTRRYBEAZEETHER
5#% -

RBE-Z-_NE+_A=+—"HLFE FMHEZESZ
BT —Re#d AN EEREREEBNFMNGTENE
FEFLEZ - BAREFHHZARENALREEZ-F
ZHE+ A=t - RLEFEZFAMBRERME2 K
FRBERRMTEREARNBERETHNERER -

FHMESEREREKEZHEBERAT

Number of

meetings attended

Remuneration Committee FTHESS HESBAH
Ms. Yip Wai Ching (chairman) 2L+ (FEF) 1
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PRIGH % & 11
Mr. Chen Zhi REFLE 11
Mr. Shen Zejing ThE L A 11

The remuneration for the Directors comprises Directors’ fee, salaries, allowances and
benefits, discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions. Salary adjustments
are made where the Remuneration Committee takes into account performance,
contribution and responsibilities of the individual. Apart from basic salary, executive
Directors and senior management of the Group are eligible to receive a discretionary bonus
taking into account factors such as market conditions as well as corporate and individual's
performance during the year.

EENFHerRE=le T8 FUREN  BIEEAL
AR BIER - FNEZ B @R EARE BRI EEBE
i VB H B 2 o A E BN AN R 2 TR A R £ 2 R (B A
RRERZ  AEENTEERSREEBREARF
e ERPBBIBIEL -
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

Tt
o
I
el

EM <

The remuneration of the members of the senior management excluding Directors of the AEERREREXNE (EERIINBE_ZS-_NFR=-F
Group by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below: =+ ZA=T—BLEFENHESBHEEKIIMT :
Number of Individuals
A
2024 2023
—E-OF —F-=
Emolument bands B & %=
Nil — HK$1,000,000 T % 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001-HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T £ 1,500,000 7 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 78 7T - 1

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management and internal

control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness.

The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of
expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency
of operation and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify and manage risks that could adversely
impact the achievement of the Group's business objectives, they provide reasonable,
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or non-

compliance.

The Group's internal control and risk management system are designed to safeguard the
Group's assets and the interests of shareholders. The Group has established risk governance
procedures to identify, evaluate and manage risks, including environmental, social and
governance risks, associated with each operational department. Operational departments
are responsible to identify and assess potential risks which may affect the Group’s business
operation and objectives. The potential risks are then evaluated by the senior management
in terms of potential impact of risk and likelihood of occurrences. The identified risks after
evaluated by the senior management are compiled in the risk register with risk mitigation
actions and appoint risk owners. The risk owners are responsible to implement, and the
senior management is responsible to monitor the effectiveness of the risk mitigation

actions.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of effectiveness on
both design and implementation of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Such review will be made at least annually
to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk management and the internal
control system of the Group. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.
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Although the Company does not have internal audit function due to relatively simple
corporate structure, size and complexity, the Board has put in place adequate measures to
perform the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group reviews the
need for internal audit function annually, and has engaged CT Partners Consultants Limited
("CT Partners’) to review the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems in relation to the financial, operational and compliance
controls for the year ended 31 December 2024, and the results of the independent review
and assessment from CT Partners were summarised and reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board. No significant area of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance, control and risk management of the Group has been identified.

Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by CT Partners to enhance the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based
on the findings and recommendations of CT Partners as well as the comments of the
Audit Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk management systems
effective and adequate.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established anti-fraud and anti-money laundering policy that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations, and set out measures for employees,
suppliers and business partners to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
audit committee of the Company about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the Group has
adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the aim to ensure the insiders are
abiding by the confidentiality requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the
inside information.

The policy provides guidelines on the reporting system and handling procedures of
potential inside information. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. Only designated staff are
allowed to access the inside information. Information contained in announcements are
reviewed and approved by the senior management of the Group to ensure that no false or
misleading information presents. In case the Group believes that the necessary degree of
confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the

Group would disclose the information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Chi Wai was appointed as the Company Secretary since 17 June 2022. Mr. Lam has
confirmed that he has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2024 in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
His biographical details are set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" in this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon enquiry by the Company, there has not been any other change of Directors’
information which needs to be disclosed in this annual report under Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules since the publication of 2024 interim report of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders and potential
investors is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Group's
business, performance and strategies. The Company has adopted the shareholders’
communication policy with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including the financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material development, governance and risk profile). The Company also recognises
the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
Shareholders and potential investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the website at
www. geotech.hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Latest information on the Group including
annual and interim reports, announcements and other corporate communications will be
updated on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website in a timely fashion.

To solicit and get feedback from shareholders, shareholders are welcome to raise questions,
communicate their views on matters affect the Company, and request information (to the
extent it is publicly available) from the Board and management to the Company Secretary
of the Company.
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The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy including steps taken at the general meetings, the handling of
queries received (if any) and the channel of communication and engagement in place, and
considered that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented

during the year ended 31 December 2024 under review and is effective.

The 2025 annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company will be held on 25 June
2025. The notice of the AGM, setting out details of the proposed resolutions, voting
procedures and other relevant information, will be sent to Shareholders at least 21 days
prior to the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedures for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders

The general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for communication
between the Shareholders and the Board. Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board

may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary by post
at Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower I, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles for putting forward a
resolution at an extraordinary general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the section headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by

Shareholders” in this annual report.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the Company’s principal place of business or branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under Article 113 will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than fourteen days prior
to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which
such notices to the Company may be given will be at least fourteen days.

EEEGRE (8H)

SR EHERBABRRNERERLRKN  BEKRR
RERMAEE  HESREFEE(NE) RRA B
R2EEE VTERNPRBERBARKERBEEZ-F
THFEF At -REFESHZERELABR -

RATRBRZE_AFAAAZTABEAT TS _AFRE
BEAXE((BRREAFAG)) HBEEHRZTRAZRFH
BRERFREMEBERORRAFASEEENEH
RIEL—+—HRABREFE -

R R AE R
BRREMBRRAEZERF

ARBBRRAGREBREEESEBNHES - RIFAR
Foalf EFSURERRRBENERARRREIAE -

BRENARGTAR-—BAEBRRELEBH  ZEFRR
RIBHBEREAEAREARREIRATN IRt D21
EREBRRRELER -

FRERANEEFAMESERAANERE (BFES
B A KRS 3R A e BI5GB 718706708 F) -
EUBKEESHEEERERMERAZTMEBRSM
BEBRRFIAE AR ECERLZFREREAR
B -WMEZRgEREZFRAYRIT =+t —BARER
HBHBHEEE  MBRA(EZEZF KA ATRERAR
BITEMEH BEARRIAMBRAEERESS ARG H
AAFSEMBROMEAEER -

RERRAELREBRZER

BRARBAREAGERRFIAE LIREAREER - 48
BAREREFERAERIBREBARRAG 212 ] —8 -

RBANE G RIF-REBEREEEZLUALRES
B EEBAIA N —HZ AR A TR B RAEASESR
ZEARAEEREARAEIBE XM ABTERNBS
Bk BRABEAL CREESRIN BREEMBKR
AELESBHEEERM RIFBESSHRE) - RIFARA
FIBRERZE BN 2 PHAR TN RENIEEETZIERZ
BRASBETHBZARA  RTERZBERASERTA
HA+AAR MAARAELZEEN 2 KEHHREA
"RELTHEAE -

BUSRIRRAMRAT]/ 2024 F 5

33



34

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRRE (8)

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the securities regulations of the
Stock Exchange, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations. Our primary focus is to ensure information
disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders,
investors as well as the public, to make rational and informed decisions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

For matters in relation to the Board, Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by post to
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower
Il, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and registration, change
of name or address, loss of share certificates or dividends warrants, the registered
Shareholders can contact branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong:

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

Address: Room 21038, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2153 1688

Fax: (852) 3020 5058

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

Geotech Holdings Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the "Group”, “we”, or “our”) are primarily
engaged in civil engineering and construction services based in Hong Kong. Our principal
operating subsidiary, Geotech Engineering Limited, specializes in both private and public
works related to landslip prevention and remedial work for slopes or retaining walls. As
part of our commitment to sustainability, we are pleased to present our Environmental,
Social, and Governance ("ESG") Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Review
Year"). This report highlights our Group's ESG performance and initiatives, focusing on our
core business area of construction and engineering services in Hong Kong, in line with the
scope of the previous year's reporting. Through this report, we aim to provide transparency
on our sustainable business practices, demonstrating our dedication to addressing key
environmental and social challenges in the industry.

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out
in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (‘Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and adheres to the “comply or explain” provisions.
The scope of this report was determined based on the proportion of revenue contributed
by the Group’s key business areas and the number of employees in the geographic region
during the Review Year. This ensures that our reporting is comprehensive and aligned with
the evolving expectations of our stakeholders while highlighting the areas where we can
continue to make meaningful improvements.

The Group is committed to operating sustainably and delivering premium services, and we
strictly adhere to the principles of materiality, quantitative, and consistency in reporting our

relevant measures and performance.

IR - HEREGRSE

HOEEERBRATLRAMNBAR ([AEEI[RM)E
EREBRELIATRERBERS RMANIELENE
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WRIER RER TIZEENTARARTRE - EATMY
AFEERARN S RAMAREBE_T_OF
ToZA=+t-HALEFE(REFE)NRE LB RER
WE - FAREEHNAAEENRTE HEREAREAR
B HINBMERENRLOEBRE MEERTE
R# 8B E—FEMNREHE B - BBAHRE  HMAE
ERUFBUFEXBERNERE  BEREMABORE
RITEPHEZRIT A -

RE HeREARERBEREBEHEXZMAERAAZE
% EmHRANT ETRA DM CMAERBNGRE  HERER
HEESDRRLE T[T ETRHERE] G - RIRENE
ENRERBEFEANNEE T EEBEEMERMOWERL
PIREMEE ABETE - L BATRARRMNBREANT 2
| YA HMFNETEHECHRE  RERERMA
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Reporting principles Descriptions

wERA By

Materiality: Material ESG issues are identified through a materiality assessment and are presented in this report.
BE: BEENRE HERERFEBRBEEMNMEEN  TERKEFLY) -

Quantitative:
changes, where appropriate.

&1t

Consistency:

—Et :

Quantitative key performance indicators (KPIs) are disclosed along with comparative data and a sufficient description of any

BESCHREBER FARAYER)  UMELBEBRREFNESNFTH L (WER) -

KPI data and calculation methods remain consistent and comparable with the previous year to ensure valid comparability.

RMREBERBELFEERT - BN E L FEREARRBBETHL -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

R HERELGHRE (B)

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group integrates ESG considerations into our business strategy and decision-making
processes. To achieve this, we have developed a comprehensive governance structure that
ensures the segregation of duties in our ESG management, covering personnel at all levels
— high, middle, and low.

The ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks, opportunities, and
performance lies with the Board of Directors (the “Board"). The Board is responsible for
setting the Group'’s ESG-related strategies, targets, and long-term objectives. It regularly
reviews the Group’s ESG performance against established targets and revises strategies
when necessary, particularly in response to significant deviations or emerging issues.
Additionally, the Board ensures that all ESG risks are adequately identified, mitigated, and
aligned with the Group’s broader sustainability goals, while overseeing the continuous
improvement of ESG practices within the Group.

Supporting the Board in executing ESG-related strategies, a dedicated ESG working
group has been established. This group includes representatives from key operational
departments, such as finance, safety, environmental, and administration, ensuring a cross-
functional approach to ESG management. The ESG working group is responsible for
coordinating the integration of ESG factors into day-to-day operations, aligning all business
activities with the Group’s ESG objectives, and regularly reporting to the Board on the
progress of initiatives. The ESG working group is also tasked with collecting relevant ESG
data from each functional department, monitoring the execution of ESG measures, and
identifying any deviations from set targets. They ensure that corrective actions are taken
when required to address any shortcomings in ESG performance. Regularly reviewing ESG
performance ensures that the Group remains on track to meet its long-term sustainability

objectives.

Bi-annual meetings are held between the Board and the ESG working group to review the
progress of ESG strategies, evaluate target achievements, and ensure alignment with the
Group's objectives. In these meetings, the Board and the ESG working group also discuss
emerging ESG risks and opportunities, assess the effectiveness of current measures, and
make adjustments to improve overall performance. The ESG working group is responsible
for ensuring that all relevant stakeholders, both internal and external, are kept informed of
ESG-related developments and for promoting a culture of accountability across the Group.

With a deep understanding of ESG risks and opportunities, the Group is better equipped
to allocate resources effectively, make informed business decisions, and drive sustainable
growth. The Group continuously assesses its ESG performance to adapt to changing
conditions and ensures that all ESG initiatives contribute to the long-term success of the
business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group places great importance on engaging with key stakeholders, including
government bodies, investors, employees, and customers, using diverse communication
channels outlined in the table below. By actively engaging with these stakeholders,
the Group gains valuable insights into their expectations and concerns. The feedback

gathered through these interactions helps the Group enhance and fine-tune its sustainable

development strategy.

KhESR

R

AEFEFFEESREBRGFKE REE REREPEXIE
HOENEE IEATRMINZEEBRE - BBRE
BEZERNELD  NEERANTHESEHIE LT -
BRELEHNENREFDAREBMBEI RTEHAHHE

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Expectations Methods of Communication
Ko EAER BEFGE HE BEAR
Investors Shareholders Investment returns Corporate website
Corporate governance system Financial reports
Conference call
REE PR K& DR (==
REERES B mE
BEEH
Employees Senior Management Working environment Training
Staff Career development Face-to-face meetings
Potential recruits Remuneration, compensation, and benefit Performance reviews and appraisals
Interview
B8 =R ERE THRERIR =5
8T BERE [EIEA
BEREE oo HEEREN #8700 B ] AT Az
[EE
Customers Government departments High quality service Customer satisfaction survey
Construction contractors Compliance operation Company hotline
BF BT AR P BE RS BEREEAE
BB EHRES NARER

Suppliers/Contractors

HEm 2an

Government

B

Material suppliers
Contractors

MR RS

DER

Governments
Regulators
B
BEHE

Stable cooperation
Health and safety

Compliance with law and regulations

BPERER

Supplier assessment

Daily work review

Site inspection/meeting with
contractors

HrEmat

BRIES
WEKE A BEEE

Written or electronic correspondence

EEHEFHEREM
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

The Group believes that conducting a materiality assessment helps prioritize the most
pressing ESG issues, enabling us to integrate them into our strategy and ensuring
sustainable value creation for all stakeholders.

To ensure a systematic and robust approach, the Group follows a structured materiality
assessment process with multiple stages to identify material ESG issues. First, the Group
compiles a list of ESG issues and stakeholders potentially relevant to our business, including,
but not limited to, governance practices, environmental impacts, social concerns, and
industry-specific issues. Next, we engage with key stakeholders to collect their views on the
most important ESG topics and carefully review their feedback.

The identified ESG issues are then rated based on their relevance to the business and
stakeholders, as well as their respective level of impact. We consider both the significance
of the issue to stakeholders and its alignment with the Group's strategy, operations, and
risk management processes, prioritizing them by taking into consideration their short-
term and long-term effects on the Group's operations and sustainability goals. Material ESG

topics are then filtered and used as a guiding framework for our ESG efforts.

The Group then develops specific strategies, targets, and action plans to address the
identified material ESG issues, allowing for more comprehensive, transparent, and targeted
responses. Finally, we conduct regular reviews of the materiality assessment process to
ensure it remains up-to-date and reflects changes in the business environment, stakeholder
expectations, and emerging ESG trends.

The material ESG issues have been identified as follows:

EEMEDH
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BRHEREN HENEE-
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Environmental topics Social topics Operational

RIREE HexE EE

Greenhouse gas emissions Occupational health and safety Compliance in regulation
RERE A BEERELD BFIER

Energy consumption

BERERE

Employees’ compensation and staff welfare

EEHMEE THEF

Waste management
EEMER

Employees’ Development and training

B8 R KE

Employment and labour practices

EREBETER

Anti-corruption
R&S
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

I.  ENVIRONMENTAL

1.1

Our environmental policy

To ensure responsible environmental management across our engineering
and construction operations, we have established a Safety and
Environmental Department, which is responsible for ensuring the Group's
full compliance with environmental protection regulations. This department
comprises environmental management professionals who continuously
monitor market trends, statutory requirements, internal policies, and safety
and environmental measures. Whenever there are changes or updates
to statutory and industry requirements, we promptly revise our internal
work procedures and policies to ensure compliance. Through these
proactive measures, we strive to mitigate risks, enhance efficiency, and drive
sustainability across our business activities.

In addition, we have developed an Environmental Management Plan
("EM Plan”) as our organizational framework. The EM Plan defines the
duties and responsibilities of our environmental management functions,
aiming to prevent harm to the environment. As part of this framework,
an environmental management team is established for each project,
consisting of a Site Safety & Environmental Committee and a Site Safety &
Environmental Management Committee. These committees regularly assess
and monitor the implementation of site safety and environmental measures
to ensure compliance with the Group's requirements.

The EM Plan undergoes periodic reviews and updates to align with evolving
environmental standards. Any revisions are promptly communicated to
all employees and subcontractors through internal memos and discussed
in regular meetings. Additionally, we conduct weekly environmental
inspections to proactively identify and mitigate potential environmental
nuisances.

Our environmental policies focus on the following key objectives:

Ensuring strict compliance with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations;

Preventing operational activities from negatively impacting the

environment or public health;

Managing our supply chains effectively by incorporating
environmental protection initiatives into supplier and subcontractor
selection criteria;

Being open and responsive to stakeholders’ environmental
expectations and concerns; and

Allocating adequate resources and facilities for environmental
nuisance abatement, waste management, and pest control

management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Minimising impact of our operations to the
environment and natural resources

We fully recognise that our construction and engineering operations
inevitably impact the environment, including air and water pollution, waste
generation, and resource consumption. Understanding these potential
environmental risks, we have developed and implemented comprehensive
environmental policies and procedures to minimize our ecological
footprint. Our staff and subcontractors are required to strictly adhere to
these guidelines, ensuring that all site activities comply with environmental
regulations and industry best practices. Through continuous training,
regular monitoring, and the enforcement of mitigation measures, we strive
to operate responsibly — reducing environmental harm while integrating
sustainable practices into every project we undertake.

All work procedures carried out by our employees and subcontractors must
comply with our established policies and procedures, which are accredited
under 1SO 9001:2015 for Quality Management Systems and ISO 14001:2015
for Environmental Management Systems. This ensures that our operations
align with sustainability principles and maintain high environmental and
quality standards. To uphold compliance, weekly or monthly environmental
inspections are conducted at construction sites to identify any instances
of non-compliance. If issues are detected, corrective action plans are
promptly implemented to mitigate environmental risks, ensure adherence
to regulations, and continuously improve our environmental performance.

Air Pollution Control

As a construction-focused company, we acknowledge that certain activities
inevitably contribute to air pollution, which can impact the surrounding
environment. To minimize these effects, our on-site project teams
implement stringent dust control measures during high-dust activities, such
as demolition, drilling, and excavation of rock or artificial hard materials,
particularly in areas near the public. These measures include water spraying,
the use of vacuum cleaning devices, and the proper covering or sheltering
of dusty materials, all subject to approval by the registered engineer on-
site. Additionally, to reduce gaseous emissions — such as black smoke or
fumes — generated by construction equipment, we enforce strict emission
control measures to ensure compliance with air quality standards. This
includes using construction machinery and vehicles that comply with
emission standards and implementing policies to switch off engines when

machinery and vehicles are not in use to reduce unnecessary emissions.
Wastewater Management

Although our site operations generate only minimal amounts of wastewater,
we remain committed to implementing effective wastewater pollution
abatement measures. Proper site management prevents surface runoff from
washing across the site and spilling into surrounding areas. All wastewater
is directed to designated treatment facilities before discharge, ensuring
compliance with environmental protection standards and preventing land
pollution. By proactively managing wastewater disposal, we safeguard the
environment and uphold our commitment to responsible construction

practices.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Waste handling

In managing waste, we adhere to a structured framework known as the

“Waste Management Hierarchy,” which consists of four key steps: “Avoidance

and Minimization,” “Re-use,” “Recover and Recycle,” and “Treatment and

Disposal."helps the Group reduce waste generation, conserve resources,

minimize environmental impact, and contribute to a more sustainable

and circular economy. To ensure effective waste management, we have

established specific targets and require all employees to strictly follow them

whenever feasible.

1.

Avoidance and Minimization:

The best way to reduce waste is by preventing it from being created.

By planning better, purchasing wisely, and improving processes, we

can significantly reduce waste. This helps conserve resources and

lowers disposal needs.

Example:

Re-use:

Using water-based finishing materials to minimize
environmental harm, reusing wood packaging for formwork
purposes to reduce the need for new materials, and
employing recyclable containers for fixtures and fittings to
promote sustainability and minimize waste.

Reusing materials before disposal extends their life, reduces the

need for new materials, and cuts waste. It helps conserve resources,

save energy, and lower the environmental impact of construction.

Examples:

Excavated Material: All excavated materials or pure
construction and demolition inert materials (such as hard
rock, sand, soil, and broken concrete) are sorted on-site for
reuse before disposal to designated outlets, like the Public
Fill Reception Facility.

Repurposing hard standing and old bricks for continued use.

Diverting waste to other construction sites for reuse where

possible.
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Recover and Recycle:

Recycling turns waste into new products, reducing the need for
new materials and saving energy. It helps keep waste out of landfills,
lowers greenhouse gas emissions, and supports a circular economy

where materials are reused.

Examples:

Metal waste is sorted and recovered on-site, then collected
by recycling contractors for proper recycling.

Demolition debris, including broken concrete, reinforcement
bars, mechanical fittings, and other hardware, is sorted on-

site for recovery and sent to established recycling outlets.

Treatment and Disposal:

Although it's the last option, proper waste treatment and disposal
are still needed for waste that can't be avoided, reused, or recycled.
This ensures harmful substances are safely managed, preventing
soil, air, and water contamination and reducing health risks.

Examples:

Cardboard and paper packaging, used for plant, equipment,
and materials, are sorted on-site and stockpiled properly in
a dry condition to prevent cross-contamination with other
waste materials.

All chemical waste is collected and disposed of by licensed
contractors, ensuring compliance with environmental
regulations.

During the Review Year, to the best of the Group’s knowledge, we
did not have any non-compliance issues in relation to environmental
laws and regulations in Hong Kong regarding air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Greenhouse gas (“GHG"”) emissions

During the Review Year, the Group's primary sources of emissions continued
to be motor vehicle usage for transportation between project sites and
purchased electricity. Due to longer project durations and the expansion
into larger, more complex sites, emissions from vehicle use increased
slightly. Recognizing that GHG emissions are a major driver of climate
change, the Group remains committed to minimizing its environmental

impact and enhancing sustainability.

To address these emissions, we have implemented a series of carbon
reduction measures focused on vehicle management, including:

Closely monitoring fuel consumption in all company vehicles to
prevent wastage;

Prioritizing the procurement of environmentally friendly vehicles,
taking into account their weight and fuel efficiency;

Conducting regular maintenance to ensure engines operate at peak

efficiency;

Using fuel that complies with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance,
limiting sulfur content to a maximum of 0.005%; and

Enforcing strict policies to prevent idling vehicles.

As part of our broader sustainability strategy, we have successfully achieved
the target set in the previous year to reduce GHG emissions by 10% from
the 2021 baseline by 2026. In the coming year, we aim to further reduce
total GHG emissions for Scope 1 and Scope 2 while maintaining the same
level of construction activity and staff size. To achieve this, we will continue
optimizing driving routes between construction sites and gradually
transition to electric vehicles.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Purchased electricity is another significant source of the Group's emissions. FBENAASBEREREBHRNE —£2
To minimize our carbon footprint, we have implemented a series of energy- HR o BRADBEMOTER - RPIEEE—R
saving measures to maintain the lowest possible consumption levels. DIETBEFEIE - DAMERF AR BB FEK T « A1 -
However, despite these efforts, electricity usage increased during the BEERLZEE N DEFEMNAEEA
Review Year due to the complexity and larger scale of construction sites, LI E M RARERE AN FE
which required higher energy consumption. For further details, please refer EZeeREE - Bl — DS F2HE
to the “Use of Resources” section. RN A —8 -

Through these ongoing initiatives, the Group continues to strengthen its FRAREERZSREE NEBEEENEE

commitment to sustainability and contribute to climate change mitigation. HABBEZENEAR TARRSELOER

EHE R -

The following presents our GHG emissions key performance indicators (“KPI") LTE2IREEFERMNS @RESIEE

for the Review Year: BOR ERBEBBEMIBR -

GHG emissions from use of vehicles: HRFERAELENBERBEHEN
Aspects 1.1 Unit 2024 2023
EBE11 B —B-OEF —E=F
Nitrogen oxides gram 20,786.62 18,218.66
Agm 5
Sulphur oxides gram 490.51 49293
wmatky =
Respiratory suspended particles gram 1,530.47 1,341.40
N OR S OF R i)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

GHG emissions from mobile combustion sources:

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

BERBEREENAZREHEN

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2024 2023
fEE1.2 B —E-NE —TE-=F
Scope 1

B

Carbon dioxide tonnes 78.78 79.23
gk L}

Methane? tonnes 0.23 0.22
R ke 2 L

Nitrous oxide? tonnes 9.54 8.89
—&l=—R’ L]

Indirect GHG emission from the generation of
purchased electricity:

BEELNBZEEREREBHER :

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2024 2023
Em1.2 v —EC-NE —T=-=
Scope 2

FE2

Indirect GHG Emissions tonnes (CO, equivalent) 10.66 7.89
R = R AS HE AR Me (— A LiREE)

Total GHG emission:

Aspects 1.2 Unit 2024 2023
Em1.2 ES1v2 —B-MF —ZE-=
Scope 1 and Scope 2 Tonnes? 99.21 96.23
HERHE? M 2
GHG emission intensity tonnes/average number of employees' 2.25 2.24
RE R E a5 R 8 A

Note ik

1 The average number of employees is calculated by taking the total
number of employees at the beginning and at the end of the Review
Year and divide by two.

2 Greenhouse gas emissions included emissions of carbon dioxide,
methane, and nitrous oxide. Methane and nitrous oxide were converted
to carbon dioxide emissions by global warming potential (‘GWP”). The
total amount of greenhouse gas emissions is the equivalent of total
amount of carbon dioxide emissions.

1 FHEEABRDBEFENREBEFER
EEABUEFIRRIA S -

2 BRERBHEREE_SLEK FRM—F
E—RANHERE - FRMN—StE_REB
SHEESRE LS - AR E - R
ERBHRESAER _SCTREBNRE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Hazardous wastes produced:

CEEENEERRY :

Aspects 1.3 Unit 2024 2023
Em1.3 Bfi7 —E-NE —EZ=F
Hazardous waste disposal tonnes N/A* N/A*
EEREVRE L TEA* iR
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/construction contract N/A* N/A*
BERENEE E, A L TE A T~

*

The operation of the Group did not generate any hazardous waste for

the Review Year and for the year ended 31 December 2023 and hence

does not have relevant KPI to report.

Non-hazardous wastes produced:

b AEBEBRNOBEFERBE-T =4
TZAZ+-BLFEYEELEREE
FEEY) - FEI BT 2 WA BRERUER -

CEENESERY

Aspects 1.4 Unit 2024 2023
EE1.4 Bz —E-NE —F-=
Non-hazardous waste disposal tonnes 536.00 382.90
EEEEVRE 7]

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/construction project 134.00 95.73
BEERNEE WA, sE5RIE A

The methodology adopted for reporting on KPI above was based on

“How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on

Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange

The Group does not generate hazardous waste in its operations; therefore,

setting a reduction target for hazardous waste is not applicable. However,

non-hazardous waste, primarily construction waste, was generated during

the Review Year and managed in compliance with the Environmental

Protection Department’s regulations.

For the coming year, we have set a conservative target to stabilize non-

hazardous waste intensity at a level not more than 10% higher than the

Review Year. To achieve this, we will enhance material planning to minimize

excess use, strengthen on-site waste sorting and recycling initiatives, and

explore opportunities to reuse inert materials wherever feasible.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to optimizing resource use, with a strong focus
on critical resources like electricity, water, and paper. We motivate our
employees to minimize their environmental impact by actively reducing
energy consumption and making the most of available resources. The
following outlines the main initiatives we have adopted in these areas:

Electricity

We have implemented several energy-saving measures across both office
and project sites to demonstrate our commitment to energy efficiency,
including:

Placed near air conditioning switches to remind staff to set the
temperature at an energy-efficient 25°C.

Encouraging staff to turn off lights, machinery, and office equipment

when not in use.

Conducting regular checks and maintenance of air-conditioning

systems to ensure optimal operation and prevent breakdowns.

Providing educational sessions to employees on energy-saving
practices and encouraging their active participation in conservation
efforts.

In the coming year, we will continue to set a target to reduce electricity
usage intensity by optimizing the use of electric devices and appliances,
purchasing energy-efficient equipment, and regularly cleaning air-
conditioning filters to improve cooling efficiency.

Water

While we have no challenges in sourcing water, we remain committed
to promoting water conservation across our operations. As water usage
depends on the scope and nature of work at project sites, setting specific
targets for water efficiency is not applicable. However, we continue to
raise awareness by placing reminders next to water taps to encourage
employees to conserve water.

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Paper

We have implemented a series of initiatives aimed at reducing paper usage
and minimizing our ecological footprint:

Utilizing digital presentations and note-taking during meetings to
eliminate the need for printed handouts and meeting minutes.

Reusing old envelopes for internal communication and drafts.

Preferring electronic communication over printed materials
whenever possible.

Purchasing paper products made from recycled materials and
certified sustainable sources.

Packaging Materials and Other Initiatives

The Group does not utilize packaging materials in its operations, and
therefore, disclosure of such data is not relevant. However, we actively

promote sustainable practices among our staff:

Encouraging employees to bring their own lunches to reduce the
use of single-use foam lunch boxes typically associated with takeout
meals.

Advocating for mindful consumption to minimize food waste, with
reminders to staff to order only what they can consume and reduce

over-ordering.

Through these initiatives, we foster a culture of sustainability within the
organization and encourage responsible choices that align with our
environmental values. We advocate for mindful consumption habits to

minimize waste across all areas.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The following shows our indirect energy and water consumption for the AT 25N EEFERMOEEEIREKHE
Review Year: EE
Energy consumption in total and intensity BERHEEERERE
Aspects 2.1 Unit 2024 2023
EmE21 B —B-OEF —E-=

Indirect energy consumption:

HHLREREE

— Electricity usage kWh 28,824.00 21,324.00
— A& TRE
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/average number of employees** 655.09 49591
REEE TRE/THEEB AH*
Diesel Litres 73,604.00 11,822.00
s 7
* The methodology adopted for reporting on KPI above was based on * 2 M ERESUSEREBSN AR
“How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on R FTRmE [{aREEE -t
Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange RESAmE 7 4% BB E RIS
T2 WIS -
** The average number of employees is calculated by taking the total = FHEE ABIRBRETEY REEFE
number of employees at the beginning and at the end of the Review REE ABBMBRAZFTE -

Year and divide by two.

Water consumption in total and intensity BEXKERRE
Aspects 2.2 Unit 2024 2023
B 2.2 B —B-F —E_=
Water consumption cum 2,082.00 586.00
FEKE oK
Water consumption intensity cu.m/no. of offices (inc. offices of construction 2,082.00 586.00

site offices and back office of construction and
engineering service)

FRmE NAR/MRAEHE (BREIRMERER
NREERTIRRBELHAE)

During the Review Year, the increase in water and diesel consumption was REBEFEERN ARKREREREEEMEE
primarily due to the higher demand for both resources across larger and HREEFEAMEERNER T HHZRESR
more complex project sites. TR SKIE N o

BB IR EBRAT/ 2024 5 49
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Climate change

Climate change is one of the most crucial issues of the past decade. The
Group performs ongoing assessments of potential climate-related risks to
understand the risks we may encounter and their potential impacts on the
Group.

Physical Risks
Risk Description:

Flooding: Flooding poses a significant risk, particularly in areas prone to
heavy rainstorms. It can disrupt construction and engineering activities,
causing delays and hazards to workers' safety. Additionally, flooding may
damage equipment and infrastructure on-site.

Typhoons or Heavy Rainstorms: Typhoons and heavy rainstorms present
acute risks that can cause significant disruption to construction activities.
These weather events may lead to unsafe working conditions, especially in

terms of worker safety, equipment damage, and project delays.

High Temperature: Extreme heat can affect worker safety and health,
leading to heat-related illnesses and reduced productivity.

Risks response:

Flooding: Our offices and site offices are strategically located outside high-
risk flooding areas. To ensure the safety of our staff and workers, we have
established clear policies for severe weather conditions, which must be
followed during such events.

Typhoons or Heavy Rainstorms: In the event of an approaching typhoon
or heavy rainstorm, staff are required to inspect all site facilities, drainage
channels, and manholes to ensure they are free of silt and debris. We also
implement intercepting channels along the edges of excavations to prevent
surface runoff across excavation faces and exposed soil. Additionally, we
maintain a large and diverse supplier base, enabling us to source materials
from alternative suppliers in case of disruptions caused by extreme weather
conditions.

High Temperatures: To protect workers from high temperatures, we ensure
adequate supplies of water and provide shaded rest areas where workers
can cool down and take breaks.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Transition Risks

Risk Description:

Customer Preference Shift: There is a growing trend where customers are
increasingly favoring service providers that have a smaller environmental
impact, particularly those who contribute less to climate change. This
shift in customer preferences could pose a transition risk to the Group, as
it might affect demand for our services if we are unable to meet evolving

environmental expectations.

Regulatory Changes: Changes in climate-related regulations may also create
transition risks. As governments implement stricter environmental laws and
policies, there could be an impact on how construction and engineering
companies operate. The Group is aware that such regulations may require
modifications to existing processes, equipment, or materials, potentially
affecting our cost structure and operational procedures.

Risks response:

Customer Preference: The Group does not anticipate significant adverse
effects from the shift in customer preferences in the near future due to
our specialized nature of work. We continue to monitor market trends and
customer expectations to ensure that our services remain aligned with the
evolving demand for environmentally conscious solutions.

Regulatory Monitoring: To address potential regulatory changes, the Group
actively monitors the regulatory landscape related to climate change
and environmental standards. This includes keeping track of local and
international climate-related laws and regulations. By staying informed, we
can adjust our services and operations accordingly to ensure compliance

and avoid potential disruptions.

The Group continues to monitor climate-related risks and has implemented
relevant measures to minimize potential physical and transition risks,
although extreme weather conditions and changes in climate-related
regulations are not expected to materially affect the Group’s operations in
the near future.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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SOCIAL

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group highly values its employees and places great emphasis on
effective human resources management to ensure the organization attracts
and retains top talent.

Recruitment and Talent Acquisition

To attract skilled professionals, we offer competitive remuneration packages
tailored to each individual's position, qualifications, and experience level.
Our Human Resources & Administrative Department ensures that rigorous
controls are in place during the recruitment process to align candidates
with the Group’s needs and prevent any unlawful practices. We hire based
solely on a candidate’s suitability and abilities, without regard to gender,
religion, nationality, or other irrelevant factors. Our recruitment process
is designed to identify individuals with the necessary skills, qualifications,
and experiences required for the job, promoting a diverse and inclusive
workplace where all employees are valued and respected.

Policy on Child and Forced Labor

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance approach towards child labor and
the hiring of illegal immigrants, both in the office and on construction
sites. Stringent recruitment controls are implemented to prevent such
illegal practices. In the event of any discrepancies, such as mismatched
ages or identities, the Group immediately terminates employment with the
concerned individual. Furthermore, forced labor is strictly prohibited across

all operations.
Employee Welfare and Compensation

To safeguard employees’ rights, the Group has established comprehensive
staff handbooks and employment policies covering compensation,
promotions, working hours, rest periods, and other welfare measures. We
regularly review compensation and benefits programs to ensure they
remain competitive and meet the needs of our workforce.

Through effective staff appraisals and communication, exceptional
employees are recognized, rewarded, and given opportunities for internal
promotion and salary increases. This system helps to ensure that high-
performing staff are appropriately valued and incentivized.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Open Communication and Fair Dismissal Practices

The Group encourages close communication with employees to understand
their needs and concerns. Regular internal meetings are held between
directors and construction teams, ensuring that staff have opportunities to
express their opinions. Feedback is provided during appraisals and when
necessary. We also enforce a strict policy against illegal or unfair dismissal.
All dismissals are reviewed and approved by responsible personnel,
ensuring that they follow standard procedures and are in compliance with

employment laws.

We believe the above policies and procedures help foster a positive,
respectful, and inclusive work environment where employees are supported
in their professional growth and their well-being is prioritized.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has employed 43 (2023:45) full time
employees under our construction and engineering services in Hong Kong,
which is the Group’s key business activities carried out in Hong Kong. The
breakdowns of our workforce in the key operating units by gender, age
group and employment types are as follows:

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()
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By gender 2024 2023 By age group 2024 2023
gl —BIE —E-= REWRAR —ERE —ZT=-=
Male 74% 73%  Under 30 years old 7% 2%
E)id 30U T
Female 26% 27%  31-50 years old 44% 52%
Ly 31-50 5%
51-60 years old 26% 22%
51-60 5%
Over 61 years old 23% 24%
615 &
By employment category 2024 2023 By geographic region 2024 2023
REREAR et 11 - ZEF RE TE-mF —T-=F
Senior level 26% 31% Hong Kong 100% 100%
= )
Middle level 44% 42%
&
Entry level 30% 27%
AES

The Group has employment contracts with site workers, however, their work
is not continuous and depends on the demand at construction sites. Work
schedules are arranged with site workers as needed. Since site workers are
daily-rated and remain on standby to supply the workforce, the breakdown
of our workforce, as in the previous review year, does not include them.
This also explains why entry-level staff make up a smaller portion of our
workforce.

REBMEMBT AT ZEFEEH AW 8T
MITHHTANER BT ATSHE
RIMTE - AEEBRESREMSAT A
ZHIEREEX BRI AASATS
REERAEELE ) AtE F—BEFE
AR - HAHE THAAY T REmSETA - it
IR BAMAE TERMMLEEHFATE
LEBlE N -

BUSRIRRAMRAT]/ 2024 F 5

53



54

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRIE -

HERELGRE (R)

During the Review Year, the total turnover rate of employees is 36% REEFE BEARAERN(ZE=_=
(2023: 28%). The employee turnover rate in the key operating units in Hong F 8% c BAEEBLEMIRMER - FheE
Kong by gender, age group and geographical region are as follows: RIRMRE D HEERKELT
By gender 2024 2023 By age group 2024 2023
R R —E-NE SR RERAR —E-E —F=
Male 46% 26%  Under 30 years old 50% 100%
St 305 AT
Female 9% 33% 31-50years old 43% 17%
Z 31-505%
51-60 years old 19% 11%
51-60 5%
Over 61 years old 38% 56%
615% A I
By geographic region 2024 2023
Rty 8 TE-mF —ZT-=
Hong Kong 36% 28%
BB
The turnover rate for the Review Year increased slightly from 28% to 36%, REIEEFE » 75K % A 28% BS R 35 O = 36% -
primarily due to normal employee attrition. We maintain only the necessary FTERREENEEBAARRKAE - BRFIE
number of employees, without rehiring the same workers who leave. WIEFEVENEEBEAS Te5HEAE R
Additionally, since most site workers are paid on a daily basis and may R —HTITA o fboh - AR ARE DT AR

leave and rejoin the Group multiple times throughout the year, they are
excluded from the turnover rate calculation. This approach is consistent
with the previous review year, as including site workers would not provide
meaningful insights.

We maintain high standards of business ethics and require our employees
to abide by the Group’s code of conduct as stated in our staff handbook.
During the Review Year, to the best of the Group's knowledge, we did not
have any non-compliance issues in relation to preventing child and forced
labour, compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare.

Protecting staff health and safety

To provide a secure and safe working environment for its employees,
the Group has implemented stringent internal health and safety policies,
accredited under ISO 45001:2018. We require all employees to comply
strictly with these safety policies and guidelines. The primary focus is on
raising staff awareness of safety, especially in the potentially hazardous

environment of construction sites, to prevent fatal or work-related injuries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Training and Awareness

All workers are required to attend specific induction training and toolbox
training before entering construction sites. Risk assessments are conducted
to identify any hazardous areas, and these risks are communicated to
workers before work begins. These training programs ensure that workers
have a basic understanding of the environment and the risks present at
the project sites. Additionally, refresher training is provided periodically to
reinforce the importance of safety rules and to update workers on any new
or evolving risks. Emergency drills are also carried out to prepare workers for
potential hazards, such as fires or other emergency situations. These drills
ensure that all staff members are familiar with safety protocols, evacuation
routes, and the proper use of emergency equipment.

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

To ensure worker safety, the Group supplies all necessary PPE and safety
gear, including helmets, boots, dust masks, reflective vests, and safety
goggles. Workers are required to wear the appropriate safety gear at all
times while on construction sites. Regular communication of work safety
notices and procedures helps reinforce safety awareness. Our safety officers
and supervisors ensure all safety measures are adhered to, conducting
routine site inspections to identify and address any unsafe conditions.
Additionally, workers are trained to report any issues with their PPE, ensuring
that it remains functional and safe to use at all times.

Safety Reporting and Continuous Improvement

Our group’s health and safety policies are regularly reviewed to ensure they

align with the latest operational and statutory compliance requirements.

In our ongoing efforts to mitigate work injury risks, an annual safety
and environmental report is prepared by our Safety and Environmental
Manager. This report includes statistics on workplace accidents, helping us
track safety performance and identify areas for improvement. During the
Review Year, there were no lost man-days due to work injury (2023: nil).

Additionally, we are implementing a proactive reporting system to
encourage workers to report any potential hazards before they result in
accidents. This helps us identify and address safety concerns at an early

stage, further reducing the risk of work-related injuries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

Managing Risks at Heights

As our work frequently involves tasks performed at heights, the Group has
implemented both short-term and long-term measures outlined in the
safety enhancement plan to mitigate the risk of work-related injuries from
falls. The following measures have been put in place:

Daily pre-work hazard identification activities and safety briefings are
conducted for all projects, including both public and private works.
This ensures that all workers are constantly reminded of site safety,
including safe working practices at height.

A top and senior management safety inspection program has
been established, which includes surprise site checks across both
private and public works sites. Findings from these inspections are
discussed during internal monthly meetings.

Workers who perform tasks at height are required to use double
lanyard safety harnesses, ensuring continuous anchorage of the fall-

arresting system throughout their work.

A “Hold-point” control system has been developed for pre-work site
safety assessments and inspections. Tailor-made control measures
for work-at-height activities are designed based on specific site
conditions, with proper documentation in place to ensure safety.

Managing Risks in Extreme Weather Conditions

Working outdoors in high temperatures, particularly during the summer
months, poses significant risks to workers. The Group has implemented
measures to adequately prepare for and protect our workers from heat-

related risks. These measures include:

Providing regular rest breaks and ample supplies of fluids for

workers.

Offering training on managing heat stress, adapting to hot
environments, and implementing control techniques.

Establishing a heat-stress warning system at worksites.

Conducting specific risk assessments by qualified personnel before

work commences.

During the past three years, number and rate of work-related fatalities were
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

We believe that open communication with frontline workers is key to
improving site safety management. Workers are encouraged to voice
concerns and suggestions, particularly regarding safety and health. We
require staff to report any potential occupational health and safety issues to
the Group.

The Group is committed to providing a safe and secure working
environment by continually improving safety measures. This includes
offering proper training, supplying necessary protective equipment, and
proactively managing risks. While the construction industry presents
challenges, such as hazardous environments and extreme weather, we
remain focused on reducing injuries and maintaining a workplace where
safety is a top priority.

During the Review Year, we have no non-compliance relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

Training and Development

The Group places a strong emphasis on enhancing employees’ professional
skills and fostering their development from the outset. All new employees
receive a staff handbook and participate in orientation sessions to familiarize
themselves with their job duties and the Group’s expectations, ensuring
they are well-prepared to contribute effectively. Beyond onboarding,
the Group actively supports continuous professional development by
encouraging employees with professional qualifications to enrol in external
training relevant to their roles. Additionally, internal training courses are
organized to keep employees up to date with market developments, and
discretionary training sponsorships are offered for courses related to their
job duties and career growth.

For safety-related site training, the Group adheres to the requirements of
the Construction Site Safety Manual of the Development Bureau of Hong
Kong. Each project prepares training plans, which include mandatory one-
hour induction sessions and 15-minute toolbox talks. In addition to safety
training, the induction sessions also cover environmental topics, such as the
Group's environmental policy, organizational structure, control measures

(e.g., air quality, noise impact), and internal safety rules and regulations.

The total number of hours allocated for the aforementioned training
(induction and toolbox talks) for site workers during the Review Year
was 565 (2023: 235 hours). Since attendance at these training sessions is
mandatory for all site workers, the breakdown of workforce training and
average training hours completed per employee specifically applies to
employees other than site workers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

23% (2023: 30%) of the total workforce received training during the Review EEFERN BEEMB (ZT_=F:
Year, with an average of 3.30 hours (2023: 5.16 hours) per employee. The 30%) ZEZEI - BUEEMNTFHEIIREAE
breakdown is as follows: 330/ (2R =4 1 5.16/\BF) o BRARMAT -
In 2024:
—EmEF:.
By gender hours % By employment category hours %
R B (=3 REMRER 5324
Male 3.85 90%  Senior level 5.60 50%
EeRid =E
Female 1.74 10%  Middle level 1.58 20%
pegid H
Entry level 3.60 30%
R
In 2023:
TEZ=fF:
By gender hours % By employment category hours %
gl 53 REMRER 534
Male 5.00 75%  Senior level 9.07 50%
Bt B
Female 3.92 25%  Middle level 330 33%
7 TE
Entry level 1.33 17%
MR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Operational Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group views suppliers and subcontractors as essential elements in our
daily operations, which is why we only work with approved and assessed
suppliers and subcontractors. We have established policies and procedures
to ensure proper selection and monitoring of these partners. For the Review
Year, the Group has 143 (2023: 123) approved suppliers, including both
subcontractors and material suppliers, all of whom are located in Hong
Kong to reduce transportation costs.

When sourcing new material suppliers or subcontractors, the Group follows
a fair and impartial selection process. All suppliers and subcontractors
are expected to adhere to the same standards. We conduct thorough
background research, considering factors such as pricing, location, delivery
method, product and service quality, service support, and the supplier's
track record regarding environmental and social responsibility. If any
instances of non-compliance or negative impacts on environmental or
social aspects are noted, we take corrective action and implement measures

to prevent the issue from recurring.

In cases where suppliers or subcontractors offer comparable packages, we
prioritize those with green products or relevant environmental and social
accreditations, in line with our selection criteria.

Suppliers and subcontractors are subject to continuous monitoring by the
Group. Material suppliers must provide product quality and specification
certificates to ensure their materials meet both our and our customers’
requirements. Other factors, such as delivery time, post-sales service, and
pricing, are also evaluated during regular supplier reviews.

Subcontractor performance is monitored daily by our project team and
site representatives, who conduct site visits to assess work quality and
ensure compliance with environmental and social standards, including
the prevention of forced or child labor. In addition to site visits, the
Group performs weekly environmental inspections, reviews attendance
at environmental meetings and training, and examines records of
environmental incidents. If any non-compliance with relevant requirements
is identified, subcontractors are required to immediately rectify unsafe
practices or conditions. Additionally, we require subcontractors to report

any instances of non-compliance as soon as they become aware of them.

Annual evaluations are performed to assess both suppliers and
subcontractors. Those who fail to meet the Group’s standards for
performance and quality may be replaced. To ensure compliance, we have
implemented a penalty system for environmental violations committed by
subcontractors. These breaches are categorized based on their severity, with
corresponding penalties. It is essential for our suppliers and subcontractors
to meet our standards, as severe breaches may result in the termination of
business relationships.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

Service pledge to our customers & F IR &

We believe that performing quality work in a safe environment is BMEE EX2NRRPETSEENT
fundamental to maintaining our corporate high-quality standards and ERB#RREMEESEERENRSEER,E
earning the trust of our customers. To ensure this, we have established R - AERE & BPEBEILISO
comprehensive work procedures accredited by 1SO 9001:2015, and our 0012015 RBH2ZHIIERTF KM L2
safety policies and procedures are accredited by 1SO 45001:2018. R A2 7 I E 2150 45001:2018 38 38 ©

In the course of performing construction and engineering work, only FERITREERIBIER  EFRAKEEFPR
materials that comply with customer specifications are used. Fach BEME - BEABEELGIER—ZEEEK -
project is assigned a dedicated team, including a project manager and PREEKERMERR BEEBEHBT
site representative, who are responsible for overseeing the groundwork, B BITEEREREE  UERSEREY
conducting reviews, and monitoring progress to ensure quality at every EEFABEPER IMREREEEIRT
stage in line with customer requirements. The site representative plays a EREREFMYBEARFNEET@EE
crucial role in monitoring the engineering work and maintaining immediate SE2EA - HEREEMEBE BENRE -
communication with customers and subcontractors. They address any PlanEE - £2  BRETXER - WEKE
project-related issues, such as quality, safety, environmental concerns, or Bk B 12 75 E R EREAY IE#5 i o

risks, and request team members to take corrective actions as needed.

Our dedicated project teams conduct regular site visits to ensure that work EEEABEKERETRSER  UBRI
progress, environmental standards, and safety conditions for workers and FHEE BREZERTIAMSBEANLTRIE
subcontractors meet the required criteria. Additionally, the quality of our HREFHERER « o BN IEEE—B
work is consistently certified by customer representatives. HEFRKRRBE -

To further ensure the effectiveness of our health and safety systems, the RE—TBEREMERRLEL D ZFOEE -

Group has established a corporate safety management committee to AEBEKIAAILEEEZEGUNEEYR
oversee safety standards. Monthly safety meetings are held to review 2EE -BZMEAEBRLZEEH  UEHEK
accident statistics, reporting procedures, updates on relevant regulations, FETEUE -  MERF  HEERETRL RS
and safety training data. The Group adheres to the highest health and NEE - AEERFRSNERRLEEE -

safety standards, conducting regular audits by external consultants to verify EHBRINPERETETAREBFSREBR

compliance. We also carry out regulatory safety audits as required by law. BMMIEEEERETEEL2EZ - &M
Our construction teams consistently follow health and safety guidelines WEEER -—EEERBAOTIIAOER
outlined in service contracts and certifications provided by professional kZ2iE5| - UREPEEMNEETIRMA
engineers engaged by our clients, reinforcing the Group’s commitment to RHUENORE BEAEEHARSEREER
maintaining the highest quality and safety standards. ZRIZEM G o

Given the nature of our construction and engineering business, recall HREMEERIREBHEREE 42 -

procedures for quality, safety, and health are not applicable. During the ZERBRENBEREFTER REEFE
Review Year, there were no complaints or claims from customers regarding A BEPUERAERNESBEAATI
the quality of work performed by the Group or its subcontractors, which ERNEERLKBRFAEE BREMEEE
demonstrates the effectiveness of our quality control measures. PRI o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Advertising and labelling

As a construction company, we do not engage in traditional advertising
methods. Instead, we showcase our capabilities through the quality
and performance of our work. Our reputation is built on the successful
completion of projects, which serve as a testament to our expertise and
reliability in the industry. Our website provides factual information about
our company, including corporate details, organizational structure, and the
services we offer. We focus on delivering transparent, accurate information
to potential clients, ensuring they can make informed decisions based
on our proven track record and commitment to excellence. In line with
this approach, the Group believes that product labelling is not applicable
to our business and, therefore, does not require the disclosure of related
information.

Protection of data privacy and intellectual property
rights

The Group is committed to maintaining the confidentiality of all personal
and sensitive business data. To ensure secure handling, such information is
stored in designated areas within our office, with access strictly limited to
authorized personnel. Clear guidelines have been established to reinforce
confidentiality, ensuring that only approved staff can access sensitive data.
Additionally, to prevent unauthorized access, confidential information
is used exclusively within office premises, and all documents containing
sensitive data are securely shredded before disposal or recycling.

Beyond data protection, the Group also upholds intellectual property
rights and ensures compliance with all relevant regulations. To prevent
infringement and maintain legal integrity, only licensed software is used in
our business operations. Employees are strictly prohibited from installing
pirated or personal software on company computers, reinforcing our

commitment to ethical and lawful business practices.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not aware of any
cases of non-compliance of the applicable laws and regulation on customer
health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to our
services provided in the Review Year.

Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly prohibits the acceptance of kickbacks, commissions,
or any other benefits, as well as any form of bribery, extortion, fraud, or
money laundering. Clear policies and procedures have been established to
reinforce this commitment, ensuring employees understand and uphold
professional and ethical standards. Additionally, our internal manuals
outline a gift policy that specifies the proper processes and procedures for
handling and accepting gifts and advantages. To further strengthen our
anti-corruption efforts, senior management participated in anti-corruption
training during the Review Year, reinforcing the importance of ethical
practices and continuous awareness.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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1.3

To the best of our knowledge, the Group did not experience any instances
of non-compliance related to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
during the Review Year. Furthermore, no legal cases concerning corrupt
practices were brought against the Group or its employees.

To promote integrity and transparency, the Group has established
whistleblower channels that enable employees, business partners, and other
stakeholders to report suspected misconduct, malpractice, or corruption
without fear of retaliation. These channels are designed to provide a safe
and accessible platform for individuals to raise concerns, ensuring that
ethical standards are upheld across all levels of the organization. Reports
submitted will be thoroughly investigated by a dedicated team with
strict confidentiality, and appropriate actions will be taken based on the
findings. Additionally, we continuously review and enhance our reporting
mechanisms to strengthen our corporate governance framework and

reinforce a culture of accountability and ethical business conduct.
Community Involvement

The Group is committed to giving back to society by supporting future
talent and fostering a culture of community engagement among
employees. This year, we reinforced our dedication to the geotechnical
industry through a recurring monetary donation to the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers (HKIE) Geotechnical Division, supporting its efforts
to advance the field and drive future development. While we encourage
our employees to participate in volunteer work and charitable initiatives
to assist those in need, our company remains focused on geotechnical
development in Hong Kong. By investing in education and industry growth,

we aim to nurture talent and contribute to the sector’s long-term progress.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Content Index BRiE HEREARRAZRI

The following table provides an overview on the general disclosures and key performance TEBMESETEZEHRETTREmMA —MRBEERBREN
indicators (“KPI") of various aspects under each subject area, which is cross-referenced to BE WHIIRE S RAEREHBEELRZEL -
the relevant sections of the ESG report.

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b LHRAMRCQHER SEEH (CE3
A. Environmental
ABRE
Aspect A1: Emissions  General Disclosure Information on: Our environmental policy,
EBEAT: HBY @ the policies; and Minimising impact of our
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer operations to the environment
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of and natural resources,
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Greenhouse gas (‘GHG")
emissions
—RIRE BITRFEIER  RLHML
BRERRRERBHN kRIS FEREEEENNELSN ’Fqﬂmﬁiﬁiﬁﬁéé’*éiﬁé’ﬂ%
(@ Eﬂ(” & 2 RTRBHK
(b) HETABEAYENRIERRANMER -
KPI AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. GHG emissions
BREN HRmEEREREREE - BERBHK
BEAL

KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, - GHG emissions
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

WREN HE(BE1) R4 f&ﬂﬁ‘x(%ﬂlﬁ BEREHNE (UEE) R (nER) BRERBHNR

BN HEWABESER  §EREHE) -

KPIAT.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity GHG emissions
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BREN FEEEEEEVMEECUEHE)R(MEREE (MASESEM §ER BERBHER

BIEAM3  HEHE) -

KPIA14  Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity GHG emissions
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BREN FESEZEEVAECEHE)R(NER)EE (MASESEM §HEZ RERRER

Bi2A4  HEEE) -

KPIATS Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. GHG emissions
BREN HAMAIVOERERRRSEINELE SRR TR BERBHR
EBALS

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description  Minimising impact of our
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. operations to the environment
and natural resources, GHG

emissions
WREYN HIRBESNEZERMNSE  REMPAEIAREBRR BAOBRFTERHREREA
EIRAL REIELBERMERNSR - BERNTE BERBHR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b EHRAKRC2HER 2EZEH (CE3
Aspect A2: Use of General Disclosure Use of Resources
Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
EBEA2: ERER  materials.
— AR &RFA
BRERER(BIEER  KREMERME) MEBR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas Use of Resources
or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREN RENBSNEER/SMEEER(WE  fh) @R UTETRENE) BRAA
BEA REE(MASEBEN  BEREHE) -
KPIA22 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). - Use of Resources
BREN BREKEREE (NABESEN  BEREHE) o BRFIA
EiRAL2
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Use of Resources
BRENR MAMAIVORRERANGEERAENELERAERMNTR - BRFA
A3
KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water ~ Use of Resources We encounter no issue
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. in sourcing water that
is fit for our purpose
BB HMCSKEERAOR EAT A EMEE - MR AR KEE B ERAEIEL RN HATHESREE AKIR
EiEA24 BEMERASR - 3 438 BE TR
2,
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with Use of Resources We do not generate
reference to per unit produced. significant packaging
material waste in our
operations.
BREN ERRAMBAEMHNEE UNEHE) R (NER) GEEEUKnE - &R APEEERETYL
ERALS BEAREDEM
FHEEEY) -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

- HEREGRE ()

Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules
LHRAMRCQNER

IR

Remarks

L

Reference Section

SEEH

Aspect A3: The
Environment and

Natural Resources

[EHEA3:
&R

BERAR

Aspect A4: Climate
Change

EHEA4:

B. Social

B.iE

RRE

General Disclosure
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources.
—RIBE

BEBETAHRERAAEREXERT BNBE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BREN HIEBRDURERRAERNEAY ERERNEREHZENTY -

ERA3

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and

those which may impact, the issuer.

—RIRE
BRI REHCER RGN ETAELZENEARFABEENNE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those

which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BREN HIELERITESUBTAEEYENEARRIEUSZE  REHTH -
AL

Employment and Labour Practices

EREREIRES
Aspect B1:
Employment

BEB1

CERE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—RIKEE
BERTFMRGE BERE  TERZ-
BRAEF

@ BE &

b)) BTEHBTAREATENEREERMAOIGER -

B TERE

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),

age group and geographical region.

BREN ZUH - EREE (MEBIFER)  FRARNKGRDNESEH
EEBLI

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
WREN RUER FRARKDEESHNESRALE -

1E1RB1.2

Zift - REGAREME

Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment
and natural resources

BLBMATEFEREREA
BRHFE

Minimising impact of our
operations to the environment

and natural resources
BAOBRFIERHREREA
BRNTE

Climate change

RIEE(L

Climate change

RIRE(

Employment and labour practices

Employment and labour practices

ERRETIER

Employment and labour practices

ERREIER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b EHRAIMECQHER 2EZEH (CE3
Aspect B2: Health and  General Disclosure Information on: Protecting staff health and safety

Safety (a) the policies; and

BEB2: REERZ

Aspect B3:
Development
and Training

BmEB3 : BRI

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

— R

FERREZ2THERARREEEREBELAEN:

(@) &% R

b  ETHETABEAYENRBEERAONER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

BREY BE=F(BREREE)SFRITHMHABRLE -

EEB21

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BREN RAIBBEAIEEH-
#E1%B22

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BREN HRARANBERRER2EE  UREBRITRERFE -

#E1%B23

General Disclosure
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

—RIBE
BHRAESRTIERENMBRRENRE  HEIED -

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

(e.g. senior management, middle management).
BREN ZRURIREERA(NRRERE +RERE)ASNZIIEEELL -
ERB3

KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BREN RUSIREEERES  BEREEZTMEIMNTHEE -
$51%832
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REBTHMRERZ2

Protecting staff health and safety

REETHRERZZ

Protecting staff health and safety
REEINRERZE

Protecting staff health and safety

REBTHRERLZ2

Training and Development

IR B R

Training and Development

Bl E R

Training and Development

EIRBE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks

b IHRAMECQHER 2EEH CE3

Aspect B4: Labour General Disclosure Information on: Employment and labour practices
Standards (a) the policies; and

BEB4: $TEE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—BEE EEREIER
BEBLETHEHSTH:
@) BR: R

b)  ETHBRTAREATENEBZERROINER -

KPIB4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced Employment and labour practices
labour.
WREN R AREN N EEAREE T REGST - ERRBTIER
HERB4I
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment and labour practices
BREN HAEEREREREEREBERAMRRE SR - EREREIER
1E1EB42
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5: Supply General Disclosure Supply Chain Management

Chain Management Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
EmEBs : fHEHEE —RER HEREE
ERHREENRAREBRBRBE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
BREN mtEISHHERHE - HIEEER
E1ZB5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the Supply Chain Management
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

MR HAEBRERAHERNEN mENTABEANHERSAE  URAERT #HEEEE

B1ZRS) RERFE-

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply ~ Supply Chain Management
chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREN HEEHEANHEESERSNRERMERAROESN UREBRRTRER HEEER

E1E853  AHEe

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and Supply Chain Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREN HAEREHERRREZARRERRRBNES  ARBHRTREREDE - HEEERE

1512854
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

IRiE - HEREGHRE (])

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks

b EHRAIMECQHER 2EZEH (CE3

Aspect B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: Service pledge to our customers,
Responsibility (@ the policies; and Advertising and labelling, and

EMB6 : EREE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

—BEE
BRFRAERABRENRRARS  BS  SERALBIENRBRF AN :
@) BR: R

b ETHBRTAREATENEBZERROINESR -

KPIB6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons.

BREN CEICEREREETEZZEBREAMARKNE DL -
FE1ZB6.1

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BREN BEBRERRREHRFEE ARELFE -

1E1%B6.2

KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

BREN HEEEERRENHREEEBOBI -

12863

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

BREN HIESRTARREREBKIER -

1E1RB64

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BREN HUHBEENRERLEBEE  AREBRTRERAE-

12865
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Protection of data privacy and
intellectual property rights

RPR%EGE  BERBEA
RREERILR R AMBERE

N/A Recalls for safety and
health reason is not
applicable to our
business.

FAR2EEFE M
TEE I I T E
RERFIRETR -

Service pledge to our customers

B P R

Protection of data privacy and Intellectual property

intellectual property rights rights are immaterial

to the Group.
RIEEMBALRAMBER REEER B R AE

EEMBERER

SEMENFEE -

Service pledge to our customers  Recall procedures are

not applicable among

the Group.
B P RBAGH ] I 72 Fr 3 A 3 A
rEE-

Protection of data privacy and
intellectual property rights

REAHBLRAZER



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE - HEREGHRSE ()

Description Requirements from Appendix C2 of Listing Rules Reference Section Remarks
b IHRAMECQHER SEZEH CE3
Aspect B7: General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption

Anticorruption

EHB7 : RES

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community

Investment

EEBS : HERE

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—BEE
BEWILERE - $R  KFFREEN
@) BR: R

b)  ETHBRTAREATENEBZERROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer

or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

BREY RESHAHBETAREERRIYCELNESHDRIOME RFDER -

EiEs

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are

implemented and monitored.
BREN HAPEEERERER  UREBRITRERTE -
1515872

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
BREm mimEZERE TRENRESE -
#E1%873

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests.

—REE
BRUMB2RRTREEMEHERENRREEZRZDEGZELBNEMEEK -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).
BREN TrERERE(NHE -
iR1Z B8]

RREH BTHK @F Xt #£7) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
BREN EZIHEBEMPAER(MEERERH) o
1E1%B8.2

N/A

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption
REF

Community Involvement

tEsR

Community Involvement

HE2HE

Community Involvement

itR2H

No concluded legal case
regarding corrupt
practices brought
against the issuer or
its employees during
the Review Year.

BEBRCEFEY
BOASHESR
HITEEENES

FRRN -
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Directors’ Report

EETHE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit 706-708, 7th Floor, Tower
Il, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the section
headed “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME" on page 93 in this annual report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on pages 171 to 172 in this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group expanded into the sales of luxury products in the fourth quarter of 2023. The
business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and discussion on
the Group's future business development are set out in the section headed “CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT” and “"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS" on page 4 and pages 5 to
13 respectively in this annual report. The description of key risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and financial risk management and fair value measurement are set out in this
Directors’ Report on pages 70 to 85 in this annual report and note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In conducting its business, the Group endeavours to protect the environment in which
it operates and the Board is committed to sustainable development as its responsibility.
The Group has implemented an environmental management plan and established quality
and environmental management systems and been certified under ISO 9001:2015 and 1SO
14001:2015 for its construction and engineering services. During the year, there was no
non-compliance in relation to environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong including
air pollution, noise control and waste disposal. Green office practices are also encouraged
in the operation of the Group's businesses, such as recycle used paper for printing, re-use
old envelopes for internal communication, prefer electronic to printed communication
and reduce energy consumption by setting the temperature at an eco- friendly level of
25° Cand by switching off idle lighting. The Group also targets to reduce water usage,
greenhouse gas and non-hazardous wastes in the long term. A detailed discussion on the
Group's environmental policies and performance and the stakeholder relationships are
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on page 35 to 69 of this

annual report.
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant event subsequent to the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHRE (@)

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December

2024 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are some principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, which may

materially and adversely affect its businesses, financial condition or results of operations in (i)

construction and engineering services; (i) property-related services; and (iii) sales of luxury

products.

(1)

(2)

Uncertain external factors

The Group's operation of the construction and engineering services, property-
related services and sales of luxury products are mainly located in Hong Kong.
Uncertain external factors including the downturn in the economy of Hong Kong
and public health issues such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may materially and
adversely affect the Group's businesses in construction and engineering services
and property-related services, results of operations and prospects. The Group
will continue to closely monitor the market situation and to consider appropriate
strategies to promptly respond to the risks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s business performance and financial condition.

Construction and engineering services — reliance on
the public sector contracts granted by the Government
departments and statutory bodies

The Government departments and statutory bodies have been and are expected
to continue to be the Group's largest customers in construction and engineering
services. During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue attributed to the
public sector projects represented approximately 62.0% (2023: approximately
87.5%) of the Group's total revenue. If there is any reduction or significant delay
in the spending of the Government departments and statutory bodies in the
construction and civil engineering industry, the Group’s business in construction
and engineering services, results of operations and financial positions may be
materially and adversely affected. In order to cope with the risk of relying on the
public sector contracts in the construction and engineering market, the Group will
continuously explore or seek other business opportunities that are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group so as to diversify the risks.
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(3)

(4)

Competitive tendering process and making of estimates

The construction and engineering business of the Group operates on a non-
recurring and project-by-project basis. We have no long-term commitments
with our customers but rely on successful tenders that determine the award of
construction contracts. The number of contracts awarded to the Group, therefore,
may vary from time to time. Upon completion of its contracts on hand, the Group’s
financial performance may adversely be affected if the Group is unable to secure
new tenders or obtain new contract with comparable contract sums or at all.
As such, to cope with the keen market competition, the Group has adopted a
competitive pricing strategy for tendering in order to maintain the competitiveness
of tenders which may further narrow the profit margin. The Group will assess and
adjust its business strategy from time to time to adapt to the market environment
in order to maintain the Group's competitiveness in the construction and
engineering market.

Further, in the tendering process, the Group determines a tender price by
estimating the construction costs under the contract duration as specified in the
tender invitation documents. However, the actual implementation of projects may
not accord with our estimation at the time of tender due to cost overruns and/
or subject to other related construction risks. If our estimates of the overall risks,
revenue or costs prove inaccurate, the Group will experience lower profitability
or even make losses on contracts, which could materially and adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Highly regulated industry — reliance on registrations,
licences and/or certifications

The construction and engineering industry is a highly regulated industry and
our business is subject to various government regulations. In accordance with
the regulations and contract requirements, the Group is required to obtain or
maintain certain registrations, licences and/or certification ("Licences”) to operate
its business. All such Licences are granted/renewed and maintained upon the
satisfactory compliance by the Group with, among others, the applicable criteria set
by the relevant government departments or organisations including Development
Bureau and Building Authority. Such criteria may include the maintenance of quality
standards, financial capability, expertise, management, environmental and safety.
Circumstances which may lead to taking of regulatory actions against a contractor
and/or subcontractor include but not limited to poor site safety record, violation
of laws and misconduct etc. These Licences may only be valid for a limited period
of time and are subject to periodic reviews and renewal by relevant government
departments and organisations. In addition, the standards of compliance required
in relation thereto may from time to time be subject to changes without substantial
advance notice. Failure to renew or maintain these Licenses and regulatory actions
such as suspension, downgrading or demotion of relevant construction and
engineering businesses operated by the Group, may have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects unless we have
similar Licences within the Group.

(3)

(4)

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHRE (@)

(5) Property-related services — management’s estimates

The Group's property management consultancy services are charged on a fixed
fee basis, it is important to accurately estimate the cost in preparing fee quotation/
proposal to customers and to make sure the fixed fee covers all the costs to
be incurred for the provision of such services. If the Group fails to estimate the
potential increase in costs accurately, it may experience lower profitability or even
make losses, which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

(6) Sales of luxury products — macroeconomic environment

Macroeconomic changes may affect consumers’ behavior. Luxury products are
considered as discretionary items for customers. Slower consumer spending
momentum may reduce the demand for our products, leading to lower revenue
and margins. It is therefore important that the Group is aware of any such changes
in the economic environment and adjusts its purchase strategy and business plan
under different market conditions.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company's total issued share capital as at 31 December 2024 was HK$16,800,000
divided into 1,680,000,000 Shares with par value of HK$0.01 per Share.

Detailed movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Detailed movements of the Group's reserves during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the section headed "CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY” on
page 95 in this annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has reserves amounted to approximately HK$9.7

million available for distribution to shareholders (31 December 2023: approximately

HKS$87.3 million).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and regulations that would

have a significant impact on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this annual report are:
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zhi (Chairman)
Mr. Qiu Weiren (Resigned on 15 April 2025)
Mr. Wei Weizhan (Appointed on 15 April 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo
Mr. Shen Zejing
Ms. Yip Wai Ching

In accordance with Article 108(a) and 112 of the Articles, Mr. Chen Zhi, Mr. Wei Weizhan
and Ms. Yip Wai Ching will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election as Directors at the Company's forthcoming AGM.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from the date of the appointment, and shall continue
year to year unless terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year commencing from the date of the appointment
and thereafter shall continue year to year, unless terminated by not less than one month’s

notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, including those proposed to be re-
elected at the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Group are set out in
the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT"

on pages 14 to 16 in this annual report.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of the associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO")) which have been
(i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including any interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) which, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
have been entered in the register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant to the Model Code
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for
Directors’ securities transaction, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest
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RERGHPERNER

No. of Shares held/ Approximate percentage

interested in of shareholding

BE/BAEER
ESHE B Rty RS & B REBSNEIL
Mr. Chen Zhi \merests in a controlled corporation (note) 920,480,000 54.79%
PR B (A7)
Note: B3

920,480,000 Shares are held by Star Merit Global Limited (“Star Merit"), representing
approximately 54.79% of the entire issued share capital of the Company. Star Merit is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Zhi. Therefore, Mr. Chen Zhi is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Star Merit by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (jii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model
Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the following entity (other
than Director and chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed to have, interests
or short positions (directly or indirectly) in shares or underlying shares or debentures which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest
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RERGHPERNER

No. of Shares held/ Approximate percentage

interested in of shareholding

BE EEER
BRREE B Rty W7 E A RESNBEILL
Star Merit Beneficial owner 920,480,000 54.79%
EE EnlEBA

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024,
the Directors were not aware of any other entity which or person other than a Director and
the chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the shares or the underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would
be required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in this annual
report, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party and connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
“CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interests, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party and connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the section headed
“CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which the
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the continuing connected transactions of the
Group which were subject to annual reporting under rule 14A.49 of the Listing Rules were

as follows:

On 27 December 2019, Nova Management Services Limited (‘Nova”) (as the consultant),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a property leasing
and management consultancy agreement (the “Property Management Consultancy
Agreement’) with Cheer Capital Limited (“Cheer Capital’) (as the property owner), in
relation to the provision of property management consultancy services for a commercial
property in Hong Kong owned by Cheer Capital (the “Property”) for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On the same date, Nova (as the agent) also entered into a property leasing agency
agreement (the “Leasing Agency Agreement’) with Cheer Capital (as the property
owner) in relation to the provision of property leasing agency services in relation to the
Property for prospective tenants referred by Cheer Capital or existing tenants of the
Property (collectively the “Agency Tenant(s)"). Such services include handling enquiries
and introductions, negotiation on leasing terms and conditions, site visit(s) arrangement
and preparation and execution of formal agreement(s) with the Agency Tenants, for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 28 December 2022, the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the
Leasing Agency Agreement were renewed for a term of three years from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025 and to set the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the
Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the Leasing Agency Agreement

remain unchanged.

Through the engagements of the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and the
Leasing Agency Agreement which are of a recurring nature, it enables a more diversified

revenue base and stable cash inflow for the Group.

Cheer Capital is a company indirectly and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi, the chairman
of the Board and an executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.
As such, Cheer Capital is a connected person of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and Leasing
Agency Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions (collectively, the
"Continuing Connected Transactions”). Detailed terms of the Property Management
Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 December 2019 and 28 December 2022.
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It was expected that the aggregated annual caps pursuant to the Property Management
Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement shall be HK$6,497,000,
HK$5,380,000 and HK$5,517,000 for each of the three years ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 respectively. The income received for services provided by Nova pursuant
to the Property Management Consultancy Agreement and Leasing Agency Agreement
aggregately amounted to approximately HK$5,045,000 which is within the aggregated
annual cap of HK$5,380,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. Details of the
transactions are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and confirmed
that the above Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements
governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor has reported to the Board and confirmed that for the year ended
31 December 2024 (i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved by the Board; (ii)
for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (iv) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements have exceeded the annual cap as disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 28 December 2022.

Details of other connected transactions/continuing connected transactions exempt from
annual reporting requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related party
transactions are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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COMPETING INTERESTS

Based on the confirmations received from each of the Directors, none of the Directors,
controlling shareholder of the Company nor their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had interests in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the Group's businesses during the year ended 31 December
2024, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising
from corporate activities. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024 and at the time of approval of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain
through their own fraud or dishonesty.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 21 September 2017 (the “Share
Option Scheme”) and effective for a period of ten years to 20 September 2027. It is a share
incentive scheme established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the
eligible participants have or may have made to the Group. Pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to any director, employee
(full-time and part-time), advisor, consultant, supplier, customer, distributor, contractor,
agent, business partner or service providers of the Group and to promote the success of
the business of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with the provisions
in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 140,000,000 Shares, being 10% of
the 1,400,000,000 Shares of the Company in issue as at 12 October 2017, being the date
the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange. The Company may issue a circular to the
Shareholders and seek approval from the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
the 10% limit such that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the
approval from the Shareholders.
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The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible participants in any 12 months
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
grant, any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval

of Shareholders in a general meeting.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a trading date; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (i) the nominal value of a Share.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the period to be determined and notified by the Board to the
participant at the time of making an offer for the grant of share option.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme, and
all other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 140,000,000 Shares,
representing 8.33% of the total number of Shares as at the date of this annual report.

No share options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme since 21 September
2017. An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible participants
within a period of twenty-one days from the date of offer of grant of share option. The
consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance and grant of each share option is
HK$1.00, which has to be paid within twenty-one days.

There were no options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: nil) and
no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2024. As at 1 January 2024, the number of share options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme was 140,000,000 share options. As at 31 December
2024, there were 140,000,000 share options available for grant thereunder. There was no
service provider sublimit set under the Share Option Scheme. For further details of the
Share Option Scheme, please refer to the paragraph headed "D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the prospectus of the Company dated 28 September 2017

DONATIONS

The Group's charitable donations during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$30,000 (2023: approximately HK$30,000).

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report in relation to the Share Option Scheme, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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EFEHRE (@)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of the Group’s total revenue
attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 48.3% and 80.5% (2023: approximately 51.6% and 76.6%)
respectively. The percentage of the Group's total purchases from the Group's largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 26.3% and
78.1% (2023: approximately 38.7% and 51.0%) respectively for the year ended 31 December
2024.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors nor their close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), nor any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Employees

The Group has maintained good relationship with employees. In addition, the Group
offers employees competitive salaries, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the
Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position
and seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the performance
of employees, which forms the basis of the decisions with respect to salary increments,
bonuses and promotions.

Customers

The Group has established stable business relationship with major customers in
construction and engineering services who are mostly Government departments including
Civil Engineering and Development Department of the Government, Water Supplies
Department and Highways Department. Among the five largest customers (in terms
of revenue) during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has been providing
services to most of them for a period ranging from three to twenty-three years. The Group
will therefore endeavour to accommodate their demands for the Group's services to the
extent that the Group's resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger
scale projects in the future. The Group's experience as a quality contractor in construction
and engineering industry provides the Group's customers certain business advantages to

ensure that their projects are executed in accordance with quality standards.
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Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group maintains an internal list of approved suppliers in its construction and
engineering services. The Group carefully evaluates the performance of suppliers and
select them based on a number of factors such as their prices, quality, past performances
and timeliness of delivery. The Group will review and update the internal list of approved
suppliers according to assessment of their performances on an ongoing basis.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved subcontractors in its construction and
engineering services. The Group carefully evaluates the performance of subcontractors and
select subcontractors based on a number of factors such as their background, technical
capability, experience, fee quotations, service quality, track records, labour resources,
timeliness of delivery, reputation and safety performance. The Group will review and
update the internal list of approved subcontractors according to assessment of their
performances on an ongoing basis.

Subject to the Group's capacity, resources level, cost effectiveness, complexity of the
projects and customers’ requirements, the Group may subcontract civil engineering
works such as geotechnical works, drainage works, earthworks, concreting, formwork
erection, fixing steel bar and landscaping to other subcontractors in a project. The Group is

accountable to customers for the works subcontracted to the Group's subcontractors.

The Directors consider that the long-term business relationships with major customers,
suppliers and subcontractors would further enhance the Group’s market recognition and
enable the Group to attract more potential business opportunities.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and Nation Social Security
Fund Scheme (the “SSF Scheme”) under the Nation Social Security Law of Cambodia for
our employees in Hong Kong and Cambodia respectively.

The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest fully and
immediately with the employees once the contributions to the plan are made. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contributions were available for utilisation
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. Under the SSF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are required to make contributions to the plan at 4% of the
employee’s relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of KHR 1.2 million
(approximately HK$2,340). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other
pension schemes during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFERE (&)

HEEKRSEH

REEBTF - DRERTRREOBAIHEFOALLE -
AEEREZERFZFEFEHEHORE REURHER
DIINEER BEX BEXRREINER - AEEREHR
ERMRRA G FEBRT RERR A HERANLE -

AEBBF - NEERTERBHNRZATDBENANHE -
FAEERBEZERREEFESBENRARIES €/
PINEE R - Jige &% BERRE REER 48
E BTAR INUERHE BERR2XRR - ARESR
BOBEENRARNE  HERNLENRUSEEAREE -

REASENARE  BRKTE KAME EAEEMM
REPHENR  AEEAHAEREMNEIATE(MMELRK
fIiE RBIRE £HIR ERLIER BURK %
EMPB RS DBTFEMDBEH - AEERS B TAEH
DBEANIRHEF,EE -

BEERR BMEXTERF HEBLOEBNRAED
MENE-TRAAKENTSANEEL ESAEERS
FEREXGRE -

RKEHE

AEBREBETERGERABESA BRI R RIGEERTE
REZEDBIREMREERFIBHENEEIRHBHIERE
TrtE ((RREHE) MEREEREESHE (HER
EESTHD -

BHEESENARBYIEATENTHEHEIERTE -
REREESHE  EEREEESAREERBRANS
MR ER - FIR AT ABBKRA30000ETT - FEY
STEMERHZ . IASIER SN 2HREBENES - R =
E-MER-_E-_=F+-"A=+—H0 " WERUMERT
BAEEFEAUBREREERIKT - RELSREE S
2 BEXREEBAETRBESHEBURAN%RTEEL
H - ERAS A EBEIKA,2000005H 8 (423408 7T) ©
BREXFEN RBEE-_ZT_mWE+-_A=+—RHI&
B AEEVESHETMEMRARSHE -

BUSERIRARAT] / 2024 F

383



84

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EFEHRE (&)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained a
sufficient level of public float for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the

year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities was made by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders and investors of the Company’s
shares are recommended to consult their professional advisers if they are in any doubt as
to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding,
disposing of or dealing in shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company or its Directors
or officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of
Shares in the Company resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal of

or dealing in such shares.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the section headed “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT" on pages 17 to 34 in this annual

report.
DIVIDEND POLICY

Information on the dividend policy adopted by the Company are set out in the section
headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” on page 20 in this annual report.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed, together with the management and external auditor,
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by Grant Thornton, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. A resolution for the
re- appointment of Grant Thornton as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM. There is no change in auditor of the Company since the date of the
Listing.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Zhi

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR RS

o GrantThornton
2 [5]

To the members of Geotech Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Geotech Holdings Ltd. (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 170,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIEHMERE (8)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most

significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

Refer to the summary of material accounting policies in Note 2.14, Note 4a and Note 5 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised revenue and costs
from construction contracts amounted
to approximately HK$61,129,000 and
HK$60,529,000 respectively for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Group's revenue and costs of construction
contracts are recognised based on
output method by reference to the direct
measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised under the
contract. The value of the services transferred
to customer to date is measured according to
the progress certificate (by reference to the
construction works certified by the customers
or their agents). When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are
likely to be recoverable.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the
accounting of construction contracts

included the following:

Understood the basis of estimation
of the budgets through discussion
with the management who is
responsible for the budgeting of
the construction contracts, and
evaluated the reasonableness of the
estimated profit margins by taking
into account of the profit margins

of historical similar projects;

Inspected the key terms and
conditions of construction contracts
and verify the total contract

revenue;

Assessed and checked, on a sample
basis, the accuracy of the budgeted
construction revenue by agreeing
to contract sum or variation orders
as set out in the construction
contracts or the agreements

entered with customers;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZMERE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

How our audit addressed the Key
Key Audit Matter Audit Matter
These transactions require the management'’s Selected, on a sample basis, the
estimation and judgement of the contract construction contracts to examine
revenue, direct cost and variation works project manager's budget of the
(if any) which may have an impact on the cost components to actual cost
construction contract and corresponding incurred, such as cost of materials,
profit margin incurred, we therefore identified subcontracting charges and labour
such as a key audit matter. costs, etc. We compared the
budgeted construction costs to
supporting documents including
but not limited to invoices,
quotations and rate of labour costs,

etc,; and

Evaluated the management’s
assessment on the revenue
recognised of the construction
contracts, on a sample basis, based
on the latest progress certificates
issued by the customers or their
agents, including the certified
contract work and variation
orders, if any, and discussed with
management and the respective
project managers about the
progress of the projects and cost
incurred for work performed but
not certified.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Expected credit losses (“ECL") assessment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

BIZMERE (8)

REFETEE(EH)

ESRAMBERREURGNEEZRBRE
BEERT MG

Refer to the summary of material accounting policies in Note 2.7, Note 4b, Note 17 and

Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's carrying
amount of trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayment) and contract assets
amounted to approximately HK$48,770,000
(net of impairment under ECL allowance
of HK$10,305,000) and HK$6,832,000 (net
of impairment under ECL allowance of
HK$6,000) respectively, accounted for
approximately 29.5% of the Group's total

assets in aggregate.

The ECL assessment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets involved
significant management’s judgement and use
of estimates to ascertain the recoverability.

Management performed credit evaluations
for the Group's customers and assessed
ECL. These evaluations focused on the past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

We have identified the ECL assessment of
trade and other receivables and contract
assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the assessment involves
significant management’s judgement and

use of estimates in evaluation of ECL.

How our audit addressed the Key
Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL
assessment of trade and other receivables
and contract assets included the following:

Understood, evaluated and
validated the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls
over impairment assessment of
trade and other receivables and
contract assets. Those controls
related to the identification of
events that triggered the provision
for impairment of receivables
from construction contracts and
estimation of the impairment
provisions;

Obtained management'’s
assessment on the collectability of
individual significant customers,
and corroborated management'’s
assessment against relevant
supporting evidence, including
credit history and financial
capability of these customers;

Assessed the reasonableness of
management’s ECL allowance
estimates by examining the
information used by management
to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy
of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-
looking information; and

Involved the valuation specialist
to review the management’s

estimation on ECL.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZMERE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
all the information in the 2024 annual report of the Company, but does not include the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIEHMERE (8)

BB ETRE
£ (&)

ERIREBEEBEFERETESFEST R BENEEARE
FHBRRPEREXAE  RSEFRRERE - BET

MB/RRAEXKENE

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the consolidated financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for

our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned EEHERLZEQEBEN A EEERNBAURERR
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant FIERE  HheEESEES P HA M A 6 bl &9 F [

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIZMERE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

24 March 2025

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEmRkAMEENRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 3 FHExT FHAT
Revenue L& 5 80,501 134,567
Direct costs HERA (75,113) (130,989)
Gross profit EF 5,388 3,578
Other income H A 6 3,645 4,872
Administrative expenses TERAX (24,513) (25,047)
Reversal of impairment under expected credit loss ("ECL") B o REMBEWHIE L BHEEEE
allowance on trade and other receivables, net BERERRFE 8 8
Reversal of impairment under ECL allowance EREEZAREEFEREBERERD
on contract assets 13 275
Finance costs B 75 B K 7 (67) (35)
Loss before income tax BRAT SR AIE R 8 (15,526) (16,349)
Income tax expense TS fiF X 9 (285) (17)
Loss for the year FREE (15,811) (16,366)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax Hib2mEUWE  BRELE
Items that will not be reclassified HEBTEENIEE
subsequently to profit or loss B#EZEE
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BRATFEFARMEZEMASZ 2
through other comprehensive expense SREEATERE 49 72
Remeasurement of long service payment (‘LSP") obligations EHetERERB S ET 303 -
Total comprehensive expense for the year ARARERBEABGERAZE
attributable to equity holders of the Company BB (15,459) (16,294)
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Loss per share attributable to equity AR ERBEEAEBLERER
holders of the Company
Basic and diluted EANEE i (0.94) 097)
The notes on pages 97 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial BREITE 170NN FBKRZSGEMBTRRN—FD
statermnents.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2024
RZZ-_NME+=RA=+—H

2024 2023
—EC-NE B =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M FHERT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERER
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE R 13 3,445 5411
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEMEEHKE 2
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI’) TREE 15 - 1,072
Finance lease receivables B E & EUGRIA 16 - 206
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 22 - 266
3,445 6,955
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 M HE bW R IE 17 56,438 54,040
Contract assets AHEE 18 6,832 12,979
Finance lease receivables Bh A 0 & R YR IR 16 206 261
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITEE 19 121,407 137,239
184,883 204,519
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 RE M ERFRIE 20 24,180 27,841
Lease liabilities HEAaE 21 675 729
Tax payable FEIBIIE 71 110
Contract liabilities aRaf 18 1,190 4,382
26,116 33,062
Net current assets RBEEFE 158,767 171,457
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBAR 162,212 178412
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 - 655
Long service payment obligations RERBSEE 23 741 827
741 1,482
Net assets EEFE 161,471 176,930
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAER A
Share capital (N 24 16,800 16,800
Reserves Gl 25 144,671 160,130
Total equity EREE 161,471 176,930
Mr. Chen Zhi Mr. Chan Tsang Mo
Director Director
EF Ed

HNFE 7 2170 A B ZELR A MBHRERN —&7 -

The notes on pages 97 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEERZIHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

Financial
assets
Share Share Capital fair value
capital premium* reserve* reserve* Accumulated
(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) loss* Total
tHEE
BA  ROEE* EXEEr DFERE*
(£ 24) (MfaE25) (M aE25) (MfaF25)  RitEE:* ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZBEZ=F-A—-AZ&EH 16,800 167,66 10011 (121) (732) 193224
Loss for the year FANEE - - - - (16,366) (16,366)
Other comprehensive expenses, netof tax.  H i 2HEH Y « BrF4 ¢
Items that will not be classified RGBT EEBEm B
subsequently to profit or loss
— Fair value loss on financial assets at —RATEG AL MEEKER
FVOC| ZEREEZATERBRE - - - 72 - 7
Total comprehensive income/ FEREEKS/(FAX)BE
(expenses) for the year - - - 72 (16,366) (16,294)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+-A=+—-H
1 January 2024 RZZ-mFE-A—-Rz&# 16,800 167,266 10,011 (49) (17,098) 176,930
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (15,811) (15,811)
Other comprehensive income, netof tax: - 2 E i as + BRE{E -
Items that will not be classified RGBT EEEm A
subsequently to profit or loss
— Fair value loss on financial assets at —RAFEG AL MEEKE
FVOC| ZEREEZATERA - - - 49 - 49
— Remeasurement of LSP obligations —ENEREREEER - - - - 303 303
Total comprehensive expenses for the year A2 H 7 % 458 - - - 49 (15,508) (15,459)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+=ZA=+—H
e 16,800 167,266 10,011 - (32,606) 161,471

i HEFEEEEALEER_Z-_NFE+-_A=1+—H%
AR KR A 1446710008 T (B - =4 :
160,130,000 7T ) °

The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$144,671,000 (2023:
HK$160,130,000) as at 31 December 2024 in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

HNFE 7 E 170 ARMEBRZEHA P HRERN—EHD

The notes on pages 97 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A Ne - — 1
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash flow from operating activities RELEIBNRESRE
Loss before income tax WRPT1SBi Al s 18 (15,526) (16,349)
Adjustments for: EE
Depreciation e 1,937 458
Finance costs B T B AR 67 35
Reversal of impairment under ECL allowance on B o5 RAEMBWHIE BEEERIBRE
trade and other receivables, net BB E (8) 8)
Reversal of impairment under ECL allowance on contract assets ENEEzEREEHBRERERR (13) (275)
Impairment of items of property, plant and equipment W - WE MEERE 642 -
Interest income F B U A (2,290) (2,490)
(Gain)/Loss on write-off/disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ #it84,HH &M% - BE & & (W), EE (3) 2
Long service payment obligations: expenses recognised REBRBESEMT - RNEEHERMAX
in profit or loss 197 224
Operating loss before working capital changes LEBESEIH 2L LERIE (14,997) (18,403)
Increase in trade and other receivables and B 5 R E M EWFIE R
financial lease receivables b A E e Uk FR I S N (2,129) (7,034)
Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets EHEBERLY, (&) 6,160 (1,690)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 Kk E b EMRER D (3,661) (2,533)
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities AHBECERD), (3,192) 2,832
Cash used in operations KEmBARE (17,819) (26,828)
Interest paid BEARFLE (47) (13)
Income tax paid BRFTSH (58) (387)
Net cash used in operating activities TR £ F R (17,924) (27,228)
Cash flow from investing activities REREGIBNRESRE
Interest received B U F 8 2,290 2,490
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERRHE (613) (4,654)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BRERREMERIE 3 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVOCI HERATFEFAHEMEZEKE
CREEZPMERE 1,121 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities REZBESL(BTH) HLFE 2,801 (2,164)
Cash flow from financing activities REMEZTHNRSR
Payment of lease liabilities XNEEEE (709) (577)
Cash used in financing activity BETEARE L (709) (577)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BekReZEEWMR D FE (15,832) (29,969)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year FNRERBFSEEY 137,239 167,208
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year represented FRAGRESESEN(NBRESRBITER)
by cash and bank balances (Note 19) (FF7E19) 121,407 137,239

The notes on pages 97 to 170 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Geotech Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands, and its principal place of business is Unit 706-708,
7th Floor, Tower Il, Metroplaza, 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in provision of construction and
engineering services, property-related services and sales of luxury products.

The Company's immediate and ultimate holding company is Star Merit Global
Limited (“Star Merit’), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") and wholly owned by Mr. Chen Zhi ("Mr. Chen"). The ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Chen.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
"Consolidated Financial Statements’) were approved for issue by the board of
directors (the "Directors”) of the Company on 24 March 2025.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRS accounting
standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations (‘"HKFRS
Accounting Standards”) and the accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented in the
consolidated financial statements. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards and the impacts on the Group's consolidated
financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

FEMBERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

2,

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") which are stated at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$"), which is the functional currency of the Company, and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousands ("HK$’000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used
in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment
of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power over the entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by
the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on sales of intra-
group asset are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also
tested for impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in
the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.2

23

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are carried
at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or
included in a disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable costs of

investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are
recognised in the Company's profit or loss.

Joint operations

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement between the Group and
other parties, where they have contractually agreed to share joint control,
which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint arrangement is

either a joint operation or a joint venture.

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Group recognises its
interest in the joint operation by combining the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest with similar items on a line by line
basis. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. The Group recognises its interest in the
joint operation from the date that joint control commences until the date
on which the Group ceases to have joint control over the joint operation.
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint operations are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the joint operation, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss. When the Group ceases to have joint control
over the joint operation, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the joint operation, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

24

25

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated group entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of

that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use assets
(as described in Note 2.11)) are initially recognised at acquisition cost,
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. They are subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values, if any over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 30%
Motor vehicles 209% to 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Leasehold improvement 33'/3% to 50%
Computer and software 20% to 30%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set out in Note
211,

Estimates of the assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful

lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

25

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset

and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in

which they are incurred.
Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and
substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables and retention receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"),
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories:

— amortised cost;
— FVTPL; or

7 FVOCI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(continued)

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in
profit or loss are presented within finance costs or other income, except for
expected credit losses ("ECL") of trade and other receivable and contract
asset which is presented as a separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the

following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in other income in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and bank balances,
finance lease receivables and trade and other receivables fall into this

category of financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEBE(E)
(continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued) 26 €RIA(E)

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment, the Group elects to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in “financial assets fair value
reserve” in equity. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity

from the issuer's perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss in “financial assets fair value reserve” will not be
reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity investments, and will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include lease liabilities and trade and other
payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument
and are initially measured at fair value and where applicable, adjusted for

transaction costs.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All interest related
charges are recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see Note 2.16).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in profit

orloss.

Accounting policy for lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.11.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking information
to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments within the scope included
trade receivables, retention receivables, contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15 and other financial assets measured at amortised
cost.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing
credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability
of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit risk
("Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit
quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of

impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL"
are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables, finance lease receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the
financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and

the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables, finance lease receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables measured
at amortised cost on an individual basis for significant balance and equal
to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood of risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on the
financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default

swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial, economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

28

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held
by the Group).

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables, retention
receivables, contract asset, finance lease receivables and other financial

assets at amortised cost are set out in Note 31.4.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and the
Company'’s interests in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing. They
are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset's

carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are

tested at cash-generating unit level.

Impairment loss recognised for cash-generating units is charged pro rata
to the assets in the cash generating unit, except that the carrying amount
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of
disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or

amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

29

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see
Note 2.14) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.7 and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue (see Note 2.14). A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value.

2.11 Leases

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract
is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract, or part of
a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration”.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

— the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Group;
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

T the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct 'how and for what purpose’

the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices for
certain classes of assets if the non-lease components were material.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date
(net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the
end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset
(except for those meeting the definition of investment properties)

for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-

use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of twelve month

or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in “property, plant and equipment’, the
same line as it presents the underlying assets of the same nature

that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(b)

The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. The sub-leases
are classified as a finance or operating lease with reference to the
right- of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to
the underlying asset. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the short-term lease exemption, then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The Group sub-leases some of its premises and the sub-lease
contracts are classified as finance lease.

Assets leased out under operating leases as the
lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are measured and
presented according to the nature of the assets. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss

as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEBE(E)
(continued)

212 BE  BAREBEBERRAREE

2.12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract under which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. Provisions
for onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling the
contract (which includes both incremental costs and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract).

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using
the nominal value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs
associated with the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity

transaction are deducted from the share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEAESHBEME(E)
(continued)
2.14 Revenue recognition 214 WA

114

Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the construction services and
sales income.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step

process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer;

2. |dentifying the performance obligations;

3. Determining the transaction price;

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are
satisfied.

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the
various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected
on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as)
the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised

goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over time as the
Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls which referred as the designated areas where the construction
work services performed. The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on output method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control of services. The value of the
services transferred to customer to date is measured according to the
progress certificate (by reference to the construction works certified by the
customers or their agents).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEBE(E)
(continued)

2.14 WEEHER (E)

2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to exceed
the remaining amount of the consideration under the contract, a provision
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”.

The Group generally provides warranties for repairs to any construction
defects and does not provide extended warranties in its construction
contract with customers. As such, most existing warranties are considered
as assurance-type warranties under HKFRS 15, which are accounted for
under HKAS 37. Retention receivables are reclassified to trade receivables
when the retention period expires.

Sales income

Revenue from the sales of watches for a fixed fee is recognised when or as
the Company transfers control of the assets to the customer. Invoices for

goods transferred are due upon receipt by the customer.
Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of impairment under ECL allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Accounting policies for rental income are set out in Note 2.11.

Property management consultancy service income
The performance obligation to provide the property management

consultancy service income are satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised
over time on time proportion basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.15 Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans. In addition, the employees employed under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled to long service payment
("LSP") if the eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

(a)  Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of
its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’

basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's obligations
under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.

There were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf
of its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited
contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, no forfeited contributions were available for

utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

(b)

Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that an employee will receive
on cessation of employment in certain circumstances is defined by
reference to the employee’s length of service and corresponding
salary. The legal obligations for any benefits remains with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of the LSP obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually. This is based
on the discount rate, the salary growth rate and turnover rate.
Discount factors are determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to high quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid
and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related
defined benefit liability.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

service cost (including current and past service cost, and

gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

net interest expense or income; and
remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group's defined benefit plan is included in
employee benefits expense. Employee contributions, all of which
are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as a

reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is included

in employee benefits expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of the net defined
benefit liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses, are included
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

(b) Defined benéefit plans (continued)
Short-term employee benetfits
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other

borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.17 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to,
or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting
period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated according
to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or

loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEBE(E)
(continued)

217 iSRS EE (H)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to the lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, or
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate to items
that are charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using the average tax rates that
are expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

2,

120

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an estimation of (i)
when the existing temporary differences will reverse and (ii) the amount
of future taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit
includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and

— reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and only
if,

(@ the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised

amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in net if,
and only if,

(@ the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets

against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(if) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or

assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEBE(E)
(continued)
2.18 Segment reporting 2,18 DB E

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported to
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM") for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business components
in the internal financial information reported to the executive directors,
being the CODM are determined following the Group’s major services lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

(@) Construction and engineering services;

(b) Property-related services; and

(© Sales of luxury products.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of the
service lines requires different resources as well as marketing approaches.
All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm'’s length prices.

The measurement policies that the Group used for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 "Operating Segments” are the same as those used
in its financial statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting Standards,
except that the following items are not included in arriving at the operating

results of the operating segment:

— income tax; and

— corporate income and expenses which are not directly attributable
to the business activities of any operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but financial assets at FVOCI and corporate
assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment and are not allocated to a segment, and which primarily
applies to the Group's headquarters.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating segment and are not
allocated to a segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE T WA= e

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(continued)

2.19 Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

() the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of a parent of the Group.
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third

party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(viiy  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who

may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their
dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS 3. RMMIINKEBITEBMBREE
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BEst %A

3.1 Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that 3 RA-E-_NE-—A—-HHBEBEE

are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 HEERZRBIERMBERE

January 2024 ERIEFER

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following RAFE  REBEREMATHESS ;HrEﬂi

amended HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA, which NERM ST BB BRELEN S

are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the Group's Bl - B AEBEERR T NF — ﬂ —

consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 A A 2 F 1 BR A MRS M SRR B -

January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback BEEMBHRELENE 6% ERENPHHEEESE

(BFTAR)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BREGTENE R HEEAERREK
Non-current and related amendments (B&TA) FnBLEERE
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 55 (ZF2THF)

Z BB RT AR

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BAGHENE 1R MEZEZIFERDEE

ﬂ’lfﬂ$)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements BEREHENEIRR HERRELH

HKFRS 7 E%EM‘%#&%%EU
E 7% (BTA)

Except for those mentioned below, the adoption of the amended HKFRS BRTXFatEN  RNEETEAVBRE

Accounting Standards had no material impact on how the results and ERGHERHAABARBTHB EZER

financial position for the current and prior periods have been prepared and BBERRAZBEREIN AT EERTE -

presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHEC

L= Pl il R

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

3.2

124

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards have been
published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the

Group.
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Contacts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 117
Amendments to Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements —
Interpretation 5 Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in
the Group's accounting policy for the first period beginning on or after the
effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new and amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are expected to have impact on the
Group's accounting policies is provided below. The directors are in the
process of making an assessment of the impact of other new and amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards but not yet in the position to ascertain their
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. It carries
forward many of the existing requirements in HKAS 1, with limited changes,
and some HKAS 1 requirements will be moved to HKAS 8 "Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial

Instruments: Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition and measurement of financial
statements items but the presentation of them. It introduces three major
new requirements, including:

reporting newly defined subtotals (namely “operating profits” and
"profits before financing and income tax”), and classifying items

wony

into five newly defined categories (namely “operating”, “investing”,

"owy

“financing”, “income tax” and “discontinued operation”), depending
on the reporting entity’s main business activities, in the statement of

profit or loss;

Disclosure of management-defined performance measures

("MPMs") in a single note to the financial statements; and

enhanced guidance of aggregation and disaggregation of
information in the financial statements.

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to HKAS 7 “Statement
of Cash Flows”, which includes:

using “operating profit or loss” as the starting point for indirect
method for the presentation of operating cash flows purposes; and

the option for classifying interest and dividend cash flows as

operating activities is eliminated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
T = I o E At

BHEC

126

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are set out in Note

2, the management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on

historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future period if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a)

Critical accounting judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see Note 4(b)), that the management has made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Construction contracts

As explained in Note 2.14, revenue recognition on a project is dependent
on management's estimation of the total outcome of the construction
contracts, with reference to the progress certificates issued by the
customers or their agents. The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders (if any), prepared
for each construction contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the
budgeted construction costs by comparing the budgeted amounts to the
actual costs incurred. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably (uncertified work or unagreed income), contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are

likely to be recoverable.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract revenue,
contract costs and variation work (if any) which may have an impact on
progress of the construction contracts and the corresponding profit taken.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)
Construction contracts (continued)

Management exercised their judgements and estimated contract costs and
revenues with reference to the latest available information, which includes
detailed contract sum and works performed. In many cases the results
reflect the expected outcome of long-term contractual obligations which
span more than one reporting period. Contract costs and revenues are
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the outcome of future
events and often need to be revised as events unfold and uncertainties
are resolved. The estimates of contract costs and revenues are updated
regularly and significant changes are highlighted through established
internal review procedures. In particular, the internal reviews focus on the
timing and recognition of payments and the age and recoverability of any
uncertified work and unagreed income from variations to the contract
scope or claims. The impact of the changes in accounting estimates is then
reflected in the ongoing results. Details of the contract assets and contract
liabilities are disclosed in Note 18.

Determination of the lease term in lease contracts and
discount rate

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension

options, or not exercise a termination option. Factors considered include:

contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods compared
with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of payments in the
optional periods is below the market rates);

the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by the Group;
and

costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs, costs
of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the Group's

needs).

Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated), which in turn affect the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and
corresponding right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)
Construction contracts (continued)

Determination of the lease term in lease contracts and
discount rate (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all extension options in leases
of offices have not been included in determination of the lease liability
because the Group could replace the assets without significant cost.

In addition, the Group exercised considerable judgement in relation
to determining the discount rate taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the leases, at both the
commencement date and effective date of the modification.

Estimate uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables and contract assets within the scope of
ECL

The Group makes allowances on items subject to ECL (including trade
and other receivables and contract assets) based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as
set out in Note 2.7 and Note 31.4. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables (excluding prepayment)
and contract assets amounted to HK$48,770,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$10,305,000) (31 December 2023: HK$46,947,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$11,813,000)) and HK$6,832,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$6,000)
(31 December 2023: HK$12,979,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$19,000))
respectively. Details of the trade and other receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Note 17 and Note 18 respectively.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. When the actual
future cash flows are different from expected, such difference will impact
the carrying amount of trade receivables and other items within the
scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4,
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Estimate uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of LSP obligations

Management's estimate of the LSP obligations is based on a number of
critical underlying assumptions such as the discount rate, the salary growth
rate and turnover rate. Variation in these assumptions may significantly
impact the LSP obligations amount and the annual defined benefit
expenses amount.

Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of LSP
obligations.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of LSP obligations are
HK$741,000 (2023: HK$827,000). Details of key assumptions and impact of

possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in Note 23.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(a)

Revenue

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 of the consolidated

financial statements.

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

as follows:

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-NF+-A=t+—HIFE

EEERMEE R A (E)

(b)

AT RERE (&)
ErRERBEEME

EREHRMREEEEN[IDERZRA
MRERERR  MERX  HEEEIRRK
Ko ZEBRRNEPDARLHRORB L
CRRFERACENFAXSRELEARE -

MEMESHKEERMREERE

uAﬁrfEX

FRRTE(E °

R-ZZ-_WNF+-A=+—8" EHRES
EEZEBMMEA7M0008T (ZF - =4
8270008 7T) c FERBZFHBERFEMRHKR
BB BN 23 EE -

Wit K 7 #BE R

(a)

Wy
REER T REBNRA M IERARMEE 1 IREE -
BE_Z_MER-_ZF-_=F+-A=+—

Eii&ﬁ YR ST

2024 2023

—E-mF —Z=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Construction and engineering services BRERTERSE 61,129 122,774
Property-related services Y % 18 78 AR 7% 8,977 8,412
Sales of luxury products EEmEE 10,395 3,381
80,501 134,567

The performance obligations of revenue of the Group from construction
and engineering services and property related services are satisfied over
time, and the sales of luxury products is at a point in time.

REBEREZER TIRRB AR EERER
Bk aEnBOREEERER  MEEZH
3 RIS — B R REK -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment information

The Group's operating activities are attributable to construction and

engineering services, property-related services and sales of luxury products.

The Group organised its business units based on its segment purposes
and the internal management reports are prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRS Accounting Standards as
further described in Note 2.18, which is regularly reviewed by the executive
directors, being the CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance. The CODM has identified construction
and engineering services, property-related services and sales of the luxury

products as reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. WERDBES (&)

(b)

Construction

7 EBE

AEENELEDRERERTRERYE ¥
ERAREREGRHEE -

AEBREDTENE D EBHEML - LA
ERREDRBEETABTRYBREENE
FHER) GE — FRF N M RE218) M B FTEUR AR
AU THHATER (T ELERRE)E
Bl AN ERRFED BRI - TELZR
RECHERBEERTIERY  MERERS
REGZREERATZHBN

HBE-S-_NFE+=A=1—LFE

and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Total
BER L/ ES EEm
IER® B R HE wst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHERT FHERT FHExT
Reportable segment revenue A 2H 5 WU
— From external customers — REINBEF 61,129 8,977 10,395 80,501
Reportable segment results (Note) ] 2 35 0 % 4 (Ff=F) (10,944) 968 141 (9,835)
Unallocated corporate income Pl NG ON 1,649
Unallocated corporate expenses APBARXZH (7,340)
Loss before income tax BETSTAIEE (15,526)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. lERDMER &)
(continued)
(b) Segmentinformation (continued) (b) DHER (&)
Note: ffsE -
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Unallocated Total
BER L/ ES E5m
IRR® ABARRS HE KA E et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Amounts included in the measure AN EERBEHEN SR
of segment results
— Bank interest income — RITFBWA 605 36 - 1,649 2,290
— Reversal of the Impairment under ECL —ANEEZESER
allowance on contract assets ERBERERE 13 - - - 13
— Depreciation of non-financial assets — e REENE (1,932) (4) - (1) (1,937)
— Reversal of the Impairment under — B 5 K& H At JE W RKIA
ECL allowance on trade and other B EEBBEE
receivables, net BB B FEE 8 - - - 8
— Impairment of an item of property, plant  — ¥1% ~ B K% 1#
and equipment 15 B E (642) - - - (642)
— Gain on disposal of plant and equipment  — & B 5 K % 5 U 25 3 - - - 3
— Long service payment — REARB® (155) (33) (9) - (197)
— Finance costs — BB RRAR (63) (4) - - (67)
Other segment item HitoMEAE
Additions to non-current segment assets ARBIERBDHEE 613 - - - 613
As at 31 December 2024 R-F-mE+=A=+—-H
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Unallocated Total
BER L/ES EEm
IERE BB AR 75 HE Ko B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER FER FERT
Reportable segment assets 2RO HEE 113,794 6,394 4,425 63,715 188,328
Reportable segment liabilities AWMy Hask 24,617 780 128 1,332 26,857
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. WERDBES (&)

(b) ZEER (F)

BE—F-_=-Ft-A=1—-HILFE

132

Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Total
BER LES E%m
Ti2AR% MBI R HE 5t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FHET
Reportable segment revenue GRS NE
— From external customers — REIBEF 122,774 8412 3,381 134,567
Reportable segment results (Note) 7] 2 35 0 %4 (K =F) (10,600) 1,270 506 (8,824)
Unallocated corporate income Pl NGILLON 1,903
Unallocated corporate expenses APBARZH (9,428)
Loss before income tax RETISTLRIE 1B (16,349)
Note: Mi3E -
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products  Unallocated Total
BER LIES B P
TR TR BR 15 HE KO st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHET
Amounts included in the measure AN EEEHEN ST
of segment results
— Bank interest income — SRITFEHA 564 25 - 1,901 2,490
— Reversal of the Impairment under ECL — ANEEZEEEER
allowance on contract assets BRBERERE 275 - - 275
— Depreciation of non-financial assets —eMEENE (446) 8) - (4) (458)
— Reversal of the Impairment under — B 5 K& H At E W RIE
ECL allowance on trade and other TEEEEBEEE
receivables, net PEREREEIER: ] 8 - - 8
— Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  — H & B E M & #E 18 ) - - - @)
— Long service payment — REARBE (159) (49) m (15) (224)
— Finance costs — BT AAR (32) ) - m (35)
Other segment item Hib A EHEE
Additions to non-current segment assets ARBIMRBDHEE 5,571 - - 5571
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Segmentinformation (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HLFE

Wz K o BB E F ()

(b) ZEER (&)

As at 31 December 2023 R-E-—=F+=-HA=+—H
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products  Unallocated Total
BER E EES
T2R% AR % HE RO “Et
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
Reportable segment assets A2HRHHEE 116,158 6,281 4692 84,343 211,474
Reportable segment liabilities A2MmoMBaE 31,983 79 1,149 1333 34,544
Geographical information IR & R
The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location of the AEBRBINBEPOREIZEFEMR
operation is derived solely in Hong Kong (place of domicile). Most non- BoEBEEEEEE (REME) AEERE
current assets of the Group based on the location of assets are located in EMTHRESHRIEDIERDEEMRE
Hong Kong. Accordingly, no segment analysis by geographical information o L W 2B E R MIEN D E 5
is presented. #r o
Information about major customers FBEETEEFNEHR
Revenue from customers which individually contributed over 10% of the A RIME 7N 5 B U 2 HR 38 10% B & P U= #1051 2
Group's revenue is as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-F —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Construction and engineering services segment BERIRRBE S0
— Customer A —&FA 38,870 21,690
— Customer B —%FB - 69,443
— Customer C —EPC 8,485 =
BEERRERAT/ 2044% 133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(c) Disaggregation of revenue from type of projects

134

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. WERDBES (&)

(c)

Construction

BREBREASTHREDE

BE_ZE_NMF+_A=1+—HIFE

and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Total
BER
IER% WEMEBRY EEmEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET FHET FTHER
Private sector project FLERBIIEE 11,256 8,977 - 20,233
Public sector project NEEBFIIE A 49,873 - - 49,873
Individuals (PN - - 10,395 10,395
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=F1+=-FA=1+—HILFE
Construction
and Property- Sales of
engineering related luxury
services services products Total
BER
T2  WEEERS ZERHEE HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
Private sector project FLERBIEE 5,011 8,412 - 13,423
Public sector project NEEPIIE B 117,763 - - 117,763
Individuals B A - - 3,381 3,381
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

OTHER INCOME 6. HWA
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Consultancy fee income EREAKA 129 414
Rental income from lease of machinery THE#RBENHES KA 114 60
Material charges income MEE A 145 1,185
Safety consultancy income = EEE A 165 91
Bank interest income RITH B WA 2,290 2,490
Interest income from finance lease receivables (Note 16) BETHERWKEZEBERN 2 A (M3 16) 15 5
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE KBRS 3 -
Exchange gain, net FE W i e % 58 - 29
Sundry income (Note) MIBEUA (M FE) 784 598
3,645 4,872

Note:

Sundry income mainly represented service charges of approximately HK$749,000 (2023:
approximately HK$529,000) paid by subcontractors requesting the Group's assistance in

the procurement of labour for the construction projects.

ffeE

MARAZZRESERBERAEE R EREEIAR
BT NMORBEEL7490008T (ZFE_=F : )

529,000/ 7T) ©

FINANCE COSTS 7. MBRAE
2024 2023
—S-E —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Finance charge on lease liabilities HEAGBENREER 47 13
Net interest expense on LSP obligations ERBEEANFEMATFHE 20 22
67 35
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is stated after charging/(crediting):

8. KRRATEBIATER

BETERABEENR,GIA) L TFEE

2024 2023
—EF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(a)  Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration (a) EBIXT(BIEESE#MS
(Note 12(a)) (KizE12(a))
Salaries, fee, wages and allowances e e TEKER 26,951 28,223
Discretionary bonuses BYIEIEAL 1,079 1,389
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B3R 784 726
Expenses arising from LSP obligations (note 23) RERBSETMEENER (FT:E23) 197 224
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) BIRK(BREESHSE)
(Note) (B =E) 29,011 30,562
(b)  Otheritems (b) HfER
Depreciation, included in: AT BIENE -
Direct costs BERAR
— Owned assets —BBEE 1,345 292
Administrative expenses THRAX
— Owned assets — BEEE 133 166
— Right-of-use assets — EREEE 459 -
1,937 458
Short term leases HEEE 716 572
Subcontracting charges (included in direct costs) AEHAZ (FFABEBERA) 42,197 109,072
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERSED (ks BB
plant and equipment (3) 2
Auditors’ remuneration ZHEN N & 1,047 1,003
Reversal of impairment under ECL allowance AREEZBHREEBBERE
on contract asset AR E (13) (275)
Reversal of impairment under ECL allowance B REMBWGIE BHEEEER
on trade and other receivables, net BERERRFHE (8) ®)
Impairment of an item of property, M - BRERREEERE
plant and equipment 642 -
Note:  Staff costs (including Directors' remuneration) st : BIA(BEEEHS)
2024 2023
“EF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT
Direct costs BEKA 14,761 12,284
Administrative expenses TTHRAX 14,250 18,278
29,011 30,562
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FiEHMAX

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNETER
— Current tax — BVER%EIE 120 191
— QOver provision in respect of prior years — BAFEBEEE (101) ©6)
19 185
Deferred tax (Note 22) EFEBIE (ML 22) 266 (168)
Income tax expense for the year FAMEHAX 285 17

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, except that the Group's qualified entity is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profit tax rates regime and the profits tax of other
group entities in Hong Kong which are not qualified for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for overseas profit tax has been made as the Group had no assessable
profits generated in overseas operation during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: nil).

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

RBE_Z_NER_Z_=F+_A=+—HI
FE - BANEBRRNESE OB ERT S
Mz16s5%BEAE BRAKREGEREERBEMR
FIREREGEAEN NEBHEBREEIFE
MARBIFISHEH SN FREERB 165% 8 — X
BMFNER - RMAGFNEHEHNET  AERE
B2 8 & 2,000,000 7 7T 4 FI| & 1% 8.25% B B R A - i
2,000,000 7 7T LA =5 F1) Bl BE 4% 16.5% B o

MRASKELENEBINELELERTOGERN - R
HE-Z-_NE+-_A=+—-HIEFREILEFLE
SMFIS T (T =F &) o

R A R E M2 F ISR PG A BLIE B BT 19 B
MBS RYERIIMT

follows:

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Loss before income tax B PrIS B AN 1R (15,526) (16,349)

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rates of 16.5% REBFERBME 165%t EHTHIE (2,561) (2,697)
Tax concession under two tier tax at Hong Kong BBEBF S ER 825% T E R M ARF

Profits Tax rates of 8.25% T TR ER (83) (109)

Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purpose BB E SRR 2 M 1,570

Tax effect of non-taxable income TR BB BANT G E (377) (330)

Tax losses not recognised REER RIS & 1B 2,843 1,670

Over provision in respect of prior years BT EBERE (101) (6)

Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised AERGREEENT B2 523 (81)

Income tax expenses for the year FRABHHAZ 285 17
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

10.

11.

138

—E-NE A+ A= G EEEE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December 2024, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company is based on the following:

10.

11.

IR 5

HE-_E-_MF+-_A=+—BHIFEIEE [
EZRETHNRE  BREHREBINEEZZ RN EM
BE(ZBEZ=F : &) -

BREE
AR AR BE AR SRERE R ER TS
HiE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT
Loss B
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders ARNBERFFEAEBRFAEER
of the Company (15,811) (16,366)
‘000 ‘000
TR’ F &
Number of shares RGOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares LA AN RE T 8 1,680,000 1,680,000

The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
is based on the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
of approximately HK$15,811,000 (2023: approximately HK$16,366,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,680,000,000 (2023: 1,680,000,000) in
issue during the year.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023 and therefore, diluted loss per share equals to basic loss
per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-NF+-A=t+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ ® f ETHAEFHNRAERR
+

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID &
INDIVIDUALS
. . . n 4= =
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTFETBRAEME
. , . . KXHEREDEGRH FEAT G0
R t f the Directors disclosed t to the Listing Rules,
em.une;agéown of he H|rec oKrs |scCose pgrsugnd. o the \sdmpg uzesf 38301) 16 2 2 7486 (ﬁ&%ﬁ?ﬂ CER) B
section (1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 o MW EEHIN T
the Companies Regulation (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors), is as follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Fee and benefits bonuses  contributions Total
25 41 BRI E
e REF WA % Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER TERT
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-_ME+-A=+-HLEE
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Chen BREE - 1,200 - 18 1,218
Mr. Qiu Weiren Qiu Weiren £ 4 - 600 - 18 618
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFNTESE -
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BRI R L AE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Shen Zejing TR L E 240 - - - 240
Mrs. Yip Wai Ching (Note) B2 a4 () 180 - - - 180
600 1,800 - 36 2,436
Salaries, Retirement
allowances  Discretionary scheme
Fee  and benefits bonuses  contributions Total
e 2R RIREE
ik ST Gl =REtan 3R #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR T T
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=f+-A=1+-HL%E
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Chen BREE - 1200 - 18 1218
Mr. Qiu Weiren Qiu Weiren £ 4 - 600 - 18 618
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHITEE -
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BRIEH % AE 180 - - = 180
Mr. Shen Zejing TR A 240 = = = 240
Mr. So Wai Man (Note) BRER &4 (5) 165 = = = 165
Mrs. Yip Wai Ching (Note) RE2gat () 15 = - - 15
600 1,800 - 36 2436
Note: BoEE -

Mr. So Wai Man was resigned on 1 December 2023 as an Independent non-
executive Directors of the Company. Mrs. Yip Wai Ching was appointed as an
Independent non-executive Directors on 1 December 2023.

MERAEEN-F_=F+_"F HEEARA
BUFNTER - EEBGLITN T =F+—
A—BEZERRRABILIFRNTES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 12. %
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

(continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2023: nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include one (2023: one)
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024, whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 12(a). The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining four (2023: four) individuals are as follows:

ERETETHBAEFHRAEE
& AL ()
EERERTHRAEME (&)

BHE_ZT_NMFR-_ZT-_=ZF+-_A=+—
BLEFEE AEBVERU EESIAEM
e EREMAREBS NARNE B K52
BNk fE A RE B IR SO 1E -

FRN EEMETIAALHERERRER
BEAMHGW (T _=F : &) -

EERSHMEAL

HEZZT-WNF+Z_A=+—HBLEFER
SENTEAEaNeATBE—REE (=
To=F:—R) BENHSEBENWZ
@ - BBEBTHA(ZT_=F : %) A+
BB < a0 T -

2024 2023

—EZF —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Salaries, fee and allowances e e KORR 4,346 5,460
Discretionary bonuses WIBIEAL 318 255
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 48 72
4,712 5,787

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e EATEE :

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
—E-mF —ZE=F
Emolument banks: & E[E -
HK$1,000,001-HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 78 7T 4 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T - 2

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a
Director or management of any members of the Group.
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FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ BERRE
Premises
held under
lease Plantand Motor Furniture  Leasehold Computer
(Note)  machinery vehicles  andfixtures improvement and software Total
REAE
BRZNE BER KAR  HENE £ )

(&) B g kB 3 B st
HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
TR TATL TR T TR T TATL

Cost KA
Asat 1 January 2023 RZEZ=5—-F—H - 794 2442 74 308 230 4515
Additions hE 917 1,006 1,057 430 1073 1,088 5571
Disposals/Wiitten off /s - - (678) (43) - (13) (736)
Asat 31 December 2023 RZFZZE+ZA=1-H 917 1,800 281 1126 1381 1305 9350
Asat 1 January 2024 RZEZRE-A—H 917 1,800 2,821 1,126 1,381 1,305 9,350
Additions HE - 9 58 527 - 19 613
Disposals/Wiite-off HE/ M - - (95) - - - (95)
Asat 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+=A=1-8 917 1,809 2,784 1,653 1,381 1324 9,868
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  23HTERHE
Asat 1 January 2023 S = - (782) (2,380) (640) (219 (194) (4215)
Charge for the year FEXH - (38) (92) (46) (149) (133) (458)
Depreciation write-back upon disposals/write-off 1 & /BT ERE - - 678 45 - n 734
Asat 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+Zf=+-8 - (820 (1,794) (641) (368) (316) (3939
Asat T January 2024 RZEZEEF-A—H - (820) (1,794) (641) (368) (316) (3,939)
Charge for the year FEXM (459) (305) (344) (125) (368) (336) (1,937)
Depreciation write-back upon disposals/write-off 1 & /MBI E&E - - 95 - - - 95
Impaiment A (458) (1) B (119) - (51) (642)
Asat 31 December 2024 R-ZB-RE+ZA=1-A (917) (1,136) (2,046) (885) (736) (703) (6:423)
Net book value RERE
Asat 31 December 2024 R-ZB-ZRE+ZA=1-A - 673 738 768 645 621 3,445
As at 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+-A=+-H 917 980 1027 485 1013 989 5411
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s premises held under lease e RZEFEZWOFRZF_=F+-A=+—H &
represents right-of-use assets in relation to warehouse. SEREBHERBECYERLEEERBOERE
The directors of the Group considered the situation, market development and AEBESEKEREERTIERBREELELDN
future performance of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") of construction and B MBBEREARKRRE  RBEEREDRR @ 1
engineering services and concluded there was indication for impairment and ¥TER T (B 49642,000 78 70 B9 90 35 - % 28 I 5% 4 /0 AT UL
conducted impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of the property, plant Bl & R#EITRE R ©

and equipment with carrying amount of approximately HK$642,000.

The recoverable amount of CGU of construction and engineering services has been BERIERBEcEASEMNAIKEERIRE
determined based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow FREBEEFEEE FEPERERAFHMGE
projections based on financial forecast covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax BB &R TR & 7.05% K Bt AT AL 3R =K o

discount rate of 7.05%.

Based on the assessment, an impairment provision of HK$642,000 (2023: HKSNil) BIRFTH 4R - 6420008 T (ZTE =4 : THT)
was recognised in profit or loss to write down the carrying amount of the item HREREEEEETER UEzZYUE BER
of property, plant and equipment to its recoverable amount of HKSNil as at 31 REBEEENEAEMRAE TS _NF+=_A=1+—
December 2024. HRZB Tl e &5 o
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

14. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND 14. FEMBLARIREGEREFHT
JOINT OPERATIONS
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as REZE-NFER_TE-_=F+=-A=+—HZXZE
follows: MBRARFIEHIIMT
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid up
establishment share capital/ Equity interest
Company name and operation Type of legal entity Registered attributable to the Group Principal activities
Bl
KRIREE BRTRERY
DEER HE EARRER BERA/EMER rEEEERE EX £33
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Indirectly held
mERE
Geotech Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of construction and engineering services
THERERRA BB BRAA 1000000077 REZERTIRRS
GeoResources Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of trading, design and engineering
services
GeoResources Limited EE BRAA 1000078 7 REBS - R RIRRE
Richway Construction Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of construction and engineering services
EFRLTIRERAR ) BRAR 1T RERERIRRS
Yau Wing Construction & Engineering Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of construction and engineering services
Limited
BREETRERAR BE BRAF 1A RUEERTIRRS
Nova Management Services Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of property-related services
HEERRBEERAA BA EBRRA 1B REWEEBRYE
Chen Xu Jian Zhu Construction Decoration Kingdomof ~ Limited liability company KHR4,140 million/ 100% 100%  Provision of construction and decoration services
Engineering (Cambodia) Co, Ltd. Cambodia KHR4, 140 million
(2023: KHR3,940 million/
KHR3,940)
REERMERLEHIRERAF RBRIE ARAA 4140000000 / REBRERRNRS
4,140,000,000 57
(-Z-=%:
3,940,0000003 8/
3,940000,000%: 7 )
Particulars of joint operations at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: RIE-MFER-T_=F+-A=+—HEEK
BRHENT
Place of Form of Interest
establishment business attributable
Name and operation structure to the Group Principal activities
18 RIKREEE ReEFEEL rEEEGER TEXEK
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Indirectly held
HESHE
HY — GE Joint Venture Hong Kong Unincorporated 43% 43%  Provision of construction and
engineering services
BEEBIBERAAKR i FRRVEA R ERTRRS
THERBERARBE
Kin Chiu — Geotech Joint Venture  Hong Kong Unincorporated 49% 49% Provision of construction and
engineering services
B —thEe 0 FERFEA REBERTRRS

142 GEOTECHHOLDINGSLTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2024



15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

w.éé¥ﬁ%kﬁ&é@%é2$@

2024 2023

—E-mEFE ZE=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHER FHET

Unlisted securities — Unit Trust Fund FELETES —EUETES - 1,072

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed the unit trust fund.
For the detail of movements and fair value of the Group's financial assets at FVOC|,

please refer to Note 31.6.

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=-+-—BLEE F£EH
EHEMERES - BEASEERQAFEFTAHEGLE
AN EREEZEH LA FEFE  B2HKM
3160

16. BEMEREWKE

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments receivables from finance

leases are as follows:

KB EATEE Y REE BTN R EHA ST
o

2024 2023
—E-F T_—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Total undiscounted lease payments receivables: RENIR S R ae s
Within one year —FR 210 276
After one year but within two years —FRHRERFR - 210
210 486
Unearned interest income REREUR S A (4) (19
Present value of the finance lease receivable REAERBFIEZRE 206 467
Present value of the finance lease receivables: RERERUGKIEZBRE -
Within one year —FR 206 261
After one year but within two years —FRERFA - 206
206 467
Less: portion due within one year included B R —ERNIBHNHBS GIRRBEEN)
under current assets (206) (261)
Portion due after one year included under —FRIPOHITD GIRERDEER)
non-current assets - 206
Movements in finance lease receivables AEHERRRIEZEE
2024 2023
“E-OF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&e 467 3
Addition ANE - 528
Receipts R (276) (66)
Interest income from finance lease receivables (Note 6) AR EEKZTERNEWA (FsEe6) 15 5
Balance as at 31 December R+-ZA=+—RBz#&& 206 467
The finance lease receivables represent the sublease arrangement entered by the pﬂﬁ%ﬂh}gﬂk RIBIEASERYERD BEILZ
Group with subcontractors in respect of premises typically run for an initial period DT — R EH2EEZ3IF - GEBEEL T

of 2 to 3 years. The leases do not include contingent rentals and variable lease
payments. The subleases are entered with the same terms of the respective head-
leases and no gain or loss recognised from the deemed disposal of the right-of-
use assets from the head-leases. The sublease arrangement started during the year

ended 31 December 2023.

BEIAESRABEENR  DHETIZELETHE
WHERZGHREL BERERTHNZEREEE
BIELEEHEBERREXER - DHELHFRBE—
S e e e )
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEC

17.

144

L= Pl il R

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

. BEZRHEAMBEWKE

2024 2023

—EB-ME —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHT

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 7,182 9,595

Less: impairment under ECL allowance Do ﬁﬁﬂ{;iﬂgﬂg?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ (110) (217)

7,072 9,378

Retention receivables ERRES 9,101 12,559

Other receivables (Note (i)) A pE sk TE (B L)) 24,206 21,074

Prepayment (Note (ii)) FEAT RIE (M 5E Gi)) 7,668 7,093

Utility and other deposits NAEENREMIEZS 1,303 1,167

Less: impairment under ECL allowance B B EEEERERE (9,272) (9173)

33,006 32,720

Amount due from joint operators (Note (i) FEUR & & A8 & 7 38 (M EE Gii)) 17,283 14,365

Less: impairment under ECL allowance (Note (iv)) B TR EEBERERE (i) (923) (2/423)

16,360 11,942

56,438 54,040

Notes: PFfsE -

0 Other receivables include materials and expenses of slope work contracts paid on [0 HiERREBREAS BRI NREIEEH

behalf of subcontractors, for which expenses are recharged to subcontractors.

(if) Prepayment mainly represent advance payment to sub-contractors
approximately HK$5,776,000 (2023: HK$4,970,000) paid for the working capital.

(iii) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv) Due to the financial situation of one of the joint operators kept unstable,
HK$1,500,000 (2023: HK$14,100,000) have been written off during the year.

The Directors consider that the fair values of trade and other receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts, because their balances have short
maturity periods on their inception.

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviewed trade receivables, retention
receivables and other receivables for evidence of impairment on collective basis.
Based on ECL assessment, impairment under ECL allowance of HK$10,305,000 has
been recognised as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$11,813,000). For
details of the ECL assessment, please refer to Note 31.4.
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(ii) BRAREXZERLEESCEANTFARENNR
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(i)  ZELEREEM  RENARENREE -
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HE B G B EE 1,500,000 T (Z 2 Z = F -
14,100,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. ESREMERRE (&)
Trade receivables g 5 EWRIE
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of BEEZEEE - 5 RKHE(NREREERER
impairment under ECL allowance, is as follows: HRE) RS ITHIIAT -
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHExT FHET
0-30 days 0%F30H 5,882 5411
31-60 days 31E260H - 2,145
61-90 days 61290 H 866 1,822
Over 90 days B3E 90 H 324 -
7,072 9,378
The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on trade receivables are as B ZREWFIE EREEEREEREZEEI T
follows:
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&# 217 60
ECL allowance recognised during the year RERNERBEREEEBEBRE - 157
ECL allowance reversed during the year RERNBEBEREEBEBRE (107) -
Balance as at 31 December R+tZRA=+—B2&#% 110 217
Retention receivables ERRESE
Retention receivables represents certified contract payments in respect of works EURREBHEEBEETIRENERIALIA -
performed, for which payments are withheld by customers for retention purposes, EFEFEHEFBENERBEAE TPRERM
and the amount retained is withheld on each payment up to a maximum amount REBHIHRERE SR EREANSENE
calculated on a prescribed percentage of the contract sum. EBDLLEEHE -
The retention receivables were expected to be recovered/settled as follows: YR B S TBHRE,EFH T
2024 2023
—B-MF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHT
Due within one year R—FEREIH 5,593 1,226
Due after one year R— &35 3,508 11,333
9,101 127559
Retention receivables are interest-free and repayable approximately one year after BERBEAEERNRELEBREHERELN—
the expiry of the maintenance period of construction projects. FREE -
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_ TG+ _A=F—HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

146

Retention receivables (continued)

The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on retention receivables

are as follows:

17. EZREMEWRE (&)
EWRE S (F)

FERRE 2 EREEBRREREZSHHIINT

2024 2023

—BE-F —EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Balance as at 1 January N—A—Bz#&s 37 127
ECL allowance recognised during the year RENERBHREEEBHIERE 22 -
ECL allowance reversed during the year RERNBEBREEBEBRE - (90)
Balance as at 31 December R+tZA=+—B2&#% 59 37

Other receivables

The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on other receivables are

as follows:

Hft FE WK IR

Hit WAz BRERBRREREZBEIMNT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

E R 124 gl 324 924 Met

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET FHET FET

Balance as at 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—A—B2&&% 211 25,523 - 25,734

Reclass ENHE - (16,523) 16,523 -

Amount write-off during the year REAMESTE - - (14,100) (14,100)

ECL allowance reversed during the year A N#[El 2 FBHIE EE 187 E (75) - - (75)
Balance as at 31 December 2023and KR Z-ZZ_=F+-_A=+—8BxXK

1 January 2024 T NF-A—B2&HR 136 9,000 2423 11,559

Amount write-off during the year RERME S FE - - (1,500) (1,500)
ECL allowance recognised during REANERZBREEBEEESE

the year 77 - - 77
Balance as at 31 December 2024 R-B-_WUFE+=-A=+—HZ

£y 213 9,000 923 10,136

Company winding up petitions have been filed against a joint operator of the
Group, the Group considered to impair the amount due from the joint operator,
and the total ECL allowance of HK$16,523,000 has been recognised based on
lifetime ECL (i.e. Stage 2), and reclassed to Stage 3 in prior years. As the financial
situation of the joint operator kept unstable, HK$1,500,000 (2023: HK$14,100,000)
have been written off during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

18.1 Contract assets

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

18. BHEEREGHNERE
181 AHEE

2024 2023

—EIF —E=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FAET

Contract assets arising from construction contracts BEGNEENENEE 6,838 12,998
Less: impairment under ECL allowance B EHREEEERERE (6) (19
6,832 12,979

The amount of contract assets is expected to be recovered/settled within
one year.

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviewed contract assets for
evidence of impairment on collective basis. Based on ECL assessment,
impairment under ECL allowance of HK$6,000 has been recognised as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$19,000). For details of the ECL
assessment, please refer to Note 314.

The movements in the impairment under ECL allowance on contract assets
are as follows:

AREESBEEHBR —FRRE S -

RFERR  AEEDEETHANEERDS
GERETR - RIEBHEEBENGE R
ToME+ A=+ —BAHRBEHEEEE
BHEREOETL(ZE_=F+=A=+—
H 190008 7) - B ETEHAEEBETEF
BRELMME314-

ANEEZEHEEFARBREZDRT
m -

2024 2023

—EIF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Balance as at 1 January RN—A—Bz#&# 19 294
ECL allowance reversed during the year NERNEER 2 BREEBERE (13) (275)
Balance as at 31 December R+ZRA=+—B2&# 6 19
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

18.2 Contract liabilities

18. ENEERENEE (A)

182 BHER

2024 2023
—BoME —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract liabilities arising from construction BESVBEHNNNREED
contracts from billings in advance of performance aHaE 1,190 4382

All of the contract liabilities are expected to be recovered/settled within one
year.

The decrease of contract liabilities during the year ended 31 December
2024 is mainly due to the decrease in obligation to perform construction
work services to certain customers for which the Group has received less

considerations from those customers at the end of the reporting period.

FrEaNBEERHN —FRRE 45 -

BHE_Z-_MFET-_A=+-BILEFEERN
BERIDEIZHNAEER RS HRKE
KEETEPHRERD ERZEEFPE
TORETRRBEELRD

Movements in contract liabilities BHNEEZEEH
2024 2023
—E-MF —F-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FHET
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#s 4,382 1,550
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising R F AR Wk G A FE )
revenue during the year that was included in the EHEENENEERD
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (5,681) (1,942)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in A i & B AT S8 L
advance of construction activities AHBEEM 2,489 4,774
Balance as at 31 December R+-—A=+—8z&% 1,190 4382
Unsatisfied long-term construction contracts RERRBZESDN

The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied or partially

satisfied performance obligations as at 31 December are as follows:

RTZA=T—B#EERTREKRED
CERBOEEZRZEREINNT

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within one year R—FR 114,397 75,791
More than one year BB —F 174,455 103,355
288,852 179,146
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19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

20.

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

9. RERBITHER

2024 2023

—ECNE —E =%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHT

Cash at bank (Note 28 (b)) R1TIR S (MI5E28() 121,354 137,202
Cash on hand FHEIRE 53 37
121,407 137,239

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The Directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are not materially

different from their carrying amounts, because their balances have short maturity

periods on their inception.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RITHESREERRITERN XA F BRI EE S -

EERA ROTASHAVEREKEAETEER
2R FARZSHEHBEMGERSEENE B -

20. ESREHMENRIE

2024 2023
—EMEFE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBxT FHT

Trade payables (Note (i) B 5 P 508 (B 7,605 9,108
Retention payables (Note (ii)) FERHRER @ (BT (i) 7,834 11,653
Accruals and other payables (Note (iii)) FEATE A I L B A5 3B (B = i) 8,741 7,080
24,180 27,841

All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group’s trade

payables, retention payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be

a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoices date is as follows:

FRAREHREE - At - AEEBSHEMNHA - &
NRE S RER BB REM RN FRIENREERSR
RAFENAIBALUE

BHRNFORRER AN REDITHEIIAT

2024 2023
—BoMF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0-30 days 0&E30H 5,468 7,018
31-60 days 31260H 968 371
61-90 days 61290 H - 883
Over 90 days #B3iA 90 B 1,169 836
7,605 9,108

Notes:

(ii)

(iif)

Payment terms granted by suppliers are 30 to 60 days from the invoice date of
the relevant purchases.

Retention payables are interest-free and settled in accordance with the terms of
the respective contracts.

Accruals and other payables include amount of accrued salary and bonus
approximately HK$2,730,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,301,000).

(i) HERETHNKARSEERBENER A
#30E60H e

(i) EARBLALZE UREXEANNGREE -

(i) FERTEFAREMENRIBEIERT TS RICAR
18472,730000 8 c (ZE_=F+=-A=+—H:
1,301,000/ 7T) °
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FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

The analysis of the Group's lease liabilities is as follows:

HEAE

AEBENEERBENDTHEIIMAT

2024 2023
—B-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: HEBERN KB -
Within one year —FR 690 756
After one year but within two years —FREMFA - 690
690 1,446
Future finance charges RIRE 75 B (15) (62)
Present value of lease obligation HEAERE 675 1,384
Present value of minimum lease payment: HERERNHKIRME :
Within one year —FR 675 729
After one year but within two years —FREMFA - 655
675 1,384
Less: portion due within one year included under R —FRE RIS
current liabilities GIREBEER) (675) (729)
Portion due after one year included under non-current R —F1& 5 BAEY AR
liabilities (Wﬂ#/@EﬁW) - 655

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 3 (31 December 2023: 3) lease
arrangements for use of office premises, warehouse and car park. These lease

periods are for 2 (31 December 2023: 2) years. The Group makes fixed payments

during the contract periods.

The leases are effectively secured by the underlying assets as the rights to the

leased assets would be converted to the lessor in the event of default by repayment

by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash outflows for the leases are

HK$ 1,472,000 (2023: HK$1,162,000).
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RZZE-_MFE+-_A=+—H0 AEEAF3E(ZZ
::¢+fﬂ7+—a SH)HERFRARBRAE
mE - REREES AR 2FCE_=ZF+=
RA=+—H82%) - AEER A OHAELEENRK -

HETHABEEEGRER - WAKEBRENR
HEAENREMNBHEEHBEA -

Eéét;.% T_NFE+—A=+—HILFE - %Eifz
e 8% 51,472,000 70 (ZF Z =4 : 1,162,000
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22.

23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and (assets) and recognised in the
consolidated statement of the financial position during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

22.

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

EEHIE
BE—E-—NER-—E-_=—F+-A=+—HILHF
E - REEUBRARANERNELEHEEER (B
E)WEBBRETINT

Accelerated tax

depreciation Tax losses Total
IEBEAE HEER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FERT
As at 1 January 2023 RZE=Z=%—HF—H 267 (365) (98)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) RIEEFRETA (F5E9) (127) (41) (168)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=F+-A=+—8BRK
1 January 2024 —ET-mE—-A—H 140 (406) (266)
(Credited)/Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) PR GEA) 0Bk (3E9) (140) 406 266
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZB-_WE+=-A=+—H - - -
The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as REEE MBI R AR S EHIIOT
follows:
2024 2023
—BoMEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Deferred tax assets REHIEEE - 266

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$79,939,000 (2023: HK$60,256,000) to
carry forward against future taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under
current legislation.

LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Hong Kong
employees that have been employed continuously for at least five years are entitled
to long service payment (“LSP”) under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by

employers or upon retirement).

The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s
last monthly salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by
the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the
Group does not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligations.

23.

AN 52 B ) R BE FR R RE B 18 5 18 79,939,000 7T (= F
Z =4 1 60,256,00078 70) A 4 65 LA $5 R SR FE R B UL
A o RIBBITED] - ZEBIEE B RBE -

REBRBEEE

REFBEBEN (F578)  EBZEEZIAFZ
FEREEETERT (PR EEHESERAR)E
BEARMRBE -

RS SEMNFENSEN2ERENTEAT (£
R 42250078 70) R ARG G EREE TE + IR A AN & B [m) o0&
BetsltREENTNRERE ZRTRAST
F & 83900008 7T © B A + 74N & B 3 £8 {F 7] 8 3L &Y
B RHUNBTERPRBEET -

BUSRIRRAMRAT]/ 2024 F 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

—E-NE A+ A= G EEEE

23. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government’) gazetted
the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance’),
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Amendment Ordinance will
take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). Separately, the Government
has indicated that it would launch a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism takes effect, an
employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
MPF contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on or after the
Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment commenced before
the Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued benefits
to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service up to that date. In addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date.

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at HK$390,000 per employee. If an
employee’s total benefit payment exceeds HK$390,000, the amount in excess of the

cap is deducted from the portion accrued from the Transition Date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as
disclosed in Note 2.15 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily impacts the
Group's LSP obligations with respect to Hong Kong employees.

The present value of unfunded LSP obligations and its movements are as follows:

23. REIRBESEE ()

R-_T__FXA FEFNTHERBA ((BF])
ERBBRNNE T - —FEBEMBLRARBUEN (F
S22 HE) (B RT) &0 (TERTHRBI)) -~ BB E A E L%
SRS HRAELEN RERREHRARES -
BRIGIEN _E-_hFnA-H(BERHD &
Mo ZIN - BRIFE RR R RERR & #E i RE A &IIA
wHEoEE -

Hep —HEREHEGIER BXEBERDHE
TEEERERMERESHAMELNERNRE
Bm (THRBEB A - 8B BIERAH)
RELEERERBHERNRB S - AM - HER
REERBAMAGESE  AEZJEEERRR
HRESWRLBEZABRERRGORIRES -
AN - EE B EATE RS RBRE & B RIE

BB A BAERN AR RRERANES Y
eSS

RHRS B T &AM K LR AS % E 8 390,000
T o i {8 B 48 B B4R BB #8383 390,000 7T ¢ B I
LRSS ERE B SRR TS PR -

MG E MBS MRM T 215 TIRE - AEEBEFEE
Bl EERETEERIE

AEECHE BIKIEIREZERAEERBEE
BENERHMRBEEME -

ARERRHRBEETHREREZHNT

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT
At 1 January Bé A— 827 -
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: ’rﬁl%@”ﬂl SR EFE -
— Actuarial gain arising from voluntary resignation fE B BREBB AT E AR B E A
of employees (303) -
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: REEPERZMAY
— Current service cost — BEIRG KA 217 246
— Past service cost — BRI - 581
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 741 827
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23. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

23.
(continued)

The current service cost, past service cost and interest cost are included in
employee benefits expenses. They are recognised in the following line items in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss:

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HLFE

RBRBSEE (&)

ATARTE RN ~ B AR TS BN B A B K A5 AR B
MY - ARG BRRTERBR/ATER :

b=
=2
E
1&

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Administrative expenses THAX 197 224
Finance cost BA TSR A 20 22
217 246
Estimates and assumptions fEEt RBE&
The significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of LSP obligations are as ETRABRBSECZERNBERELT «
follows:
2024 2023
—E-MF —F=-=
Discount rate ALIR & 3.7% 3.7%
Salary growth rate HeERE 2.5% 3.8%
These assumptions were developed by history record and management decision. ZERSHEEBECBLBEMMNBE THIE - BY

Discount factors are determined close to each period-end by reference to market
yields of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms
of the related LSP obligations. Other assumptions are based on current actuarial

benchmarks and management's historical experience.

The present value of the LSP obligations was measured using the projected unit
credit method.

The weighted average duration of the LSP obligations is 17 years (2023: 19 years).

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in the coming years as
at 31 December 2024 is disclosed as follows:

BEZDREAOSHRK2EUAINBINEER
BEEIHARAEEIRESETOHRBENK
JiF 18 55 69 T 45 Wi 3 #;{ H AR T 27 E AT A
BHALEREEENBELR -

EHRBEETZREERBRFELELDATE -

REARKSETZINEFIFHRRI7F(ZTE=4F:
194F)
R-ZZE-—ME+-_A=+—H8 xREEFRUEE

HRBeEENTRRIHELWRENAT :

Over 2
Over 1 year years but
Within 1year within2years within 5 years Over 5 years
BiB1F 2F N E
1FER B2F R B5FE LR 5FLE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT THET FHET THER
LSP obligations REORBSEE 7 10 25 699
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

23. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 23. REBRHEEE ()
(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued) et RBE& (&)
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in the coming years as RZBZ=F+ZA=1T—H RARFERMER
at 31 December 2023 is disclosed as follows: HEGSBETNERIBE>THRBAOT -
Over 2
Over 1 year years but
Within 1 year within 2 years within 5 years Over 5 years
HBiB1F 2F Ak
16 R B2FE A B5ELR SELE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
LSP obligations RERBEEE 2 18 4 803
The LSP obligations expose the Group to actuarial risks such as interest rate risk, EHRGEEECSASEEBERERR W XA
salary risk and the investment risk of the Group’s MPF scheme’s constituent funds. B HeRRIAEERESFEAKNIELHRE
2B o
There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the REGRE DA AR BRREEFIEL W EEE -

sensitivity analysis from prior year.

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BA&
2024 2023
—ZT-lF —EZ=F
Number Number
of shares HK$’000 of shares HK$'000
RGO EE FET & &R FHET
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+=ZA=+—8H 4,000,000,000 40,000 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE:
As at 1 January and 31 December R—A—BKk+=-—A=+—H 1,680,000,000 16,800 1,680,000,000 16,800
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

25. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders of the Company was HK$9,658,000 (31 December
2023: HK$87,333,000).

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares
in issue of the Company and net proceeds received from the issuance of the shares
of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
of the Company may be applied for payment of distributions or dividends to
the Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 represents the
share capital of entities comprising the Group prior to the Group's reorganisation
of the Company in connection with the listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange
(the "Reorganisation’) and the reserves arising from the Reorganisation.

Financial assets fair value reserve
As at 31 December 2023, the financial assets fair value reserve represents the

change in fair value arising from the investment in unlisted securities — Unit Trust
Fund (Note 15).

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

5. #E

BE—E-—NER-—E-_=—F+-A=+—HILHF
BEAEENHBESERFEERESH 2V REE T BHR
RAPNGERRZEEHE -

RZEBEZNE+=—A=+—H "A#HRERFARA
R B b 1 4258 596580008 T (ZE-_=F+ = A
=+—H :87,333000%&7T) °

MR 10 E

B i EEA AR D HTROMNEELEETARF
Bt R ) P 1S SR E R 2 R 27 -

REFASES QDA ARF RO G ERAHEEF
DRFERE RS TER  EEEREDRIEEE
B ARRBEXNEREBBREDIHMZ2E -

BEREE

RZZE-ZNFER-ZZFZ=F+ZA=+—0 K&
B R E A E AN AR EBEITAR R R R
FroEHRE(EARAD ASEMETEEBORANRE
EEEHENREE -

EMEEATFEME
R-F-=#+-A=+-0 sWAELFER

BIEREFLTES - BUEAESEENATE
) (5E15) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

156

26. QB MR R

COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-mFE —E=F
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
o= FTER FHET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE

Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHE AR R 14 33,812 63,006
Property, plant and equipment W - BER&E - -
Loan to a subsidiary —HMBARNER 69,131 99,900
102,943 162,906

Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hfh U R IE 338 422
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NGIE S 1,199 5247
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHE S 62,918 83,224
64,455 88,893
Current liabilities REBEE

Accruals FEETE R 1,325 1,325
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEBHI B AR 5kE 53,548 60,274
54,873 61,599
Net current assets REBEEFE 9,582 27,294
Net assets BEEFE 112,525 190,200

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRHE
Share capital [N 24 16,800 16,800
Reserves (Note) @ () 95,725 173,400
Total equity R 112,525 190,200

Mr. Chen Zhi
REFLE
Director

BE
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Mr. Chan Tsang Mo
FRIGE K&
Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note:  The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows:

26. A1 A RBMRRE (BR)

Mist: ARBNREHZDRIT

Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve* losses Total
R4 RE BERRE AitEBR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FHET FET
Balance as at 1 January 2023 RZEB_=F—-—A—Bzi&E#H 167,266 86,067 (80,131) 173,202
Profit and total comprehensive FREN R 2 E RSB 58
income for the year - - 198 198
Balance as at 31 December
2023 and 1 January 2024
A 167,266 86,067 (79,933) 173,400
Loss and total comprehensive FABBERE2ERZ B
expense for the year - - (77,675) (77,675)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+=A=+—H
2R 167,266 86,067 (157,608) 95,725

Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
total equity of Praise Marble Limited acquired by the Company pursuant
to the Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company'’s shares
issued in exchange therefore.

27. LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the lease commitments for short term leases are

27. HERIE

EREBA

KAANERFBEARARBEEAWE
K] Praise Marble Limited 48 # 2 B2 Bt 11t 1E 52
BREARREBITRMOEE FRESE

RIB-_NMER T -_=F+_A=+—H EH

as follows: HEMHEEAERIINT :
2024 2023
—EC-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 412 108
The Group's leases in respect of premises with a lease period of 1 year are qualified AEBERHEBR I FAMERETSEBRESRS

to be accounted for under short term leases exemption under HKFRS 16.

MRS ERE 6 FETHRPRERRETALR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

28.

—E-NE A+ A= G EEEE

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

MBI RBERS HERERS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FEEBAEMS
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company, RBEE-_ZT_NFER_T=_=F+=A8
who represent the key management personnel during the years ended 31 =T BIEFE  ARREERESREEE (8
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: EEBAB)BRNNNOT -
2024 2023
—EZIWF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries, fee and allowances e e KOER 4,501 6,060
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 275 310
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 72 72
4,848 6,442
The above emoluments in relation to service contracts of Directors are L EREERB AL E LTARRE 14A
exempt continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the ET2RHEBERSHRERR -
Listing Rules.
(b) Related party transactions b) BELIXRS

Summary of the related party transactions carried out by the Group during

AEBEBEE-ZT-_NFR=_T=_=F+=A

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: =T HIEFEETHER RSB ERT
T
2024 2023
—E-NE —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Property management consultancy services and property 2R B T F G BR A 7] 899 3 & 12 B8 5 AR 75 )2
leasing agency services income from Cheer Capital MERERERS ((WEMBBEERKE])
Limited (‘Property-related Services’) (Note (i) U A (B EEG)) 5,045 4,560
Bank deposits to Prince Bank Plc. (Note (ii)) #R 1717 7% B Prince Bank Plc. A F4R17*
(K =E i)
— balance as at 31 December —RTZA=+—HZ#&&# 196 151
— maximum balance during the year —REBE+=ZA=+—H
ended 31 December IEFEAZRKRLEER 219 222

The above related party transactions are de minimis connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

28. RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED 28. BB A RBERS HHEABERS
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Related party transactions (continued) (b) BHE RS (M)
Notes: MEaE :
(i) A company indirectly and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen, an executive (i) ZATHAARRNITE R RITRR TR T
Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company. SHRE2EES -
(ii) A company directly controlled by Mr. Chen, an executive Director and (ii) ZATHAARRNITE R RITRR TR T
the controlling shareholder of the Company. EEEES -
The above transactions (with the exception of Property-related Services) MREBBERSGI LR FHELZER R
are fully exempt from the requirements of reporting, annual review, E<r ETHRAIE 14A$Eﬁiﬁ FEEMN 2F
announcement and approval of independent shareholders under Chapter RBURRIERTE - MEEBRGEEE
14A of the Listing Rules. Property-related Services are subject to reporting, THRABAEEERR  FEEH &’\i
annual review and announcement requirements but exempt from the WRE MERCETERBRREIRR
requirements of circular and approval of independent shareholders under BEZHE BEEFRR AEEREEMAR
and comply Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that BETMRBAUFE HARETRBENBER HS
the Group has no other connected transaction or continuing connected BRAERS -

transaction which are required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.
29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 29. HAREE

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has been involved in a number of RZZE-ZNFER-ZZFZ=F+ZA=+—0 K&
claims, litigations and potential claims against the Group regarding the employees’ B RZEHELAEEEMEERERLTBETA
compensation and common law personal injury. Based on the information FEENRE  FRREERE - ERAFER &
available, the Board considered that the Group has sufficient insurance coverage on ERREE . ERZERR  FAREBERERM
any liability arising from those claims, litigations and potential claims. EENEMEEHEE EHEORE -

As such, the Board is of the view that such claims, litigations and potential claims Hitt - é% SRE RERR - FRRBERETE
would not cause any material adverse impact on the operation and financial ﬂzﬁi B &W?@%ﬂ?i&ﬂ%ﬁTﬂ we.
position of the Group and no provision is required to be made in the consolidated BAMRE MEMERELBEE -

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBBRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHEC

30.

31.

160

L= Pl il R

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 30. MEEBMELEAGEZHR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities can be REBERETHMELEEBEES > BEEIINOT :
classified as follows:
2024 2023
—EC_EF B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Lease liabilities HESE
As at 1 January n—A—H 1,384 516
Cash-flows: HeRE !
— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BERHESHE RIS (709) (577)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid — BB (47) (13)
Non-cash: FRE:
— Entering into new leases —RIEHHEE - 1,445
— Interest expenses — MEREZ 47 13
As at 31 December R+=—B=+—8 675 1,384
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31. BREREERAFETE

MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its
ordinary course of operations. The financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the Board of
Directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31. BIAREERAFETE (E)
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

311 SMEEREBBEDE

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial

SEPMBRARMINEEER T EREE

position relate to the following categories of financial assets and liabilities: rMBEI BB -
2024 2023
—E-ME B =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
Financial assets SEMEE
At amortised cost: REHER AN -
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 N EMEWFRTE 48,770 46,947
— Finance lease receivables — RMEAERWRIEAE 206 467
— Cash and bank balances — e RIRTTHEES 121,407 137,239
170,383 184,653
At FVOC: RATESAEMDEE
— Unlisted securities — Unit Trust Fund — FELEMESF - BfETES - 1,072
170,383 185,725
Financial liabilities cREE
At amortised costs: REER AR
— Trade and other payables — S REMENKIE (22,662) (25,541)
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (675) (1,384)
(23,337) (26,925)

31.2 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group's exposures to currency risk arise from its
cash at bank denominated in United Stated Dollars ("US$") amounted to
approximately of HK$37,847,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: HK$37,088,000), which is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entities. Since HK$ are pegged to USS$ under the Linked Exchange
Rate System, the management does not expect significant foreign currency
exposure in relation to the exchange rate fluctuation between HK$ and USS.

31.2 SN LB

INERBIENEEREHERSMTAQNTF
BERAXRRESTEHBEEBORAR - AEE
HRENEYERRBEER-_ZT-_NF+=A
=T —HUET(IFEBEEEEETENE
B T EMIRITIE S 4378470008 T (=&
—ZF+=-A=+—H8 :37088000/87T) ° 1R
BHEERGE  BraknEl SBEE
HAY G RS T H 35 JUIE RIF B ) R SME
BB o
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31.

162

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from lease liabilities. Lease
liabilities bearing fixed rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk
and the exposure to the Group is considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s bank balances is
considered immaterial.

31.4 Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure
to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the ordinary
course of its operations.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial
assets is limited to the carrying amount at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as
summarised in Note 31.1.

As at 31 December 2024, for trade receivables, the Group usually provide
customers with a credit term of 21 to 30 days (31 December 2023: 21 to 30
days). For the settlement of trade receivables from provision of construction
services, the Group usually reaches an agreement on the term of each
payment with the customer by taking into account of factors such as,
among other things, the credit history of the customer, its liquidity position
and the Group’s working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case
basis that requires the judgement and experience of the management. For
retention receivables, the Group negotiated with customers case by case on
the settlement arrangement after the retention period.

The Group applies the simplified approach for trade receivables, finance
lease receivables, retention receivables and contract assets to provide ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for these receivables due from third parties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific to the counterparty
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been implemented to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31. UHKEBRERRQFETE (H)

31.4 Credit risk (continued) 314 ER MK (F)

The Group assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets based on provision
matrix, the analysis of credit risk are based on debtors’ ageing because these
customers consist of a large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
applying the forward-looking information, the Group has taken into account
the possible impacts associated with the overall change in the economic
environment. At each reporting date, the historical default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

On the basis, the ECL allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was
determined as follows for trade receivables:

Gross carrying

AEERBEEEVBMEENE ISREREE
FEEAFEE ZRYGRIE - BEHERWKGRE
FERREERENEENTRREEER 8
REHms i EREBANKREL - REA
REEEFPEBEARBEHAARBREBNES
MZEBRFHAREPRES HHERREHX
NBIHRIRRRE ) ©

BEHBEBEIREBEEFGABRFHNBEE
EGNENEMGR  LIRBBTLERARK
SHMAEFSOREEERMERTE - R E
MAATIEEEME  AEESFREBERED
ERSCMEENECHYE - NEWEAD
JRE 5238 4 SR T T KA MR T B E AT -

RUEEE RZT-_NFR-ZT=F+=
A=Z+—BmEZERFBENEHEEER
BEETOT :

Net carrying

ECL rate amount ECL allowance amount
EHREE EHEE
BER FREAAE BERE REEE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FERT
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZT_-MF
+t=A=+—-8”
0-30 days 0ZE30H 0.79% 5,929 (47) 5,882
31-60 days 31260 H 0.00% - - -
61-90 days 61290 H 5.87% 920 (54) 866
Over 90 days BB A 2.70% 333 9) 324
7,182 (110) 7,072
As at 31 December 2023 R=—=2==
=Fi=cts1H]
0-30 days 0E30A 0.00% 5411 = 5411
31-60 days 31E60H 0.00% 2,145 - 2,145
61-90 days 61 %90 H 1.14% 1,843 1) 1,822
Over 90 days HBiBooH 100% 196 (196) -
9,595 17) 9,378
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

MEASUREMENT (continued)

164

31.4 Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. The Directors of the Group
reviewed and considered no irrecoverable amounts should be taken
account for the overdue trade receivables balances as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 43%
and 76% (31 December 2023: 3% and 33%) of the total trade receivables
were due from the Group's largest customer and five largest customers
respectively. The aggregate amounts of trade receivables from these
customers amounted to HK$3,099,000 and HKS$5,486,000 (31 December
2023: HK$284,000 and HK$3,199,000) of the Group's total trade receivables
at 31 December 2024.

The ECL rate applied for contract assets and retention receivables is ranging
from 0.09% to 0.51% (2023: 0.14% to 0.19%). The ECL rate applied for finance
lease receivables are considered to be insignificant.

For other financial assets, the Group has established a policy to perform
an assessment of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition on an individual basis for significant
balance, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the remaining life of the financial instrument. The Group classifies its other
receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised, the Group
recognises an allowance based on 12 months' ECLs.

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the Group records an allowance
for the lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 When other receivables are considered credit-impaired, the
Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE BEEREERAFETE (B

MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4 Credit risk (continued) 314 ER MK (F)

Due to one of the joint operator's uncertain financial status, the Group has
taken up follow-up action towards one of the joint operators and please
refer to note 17 for details. The management of the Group consider not to
recognise any additional ECL allowance of the amount due from the joint
operator (2023: HKSNIil) based on lifetime ECL.

Except for the other receivables as set out in above, the management
is of opinion that there is no significant increase in credit risk on other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default is low after
considering the factors set out in Note 2.7 and, thus the Group assessed that
the ECL for other receivables under the 12 months ECL method. The ECL
recognised based on 12-month ECL allowance is HK$213,000 (31 December
2023: HK$136,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The credit risks on cash and bank balances are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

31.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its financing obligations,
and also in respect of its cash flow management. The Group's objective is
to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the Group in meeting its
liabilities.

31.5

MRER —RAEEETNIBRATE - K
SECHHEG - LA BKETRMRETE)
HER2HMT7 AKEEEERRTE
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B BT E A A RIESN  BEEREER A B
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EAEIEN RERKLEEMF27EREE
% BHRBREE Bt AEERE+ =@
AEHEEBRL AT G EMERIBENTE
HEEBE #E_T_NF+_A=+—
BILEFE ER+-_ERBEHEEBERE
EROBEEEBE 213008 T (ZE ==
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.5 Liquidity risk (continued)

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities for its non-
derivative financial liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is included
on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay.
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the undiscounted cash
flows of the financial liabilities.

31. HKEBREERERQFETE (H)

31.5 REHEEE (8)

TXEARAEER-TE-_NFR=_T_=F
+TZA=+—BEHHEHITESRABNR
TERNFBRIT - HMERAGEEREERS
BEHRE LEEEKRASEEEEKESR
MEFAPAKR HMUEZTABESHESR &
FETERAEERAEENZEHBAR -

TXEWIHIM AR SBRE BN RER
REMEIED -

Over 1 year Total
Within but within  undiscounted Carrying
one year 5years cash flow amount
BB—F REERAE
R—FR BEREFA RELRE FREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHET FHET FER
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NE
t=A=+—8
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A fE RROE (22,662) - (22,662) (22,662)
Lease liabilities HER®E (690) - (690) (675)
(23,352) - (23,352) (23,337)
Over 1 year Total
Within but within undiscounted Carrying
one year 5years cash flow amount
Bip—F AERBA S
R—FR BRAFA mELRTE BRTE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
As at 31 December 2023 i
+t=ZA=t+—8
Trade and other payables Y EL N AN S (25,541) - (25,541) (25,541)
Lease liabilities HEARE (756) (690) (1,446) (1,384)
(26,297) (690) (26,987) (26,925)

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing
and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group's existing cash resources and
other liquid assets significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEMBRRMEE (H)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.6 Fair value measurement

(a)

Financial assets measured at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into three
Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on
the observability and significance of inputs to the measurements, as

follows:

Level T: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly are not using significant
unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset
or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NE+_A=+—HLEE

31. UHKEBRERRQFETE (H)

31.6 AVETE

(a)

BATVEFENEREE

REGEEMBHRRRPRAFEFENE
MEERABEADR=EATFERER -
AR RERE A ARENAE
EURBEUERENT

E£—E: HREERBENERTS
ZHE CRETE) -

F-E: BREESRBEMERRMEE
ABEENEREREER
REBABIEZ AR (5
—EABENHEBI)

FZE: AEXBBENERBEEE
AR -

TREEXARBEMER ANAFE

RENNERERY A TEFERES
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31.

168

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.6 Fair value measurement (continued)

(a)

Financial assets measured at fair value
(continued)

31. HKEBREERERQFETE (H)

31.6 X ¥{EFE (&)
(@) BRAFEIENEREE (&)

Far value
Fair value at measurement
2023 —F= 31 December using Level 2
R+=—A=+—8 FAEZEN
AFE AFEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurement KREMEQNFEFE
Financial assets LEEE
Financial assets at FVOCI: BRAFEFAEMEEKED
TREE
Unlisted securities EETHES 1,072 1,072

There were no transfers between categories during the reporting
period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Level 2 are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting periods and are described
below:

The financial assets at FVOCI are unlisted securities dominated in
USS. Fair values have been determined by reference to their quoted
prices as stated in the bank statements at each of the reporting date
and have been translated using the spot foreign currency rates at
the end of the reporting periods where appropriate. The effects of
non-observable inputs are not significant for the unlisted securities.
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FEMBRRMEE (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 31, BIBEAKREERAFEE (F)
MEASUREMENT (continued)
31.6 Fair value measurement (continued) 31.6 2 EE (&)
(@) Financial assets measured at fair value (a) BAFEFENEMEE (8)

(continued)

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's financial REBRNVFEBLREEF _EPRAT
assets at FVOCI classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is Bt AHM2EARENSREENERR
as follows: SFEMEERNT :
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Unlisted securities FLEHES
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BZA¥E 1,072 1,000
Fair value gain recognised in other REM 2 E R R 2 A FERE
comprehensive income 49 72
Sales proceeds SHEPTSFE (1,121) -
Fair value at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—BZA¥E - 1,072
During the year ended 31 December 2024, fair value gain REBE-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HILHF
of HK$49,000 on unlisted securities is recognised in other E - LEMESFHRFEREA49000
comprehensive income and included under “Financial assets fair BITREMEE K EARER - WA S
value reserve”. BEENFEMBEIT -
(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (b) WHEUQAFEINENEHE
carried at other than fair value ERBENATE
The carry amounts of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are RZZE_WER_Z_=Z%+=A
not materially different from their fair values at 31 December 2024 =t+—H XEENeRMEERBED
and 2023 due to their short maturities. FHEEEATEIESKER - JIH

RIEHREIHAPTEL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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32.

170

L= Pl il R

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by

pricing goods and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio
is calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total equity as at the year-
end date and multiplied by 100%. Total borrowings of the Group were the lease
liabilities. The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return
capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at each reporting date was:

EXEE

AEBEAEEBEARRASEABERELE
WiEBREERBRKENERRREEE  ARER
HEHE IR -

RNEBEG TR L ERRBI A E MR E

ﬁ#ﬁﬁ%o$%§%%ﬁ$%%t$%%ﬁé$
Rtz EABBLREFREAMNER
WEBRR A S BEEE R LA100% T E - REBEE A
BAMEEBE EHEESBERESRAREEE
AEBEORBREHNERNEE BENIL  AEEA
BEREEI N FHRENORESE BTHRND AR
FREER - EEFEBHRE S L EEERIKETR

EHmEAPNERABBLE

2024 2023
—E-MF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET

Total borrowings BREsE
Lease liabilities HEBE 675 1,384
Total equity R 161,471 176,930
Gearing ratio BARBELE 0.4% 0.8%
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Financial Summary

CrRER S

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—BE-_ME —ZT-=F ZT-=-fF ZT--F ZT-ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET FET FET FET
(restated)
(BE5))
Revenue & 80,501 134,567 281,512 384,399 331,648
Direct costs BEAA (75,113) (130,989) (77,743) (381,759) (326,433)
Gross profit E5 5,388 3,578 3,769 2,640 5215
Other income L ON 3,645 4872 5,860 5,164 11,637
Administrative expenses THHxX (24,513) (25,047) (23518) (27,104) (29702)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) under ECL Lo REMERGIE, BREEER
allowance on trade and other receivables, net BERERD/(RE)FE 8 8 (18322) 5,750 (14,930)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) under ECL ANEEZBHEEEBRE
allowance on contract assets RERE(RE) 13 275 (39) (17 67
Operating loss REEE (15,459) (16,314) (32,250) (13,567) 27,713)
Finance costs B SRR (67) (35) (42) (50) (145)
Loss before income tax BREBHRABRE (15,526) (17,349) (32292) (13617) (27,858)
Income tax (expense)/credit PR (%), He (285) ) 114 (663) (207)
Loss for the year FREE (15,811) (16,366) (32,178) (14,280) (28,065)
Other comprehensive income/(expense), netof tax H 2 E Uz, /(BAX%) » Br¥i%
Items that will not be reclassified RGEBTOEN 7 EE
subsequently to profit or loss Rw2EH
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value RAFEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive (expense)/income (BX)/ hEZmemEEY
AV EKE/ (BR) 49 72 (286) (11) 44
Remeasurement of LSP obligations BN ERRBEEML 303 - - - =
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEMIARE (15,459) (16,294) (32,464) (14,291) (28021)
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Financial Summary (Continued)

MEHE(8E)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—A
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
— W g e ot g o i e S A S S TR
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FET FHET FET FHET
(restated)
(fg571)
Non-current assets ERENEE 1 3,445 6,955 1,398 2,144 4432
Current assets mENEE 184,883 204,519 225,159 297,879 295,153
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 1 (741) (1,482) (581) (605) (257)
Current liabilities UEUR=NE (26,116) (33,062) (32,752) (73,730) (59,349)
Equity attributable to equity RARERTTE AEIEER
holders of the Company 161,471 176,930 193,224 225,688 239,979
Note 1:  According to the Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted the Hong Kong Employment MizE 1 ARIEE B EBT TIENEB022 F1&F KRR E

and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022, will take effect on 1 May 2025. This change in accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively. Figures for the year ended 31 December 2022 are restated.
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